The University of Maine DigitalCommons@UMaine

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Fogler Library

Spring 5-11-2019

Blacklegged Tick (*Ixodes scapularis*) Distribution in Maine, USA, as Related to Climate Change, Whitetailed Deer, and the Landscape

Susan P. Elias University of Maine, susan.elias@maine.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/etd

Part of the <u>Climate Commons</u>, <u>Community Health Commons</u>, <u>Disease Modeling Commons</u>, <u>Entomology Commons</u>, <u>Environmental Policy Commons</u>, <u>Epidemiology Commons</u>, <u>Health</u> <u>Communication Commons</u>, <u>Infectious Disease Commons</u>, <u>Multivariate Analysis Commons</u>, <u>Natural</u> <u>Resources Management and Policy Commons</u>, and the <u>Public Health Education and Promotion</u> <u>Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Elias, Susan P., "Blacklegged Tick (*Ixodes scapularis*) Distribution in Maine, USA, as Related to Climate Change, White-tailed Deer, and the Landscape" (2019). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 2969. https://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/etd/2969

This Open-Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@UMaine. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@UMaine. For more information, please contact um.library.technical.services@maine.edu.

BLACKLEGGED TICK (IXODES SCAPULARIS) DISTRIBUTION IN MAINE, USA, AS RELATED TO

CLIMATE CHANGE, WHITE-TAILED DEER, AND THE LANDSCAPE

Βу

Susan P. Elias

B.S. University of Maine, 1984

M.S. Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, 1994

A DISSERTATION

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

(in Earth and Climate Sciences)

The Graduate School

The University of Maine

May 2019

Advisory Committee:

Kirk A. Maasch, PhD, Professor of Earth and Climate Sciences, Advisor

Allison M. Gardner, PhD, Assistant Professor of Arthropod Vector Biology

Kate Beard-Tisdale, PhD, Professor of Spatial Informatics

Laura N. Rickard, PhD, Associate Professor of Risk Communication

Norman T. Anderson, MSPH, Anderson Environmental Health, Winslow, Maine

© 2019 Susan Elias

BLACKLEGGED TICK (*IXODES SCAPULARIS*) DISTRIBUTION IN MAINE, USA, AS RELATED TO CLIMATE CHANGE, WHITE-TAILED DEER, AND THE LANDSCAPE

by Susan P. Elias

Dissertation Advisor: Dr. Kirk A. Maasch

An Abstract of the Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy (in Earth and Climate Sciences)

May 2019

Lyme disease is caused by the bacterial spirochete *Borrelia burgdorferi*, which is transmitted through the bite of an infected blacklegged (deer) tick (*Ixodes scapularis*). Geographic invasion of *I. scapularis* in North America has been attributed to causes including 20th century reforestation and suburbanization, burgeoning populations of the white-tailed deer (*Odocoileus virginianus*) which is the primary reproductive host of *I. scapularis*, tickassociated non-native plant invasions, and climate change. Maine, USA, is a high Lyme disease incidence state, with a history of increasing *I. scapularis* abundance and northward range expansion. This thesis addresses the question: "To what extent has the range expansion of blacklegged ticks in Maine been associated with climate change, deer, and other factors?" using a long-term, passive surveillance dataset (1990-2013) of *I. scapularis* in Maine.

Chapter 1 characterized temporal trends in *I. scapularis* submissions rate (an index of abundance) and phenology, in Maine's northern (7 counties) versus southern (9 counties) tier. In the northern tier the *I. scapularis* submission rate and season duration increased throughout the duration of the time series, indicating *I. scapularis* was emergent but not established. By contrast, in the southern tier, submissions rate and season duration increased initially but after about 13 years leveled off, indicating *I. scapularis* was established by the mid-2000s. Winter and fall average minimum temperatures increased in the northern tier and summer relative humidity in both tiers increased. I. scapularis submission rates and phenological changes were correlated with relative humidity statewide. Generally, I. scapularis submission rates and phenological changes were correlated with winter warming, but predominantly in the northern tier and only the early half of the time series for the southern tier. Though northern tier climate appears to have become more permissive over time, current ecological suitability for I. scapularis in the northern tier may be limited due to low deer densities, which averaged ~5/mi². In the southern tier, deer densities were higher and correlated with *I. scapularis* submissions rate. However, a number of other, unknown population-limiting mechanisms could have been operating to keep I. scapularis in the southern tier at a dynamic equilibrium since the mid-2000s. Also observed was a correlation between Lyme incidence and *I. scapularis* in the northern but not southern tier. This may represent decoupling of reported disease incidence and entomological risk as measured simply by tick abundance and Borrelial infection prevalence. This discrepancy suggested that disease discovery had increased through greater clinician and patient awareness and testing effort, and/or that acarological risk may be a more nuanced function of diverse, variously virulent strain types in multiple pathogens borne by *I*. scapularis.

Chapter 2 used a generalized additive mixed model (GAMM) to model linear and nonlinear relationships between nymphal *I. scapularis* abundance and predictors, while allowing for spatiotemporal dependencies within and among wildlife management districts. *I. scapularis* nymphs increased with increasing deer densities up to ~13 deer/mi², but beyond this

threshold tick abundance did not vary with deer density. This result corroborated the idea of a saturating relationship between *I. scapularis* and deer density. It was also consistent with empirical studies suggesting deer density must be lowered below ~8-13/mi² to lower *I. scapularis* abundance enough to lower Lyme disease. The model also indicated that more ticks were associated with higher relative humidity, warmer minimum winter temperatures and more degree-day accumulation, and that without deer >4/mi² warmer winters would not increase nymphal abundance. The Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife northern tier goals range from 10-15/mi² and southern tier goals from 15-20/mi² for 2030 (MEIFW 2017). We recommended deer densities be kept to <10/mi² in all of Maine's northern tier to mitigate likely increases in ticks due to future warming. Suburbanization and presence of tick-associated non-native plants did not enter the model because they co-occurred with deer.

Chapter 3 ascertained that Lyme incidences on the off-shore, unbridged islands of Maine have been above the statewide average and at least on par with those seen on other offshore islands in Massachusetts and Rhode Island. Increasing *I. scapularis* abundance and Lyme incidence have been attributed to high deer densities by some residents of these island communities. Burgeoning deer densities on some of these islands have led to various deer management histories along with a good deal of conflict on how to manage deer populations. We summarized the burden of Lyme disease, entomological risk, and deer management histories on these islands. We also polled island residents in 2016 to quantify the level of concern about the Lyme disease problem and assess the level of support for deer herd reduction on their islands. A 2016 survey of island residents indicated that other deer-related problems, namely vehicle collisions and garden and forest damage, motivated support for deer reduction as much as Lyme disease. We recommended efforts to keep deer density ≤15/mi² and to remove invasive plant species--particular Japanese barberry—from the landscape. The benefits of these measures will extend beyond vector tick control to improved deer and forest health.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this dissertation to my father, Merrill Francis Elias, PhD, MPH, Professor Emeritus, University of Maine. Dad's scientific scholarship has inspired me from day one. I further dedicate this dissertation to my mother, Sandra Bernice Horsman Leonard, who passed down to me her scholarship, especially her love of the English language. I dedicate this work to my stepparents, David Albert Leonard, and Penelope Lee Kelly Elias, PhD, who have unendingly supported and inspired me. I also dedicate this work to Samuel Frederick Gerken and David Henry Gerken, who have encouraged me every step of the way, and who have become high scholars in their own right and make their mother very proud. I dedicate this effort to Scott Robert Cyr, who has a heart of gold. I dedicate this work also to my major advisor, Kirk Allen Maasch, PhD. Finally, I dedicate this work to the people of the State of Maine.

ACKNOWLEGEMENTS

For their guidance and advice, I thank my PhD advisory committee Kirk A. Maasch, PhD, Professor of Earth and Climate Sciences, Chair; and Allison M. Gardner, PhD, Assistant Professor of Arthropod Vector Biology, Kate Beard-Tisdale, PhD, Professor of Spatial Informatics, Laura N. Rickard, PhD, Associate Professor of Risk Communication, and Norman T. Anderson, MSPH, Anderson Environmental Health, Winslow, Maine.

My program was the National Science Foundation-sponsored Integrative Graduate Education and Research Traineeship (IGERT). Its generous stipend allowed me to take partial leave from the Maine Medical Center Research Institute to pursue a PhD degree. I thank the members of the selection committee who accepted me into the IGERT program.

For making me an interdisciplinarian, I thank the UMaine faculty who were my classroom professors: Kirk Maasch, PhD, Eleanor Grodin, PhD, Anne Lichtenwalner, DVM PhD, Cynthia Loftin, PhD, James Settele, Captain US Navy (Ret.), Cindy Isenhour, PhD, Paul "Jim" Roscoe, PhD, Mario Teisl, PhD, Jasmine Saros, PhD, Allison Gardner, PhD, and Sean Birkel, PhD. I thank a slew of guest lecturers, and my many brilliant, inspiring, supportive graduate student peers. I thank Linda Cappuccio, of the School of Earth and Climate Sciences, Rebecca Addessi of the Climate Change Institute, and Betty Lee, Assistant Director of the Climate Change Institute, for administrative support without which nothing can happen. Betty I thank especially for mentoring me through the process of procuring the painting "Ecology of Lyme" and thanks go as well to the procurement and contracts teams at UMaine and Misa Saros, IGERT Program Coordinator. For insisting we improve our science communication, I thank Paul Mayewski, PhD, Director of the Climate Change Institute.

iv

I have felt tremendously supported by the University of Maine Graduate School, through which I received two Chase Distinguished Research Fellowships and the Hunter Presidential Research Impact Award. I thank School of Earth and Climate Sciences Graduate Student Coordinator Christopher Gerbi, PhD, for his support and Daniel Sandweiss, PhD, UMaine Department of Anthropology, who gave me plenty of excellent advice along the way. I thank Kathryn Rossignol at the Graduate School for sitting down with me to format my dissertation.

There are always people behind the scenes who have a role in one's success. I thank my cousin, Barbara Hayler, Professor Emeritus, University of Illinois Springfield, who told me always to listen to my advisor; and my aunt, Dorothy Wurman, MLA, who demonstrated you can go back to school when you need to.

For making me a good wildlife scientist, I thank my Master of Science committee Chair James Fraser, PhD, Roy Kirkpatrick, PhD, and Dean Stauffer, PhD, at Virginia Tech, and P. A. Buckley, PhD, University of Rhode Island. I thank Jack Witham, MS, and Malcolm "Mac" Hunter, PhD, both of the UMaine Department of Wildlife, Fisheries, and Conservation; and Alan White, PhD, Alan Kimball, MS, and Laura Kenefic, PhD, UMaine School of Forest Resources, all who were principal investigators at the Holt Research Forest during my years there, 1998-2007. I also thank Jody Jones, MS, who during my first wildlife job in 1982 set the standard for what it means to be a positive, supportive boss.

For advice on statistical approaches and packages I thank UMaine statisticians Kate Beard, PhD, and Bill Halteman, PhD, as well as Guiming Wang, PhD, of Mississippi State University; Gavin Simpson, PhD, of University of Regina, John Hughes, PhD, and Andrew Finley,

v

PhD, of Michigan State University. For support from UMaine's Fogler Library I thank the librarians including Jennifer Bonnet, MSI MA. For support with Institutional Review Board human subjects research approval I thank Gayle Jones of UMaine and Patricia Robinson and staff of the Maine Medical Center Research Institute. A special thanks goes to Sean Birkel, PhD, of the UMaine Climate Change Institute and School of Earth and Climate Sciences and Maine State Climatologist, who spent time with me explaining patterns and causes of climate regime shifts in Maine and produced climate maps for my tick work. Sean also wrote the NCAR command language code I needed to summarize historical weather data.

For contributing data and guidance, I thank staff of Maine and New Hampshire state agencies. I thank Sara Robinson, MPH, of the Maine Center for Disease Control and Prevention. For iMapInvasives data, I thank Nancy Olmstead, MS, at the Maine Natural Areas Program, Maine Department of Agriculture, Conservation and Forestry. For data and guidance on how to use the data on Maine's deer herd, I thank Maine Island Fisheries and Wildlife biologists Judy Camuso (Commissioner), Nathan Webb, PhD, Walter Jakubas, PhD, MaryEllen Wicket, PhD, Lee Kantar, Nathan Bieber, Henry Jones, Susan Bard, Scott Lindsay, Keel Kemper, and Kyle Ravana (Retired), all with MS degrees to the best of my knowledge. Though I did not include New Hampshire data ultimately, I thank Dan Bergeron, MS, of the New Hampshire Fish & Game Department as well as Abigail A. Mathewson, DVM MPH, and Carolyn Fredette, MPH, of the New Hampshire Division of Public Health Services, Department of Health and Human Services. For approving the Island Tick Survey, I thank the Maine Island Coalition and especially Donna Weigel, Director of Island Health Services, Swan's Island.

vi

I can't say enough about the flexibility and support given to me by the leadership and staff at the Maine Medical Center Research Institute. Donald St. Germain, MD, Vice President for Research, and Robert P. Smith, Jr., MD MPH, Principal Investigator, Vector-borne Disease Laboratory, allowed me to spend time away for classes and research. I thank Peter Rand, MD, my boss at the lab for over 15 years and Greatest Generation gentleman, for imparting to us the way vector ecology and community work is done. I thank my 18-years-and countingcolleague, Chuck Lubelczyk, for shouldering extra work so I could be away. Benjamin B. Stone, a former lab intern, was undergraduate mentee on the Island Tick Survey and spent hours gathering information on the history of island deer herd management. Ben, you are a rock. I thank my colleagues at the lab Eleanor Lacombe, Rebecca Robich, PhD, Elizabeth Henderson, Margret Welch, and Danielle Cosenza for their support and the privilege of working with you. If it weren't for Linda Turcotte, there would be no passive surveillance data to analyze.

For putting up with their bass player attending practices via FaceTime, I thank my Seagrass bandmates Steve Gifford, Frank DeLong, Billy Arnold, and Tom Buckland.

I thank my friends and family, including my Nickerson cousins, for their patience and encouragement.

vii

DEDICATIONiii
ACKNOWLEGEMENTS iv
LIST OF TABLES xiii
LIST OF FIGURES xvi
CHAPTER 1. TRENDS IN QUESTING BLACKLEGGED TICK ABUNDANCE AND PHENOLOGY IN
NORTHERN VERSUS SOUTHERN MAINE, USA1
1.1 Abstract1
1.2 Introduction2
1.2.1 Expansion of Lyme Disease2
1.2.2 Expansion of <i>Ixodes scapularis</i> 6
1.2.3 The Life Cycle of <i>I. scapularis</i> 10
1.2.4 Climate, Temperature, and Humidity Constraints on <i>I. scapularis</i>
1.2.5 Variations in White-tailed Deer Density16
1.2.6 Aims and Hypotheses17
1.3 Methods
1.3.1 Study Area18
1.3.2 Datasets
1.3.2.1 Passive Tick Surveillance20
1.3.2.2 Active (Field) Tick Surveillance: Subadult I. scapularis on Birds and Questing
Fall-flagged Adult I. scapularis22

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.3.2.3 Climatology, Deer Density, and Lyme Incidence	23
1.3.3 Analysis	25
1.4 Results	27
1.4.1 Summary Statistics	27
1.4.2 Trends in Questing <i>I. scapularis</i> Submissions Rate and Phenology	29
1.4.2.1 Spring Adult I. scapularis	29
1.4.2.2 Summer Nymphal <i>I. scapularis</i>	30
1.4.2.3 Fall Adult <i>I. scapularis</i>	30
1.4.3 Feeding Subadult I. scapularis Burdens on Resident Breeding Birds and Questin	ng
Fall-flagged Adult <i>I. scapularis</i> Abundance	31
1.4.4 Potential Correlates of <i>I. scapularis</i> Submissions Rate and Phenology	38
1.4.4.1 Indicators of Changing Climate	38
1.4.4.2 White-tailed Deer	38
1.4.5 Correlations Among I. scapularis from Passive Surveillance and Climatological	
Indicators of Warming Climate, Deer, and Lyme Incidence	42
1.5 Discussion	44
1.5.1 Limitations of the Study	49
1.6 Conclusions	52
CHAPTER 2. BLACKLEGGED TICK RANGE EXPANSION IN RELATION TO WHITE-TAILED DEER	AND
CLIMATE, IN MAINE, USA	54
2.1. Abstract	54
2.2 Introduction	55

2.2.1 <i>I. scapularis</i> , Climate Suitability, and Climate Change in Maine	57
2.2.2 I. scapularis and White-tailed Deer	59
2.2.3. <i>I. scapularis</i> and Suburbanization	61
2.2.4 <i>I. scapularis</i> and Tick-Associated Non-native Plant Species Invasions	62
2.2.5 Knowledge Gaps	63
2.2.6 Aims and Hypotheses	64
2.3 Methods	66
2.3.1 Study Area	66
2.3.2 Datasets	68
2.3.2.1 Shapefiles	68
2.3.2.2 Nymphal <i>I. scapularis</i> Submission Rate as an Index of Abundance	68
2.3.2.3 Deer Density	71
2.3.2.4 Climatology	72
2.3.2.5 Suburban and Forest Land Cover	73
2.3.2.6 Tick-associated Invasive Plant Presence	74
2.3.3 Statistical Methods	75
2.3.3.1 Summary Statistics and Visualizations	75
2.3.3.2 Nymphal <i>I. scapularis</i> Model	75
2.3.3.3 Validation and Prediction	80
2.4 Results	81
2.4.1 Summary Statistics and Visualizations	81
2.4.2 Nymphal I. scapularis Model	87

2.5 Discussion	.98
2.5.1 Limitations of the Study1	.00
2.6 Conclusions1	.03
CHAPTER 3. VIEWS ON LYME DISEASE AND DEER REDUCTION FROM THE OFFSHORE,	
UNBRIDGED ISLANDS OF MAINE, USA1	.06
3.1 Abstract1	.06
3.2 Introduction1	.07
3.3 Methods1	.12
3.3.1 Study Area1	.12
3.3.2 Datasets1	.14
3.3.2.1 Lyme Disease Incidence1	.14
3.3.2.2 Questing Adult I. scapularis Abundance and B. burgdorferi Infection	
Prevalence1	.15
3.3.2.3 Deer Management History1	.16
3.3.2.4 Survey1	.17
3.3.3 Analysis1	.19
3.4 Results1	.22

3.4.1 Island Summaries of Lyme incidence, Entomological Risk, and Deer

Management History	122
3.4.2 Island Survey	128
3.4.2.1 Demographics	128

3.4.2.2 Burden of Tick Bites and Tick-borne Disease130
3.4.2.3 Personal Protective Behaviors133
3.4.2.4 Support for Deer Herd Reduction134
3.4.2.5 Methods of Deer Herd Reduction135
3.4.2.6 Responsibility for Municipal Tick Control135
3.4.2.7 Causes of the Tick Problem136
3.4.2.8 Individual Island Opinions on Lyme Disease and Deer
3.5 Discussion
3.5.1 Island Lyme Incidence, Entomological Risk, and Deer Management History
3.5.2 Island Survey141
3.5.3 Shortcomings of the Study148
3.5.4 Recommendations150
3.6 Conclusions153
REFERENCES CITED
APPENDIX A: CONVERSION OF BUCK KILL INDEX TO DEER PER SQUARE MILE
APPENDIX B: DETAILS OF GENERALIZED ADDIVITE MODELS
APPENDIX C. ISLAND SURVEY RESULTS BY ISLAND181
BIOGRAPHY OF THE AUTHOR

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1.	Summary statistics for abundance and phenology of questing <i>I. scapularis</i>
	(nymphs, fall and spring adults) acquired through passive surveillance (a tick
	identification program), 1990-2013, Maine28
Table 1.2.	Linear regression equations relating abundance and phenology of I. scapularis
	(nymphs, fall and spring adults) and <i>B. burgdorferi</i> infection rate to time in
	the northern (N) and southern (S) tiers of Maine, 1989-2017
Table 1.3.	Spearman rank correlation coefficients (where $P < 0.05$) between <i>I. scapularis</i>
	spring adult, summer nymph, and fall adult submission rate and phenology
	versus climatological variables, in the northern and southern tiers of Maine,
	1990-201343
Table 1.4.	Spearman rank correlation coefficients (where $P < 0.05$) between <i>I. scapularis</i>
	spring adult, summer nymph, and fall adult submission rate versus
	white-tailed deer density in the current and past two years in the northern
	and southern tiers of Maine, 1990-201343
Table 2.1.	Variables used in models of nymphal <i>I. scapularis</i> submissions rate as a function of
	predictors in Maine, 1990-201270
Table 2.2.	Summary statistics for variables used in a model of nymphal I. scapularis
	submissions rate82
Table 2.3. G	eneralized additive mixed models (GAMs) of nymphal I. scapularis
	submissions rate as a function of explanatory variables and random time and/or
	spatial effects, Maine, 1992-201388

Table 2.4.	Matrix of concurvity scores from generalized additive mixed models
	(GAMMs) of nymphal <i>I. scapularis</i> submissions rate as smooth functions of
	explanatory variables and random time and/or spatial effects, Maine,
	1992-2013
Table 3.1.	Questions asked in the 2016 Island Tick Survey. Respondents were
	year-round and season residents of Maine's unbridged, off-shore islands118
Table 3.2.	Government, population, area, and estimated Lyme disease incidence of
	Maine's 15 off-shore, unbridged islands123
Table 3.3.	Summary of fall adult <i>I. scapularis</i> sampling, ticks flagged per hour, and
	percent positive for <i>B. burgdorferi</i> , 1990-2017125
Table 3.4.	Summary of deer management history on the unbridged islands of Maine127
Table 3.5.	Demographics of respondents to the 2016 Island Tick Survey129
Table 3.6.	Responses to the 2016 Island Survey of residents of Maine's unbridged,
	off-shore islands, 2016131
Table 3.7.	Logistic regression models relating importance of Lyme disease and personal
	protective behaviors taken versus burden of tick bite and tick-borne disease,
	and support for deer herd reduction versus issues with deer, asked in a survey
	of residents of Maine's unbridged, off-shore islands, 2016
Table 3.8.	Differences between individual island percent agreeing versus the overall
	percent agreeing Lyme disease is a problem (83.6%) and overall percent
	agreeing there is a need to reduce the number of deer (60.8%)

Table A.1.	Regression equations used by the Maine Department of Inland Fisheries
	and Wildlife to convert buck kill index (BKI) to deer per square mile for each
	wildlife management district (WMD)175
Table C.1.	Responses to questions about the importance of Lyme disease and burden
	of tick bites and tick-borne disease (TBD) asked in a survey of residents of
	Maine's unbridged, off-shore islands, 2016181
Table C.2.	Responses to questions about personal behaviors taken to prevent tick
	bites, asked in a survey of residents of Maine's unbridged, off-shore islands,
	2016
Table C.3.	Responses to questions about the need to reduce white-tailed deer and
	deer-related issues and values, asked in a survey of residents of Maine's
	unbridged, off-shore islands, 2016182
Table C.4.	Responses to questions about approval and methods of deer hunting, asked
	in a survey of residents of Maine's unbridged, off-shore islands, 2016182
Table C.5.	Responses to questions about who should be responsible for tick control,
	asked in a survey of residents of Maine's unbridged, off-shore islands, 2016183
Table C.6.	Responses to questions about interest in more about the ecology of Lyme
	disease and level of trust in scientists and government, asked in a survey of
	residents of Maine's unbridged, off-shore islands, 2016183
Table C.7.	Responses to questions about what are thought to be causes of increased
	deer tick abundance and a question about pesticide use, asked in a survey of

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Range expansion of Lyme disease cases in the US, 2001 versus 2015
Figure 1.2 Statewide increases in incidence of Lyme disease in Maine by county, 2001-
20174
Figure 1.3 Maine divided into northern and southern tiers by county groupings5
Figure 1.4 Lyme disease incidence (confirmed and probable cases per 100,000 people) by
county in Maine, (a) 2003-2007 versus (b) 2013-20177
Figure 1.5 By-county counts of <i>I. scapularis</i> submitted to Maine Medical Center's tick
identification program; select years represented (a) 2000, (b) 20128
Figure 1.6 <i>I. scapularis</i> submitted to Maine Medical Center's tick identification program by
county9
Figure 1.7 Life cycle of the blacklegged tick11
Figure 1.8. Difference map showing the increase in average winter temperature for 1990-
1994 vs. 2010-2014, Maine, USA14
Figure 1.9. Accumulation of degree-days >6°C by the end of August for the last and current
decade15
Figure 1.10. Trends in annual spring adult <i>I. scapularis</i> abunance and phenololgy in the
northern (left column) and southern (right column) tiers of Maine, 1990-201332
Figure 1.11. Trends in annual nymphal <i>I. scapularis</i> abunance and phenololgy in the
northern (left column) and southern (right column) tiers of Maine, 1990-2013
Figure 1.12. Trends in annual fall adult <i>I. scapularis</i> abunance and phenololgy in the
northern (left column) and southern (right column) tiers of Maine, 1990-2013

Figure 1.13. Trends in summer nymphal (a) and larval (b) <i>I. scapularis</i> burdens (ticks per
bird) on breeding adults and juvenile songbirds mist-netted at Wells National
Estuarine Research Reserve, Wells, Maine, 1990-2015
Figure 1.14. Trends in (a) fall adult <i>I. scapularis</i> flagged per hour and (b) <i>B. ferrferi</i> infection
rate in those ticks, Wells National Estuarine Research Reserve, Wells, Maine, 1990-
2017
Figure 1.15. Trends in winter average minimum temperatures in the northern (a) and
southern (b) tiers of Maine, 1990-2017
Figure 1.16. Trends in summer average maximum temperatures in the northern (a) and
southern (b) tiers of Maine, 1990-2017
Figure 1.18. Trends in fall average minimum temperatures in the northern (a) and southern
(b) tiers of Maine, 1990-201740
Figure 1.17. Trends in summer average relative humidity in the northern (a) and southern
(b) tiers of Maine, 1990-201740
Figure 1.20. Trends in white-tailed deer density (deer/mi2) in the northern (a) and
southern (b) tiers of Maine, 1990-201741
Figure 1.19. Trends in accumulation of degree-days >6°C in the northern (a) and southern
(b) tiers of Maine, 1990-201741
Figure 1.21. Number of submissions of I. scapularis, I. cookei, and D. variabilis nymphs
and adults in the northern (a) and southern (b) tiers of Maine and adults in the
northern (c) and southern (d) tiers of Maine, 1989-2013.

Figure 2.1. Range expansion of the blacklegged tick in Maine, USA, 1990-2013, as
measured by I. scapularis submitted to Maine Medical Center's tick identification
program57
Figure 2.2. Maine's 16 counties (red outlines) superimposed over 30 Wildlife Management
Districts (WMDs 0 through 29, gray outlines), with the northern tier WMDs shaded in
gray67
Figure 2.3. Nymphal submission rate for 28 wildlife management districts (WMDs) in
Maine, 1990-2013
Figure 2.4. Estimated white-tailed deer per square mile in 29 (in some years 28) wildlife
management districts (WMDs) in Maine, 1990-201384
Figure 2.5. Landscape characteristics in 30 wildlife management districts in Maine85
Figure 2.6. Annual average seasonal climatologies in Maine's northern and southern tiers,
1990-2013
Figure 2.7. Fit diagnostics for the model of nymphal <i>I. scapularis</i> submission rate93
Figure 2.8. Autocorrelation function plots for GAM models of nymphal <i>I. scapularis</i>
submission rate
Figure 2.9. Two-dimensional smooth plots allowing univariate visualization of effects of
deer and climate on nymphal <i>I. scapularis</i> submission rate95
Figure 2.10. Three-dimensional contour plots allowing visualization of pairwise additive
effects of explanatory variables on nymphal <i>I. scapularis</i> submission rate
Figure 2.11. Current and predicted nymphal <i>I. scapularis</i> submission rate by wildlife
management district, Maine97

Figure 2.12. Three-dimensional contour plot showing the joint effect of average minimum
winter temperature and deer density on nymph submission rate
Figure 3.1. Maine's unbridged, offshore islands with year-round residents fall within Maine
Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife administrative Regions A-C
Figure B.1. Generalized additive models combine the results of each predictor variable
additively
Figure B.2. Effect of choice of smoothing parameter, λ , on wiggliness of smooth (Miller
2016)

CHAPTER 1.

TRENDS IN QUESTING BLACKLEGGED TICK ABUNDANCE AND PHENOLOGY IN NORTHERN VERSUS SOUTHERN MAINE, USA

1.1 Abstract

Lyme disease is caused by the bacterial spirochete Borrelia burgdorferi, which is transmitted through the bite of an infected blacklegged tick (Ixodes scapularis). Maine, USA, is a high Lyme disease incidence state, with rising incidence of Lyme and other tick-borne illnesses associated with a history of increasing *I. scapularis* abundance, including range expansion to the north. Using a passive surveillance dataset (1990-2013), we characterized temporal trends in *I*. scapularis submissions rate (an index of abundance) and phenology, in Maine's northern (7 counties) versus southern (9 counties) tier. We also determined whether questing I. scapularis submissions rate and phenology were correlated with climatological variables and white-tailed deer (Odocoileus virginianus) density. In the northern tier the I. scapularis submissions rate and season duration increased throughout the duration of the time series, indicating *I. scapularis* was emergent but not established. By contrast, in the southern tier, submission rate and season duration increased initially but after about 13 years leveled off, indicating I. scapularis was established by the mid-2000s. Winter and fall average minimum temperatures in the northern tier, and fall average temperatures and summer relative humidity in both tiers increased. I. scapularis submission rates and phenological changes were correlated with relative humidity statewide. Generally, I. scapularis submission rates and phenological changes were correlated with winter warming, but predominantly in the northern tier and only the early half of the time series for the southern tier. Though northern tier climate appears to have become more

1

permissive over time, current ecological suitability for *I. scapularis* in the northern tier may be limited due to low deer densities, which averaged ~5/mi². In the southern tier, deer densities were higher and correlated with *I. scapularis* submissions rate. However, a number of other, unknown population-limiting mechanisms could have been operating to keep *I. scapularis* in the southern tier at a dynamic equilibrium since the mid-2000s. Also observed was a correlation between Lyme incidence and *I. scapularis* in the northern but not southern tier. This may represent decoupling of reported disease incidence and entomological risk as measured simply by tick abundance and Borrelial infection prevalence. This discrepancy suggested that disease discovery had increased through greater clinician and patient awareness and testing effort, and/or that acarological risk may be a more nuanced function of diverse, variously virulent strain types in multiple pathogens borne by *I. scapularis*.

1.2 Introduction

1.2.1 Expansion of Lyme Disease

Lyme disease is the most common tick-borne disease in the US, accounting for 69% of all tick- and mosquito-borne illness (Adams et al. 2016). Lyme disease is caused by the bacterial spirochete *Borrelia burgdorferi*, which is transmitted through the bite of an infected blacklegged tick (*Ixodes scapularis*) (Mead et al. 2015, Rosenberg et al. 2018). With >37,000 cases reported to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) during 2013, Lyme disease ranks fifth among all nationally notifiable conditions (Mead et al. 2015). The number of reported Lyme disease cases has roughly tripled from 1992 to 2015 (Adams et al. 2016) and its geographic range has expanded (Fig. 1.1, CDC 2018a) in both the northeast and upper Midwest.

2



Figure 1.1 Range expansion of Lyme disease cases in the US, 2001 versus 2015.

The first known case of Lyme disease in Maine was in 1986 (Rand et al. 2007) and the first reports of *I. scapularis* in Maine were published in the late 1980s (Anderson et al. 1987, Ginsberg and Ewing 1988). Maine has ranked among the top five states for Lyme incidence since 2008, with the highest 3-year average (2015-2017) incidence in the nation at 89.2 cases per 100,000 people (CDC 2018b). Case-counting is inexact (Cartter et al. 2018), but Maine is consistently a high-incidence state for reported Lyme disease with increases over time in every county (Fig. 1.2, MECDC 2018a). Incidence is the rate of occurrence of new cases and conveys information about the risk of contracting the disease. Lyme incidence has been above the statewide average in the southern coastal and interior counties (Androscoggin, Cumberland, Hancock, Kennebec, Knox, Lincoln, Sagadahoc, Waldo, and York), and below average in the more western and northern counties (Aroostook, Franklin, Oxford, Penobscot, Piscataquis, Somerset) and the easternmost county, Washington County, which includes what is known as the Downeast coast.



Figure 1.2 Statewide increases in incidence of Lyme disease in Maine by county, 2001-2017. e: Maine Center for Disease Control and Prevention (MECDC 2018a).

Based on whether counties have been above or below the statewide average for Lyme incidence from 2001 through 2017), we can define the southern tier as including nine counties: Androscoggin, Cumberland, Hancock, Kennebec, Knox, Lincoln, Sagadahoc, Waldo, and York and the northern tier as including the remaining seven (Fig. 1.3). The geographic expansion of Lyme incidence (cases/100,000) in Maine shown in Figure 1.4 (MECDC 2018a) allows a visual comparison of county-level incidence in 2008-2012 versus 2013-2017. Clearly, Lyme incidence has increased in the southern tier of the state and expanded into the northern tier.



Figure 1.3 Maine divided into northern and southern tiers by county groupings.

1.2.2 Expansion of *Ixodes scapularis*

Using data from a statewide tick identification program that began in 1989, Rand et al. (2007) demonstrated for Maine a strong spatial relationship between Lyme disease incidence and nymphal *I. scapularis* (n = 16 counties, $R^2 = 0.77$) as well as a moderate temporal relationship over the years of the study (1989-2006, n = 18 years, $R^2 = 0.52$). The study showed that *I. scapularis* emerged first along the coast, then advanced inland and northwards in Maine. Increases over time were clear for the south coastal portions of the state as well as inland. Comparison with macroscopically similar *I. cookei* (woodchuck tick) indicated a true increase in abundance over time of questing *I. scapularis*, not just increased activity on the part of blacklegged ticks or tick submitters.

This statewide tick identification program, henceforth referred to as passive tick surveillance, continued through most of 2013. Appending the data collected since Rand et al. (2007) and it can be seen that the geographic range of *I. scapularis* in Maine continued to expand north and west (Fig. 1.5a,b) through the end of the passive surveillance program. Viewed as time series at the county level (Fig 1.6), *I. scapularis* submissions increased over time in the northern tier counties, especially Penobscot County. Meanwhile, submissions decreased in the southern tier, except for Hancock, which borders the northern tier. Given the universal increase in Lyme incidence in every county (Fig. 1.2), the decrease in *I. scapularis* in southern tier counties was counterintuitive. We thought that both the northward range expansion and the southern tier declines in *I. scapularis* submissions since Rand et al. (2007) merited investigation.

6



Figure 1.4 Lyme disease incidence (confirmed and probable cases per 100,000 people) by county in Maine, (a) 2003-2007 versus (b) 2013-2017. Maine CDC's Infectious Disease Program obtained these data through notifiable conditions surveillance based upon reports from healthcare providers, laboratories, and other healthcare partners. Source: Maine Tracking Network (MECDC 2018a).



Figure 1.5 By-county counts of *I. scapularis* submitted to Maine Medical Center's tick identification program; select years represented (a) 2000, (b) 2012. Source: Vector-borne Disease Laboratory, Maine Medical Center Research Institute, Scarborough, Maine.





1.2.3 The Life Cycle of *I. scapularis*

To understand how climate and weather may affect *I. scapularis* in Maine, it is helpful to know its life cycle and the seasonality of life stage events in Maine. In northern New England, blood-fed, gravid, female *I. scapularis* lay eggs (oviposit) generally in May of Year 1 (Fig. 1.7). These eggs hatch in August to become questing larvae which are "naïve", that is, not infected by the agent of Lyme disease, Borrelia burgdorferi. Larvae that find blood meals, typically from small mammal hosts such as white-footed mice (Peromyscus leucopus) or birds, will be nourished and molt to the nymphal stage. These nymphs will diapause, overwinter, and become active the following spring and summer of Year 2. July is the peak nymphal blood meal questing month for nymphs in Maine. Nymphs that find blood meals, typically from whitefooted mice and other rodents, as well as birds, will molt to become questing adults, with peak adult questing activity in Maine in late October into November (Year 2, Fig. 1.7). Those questing adults that find a blood meal-typically a white-tailed deer--in fall of Year 2 will diapause, overwinter, and lay eggs in May. Those adults that did not find a blood meal in fall of Year 2 will diapause, overwinter, and quest in the month of April and, if fed, lay eggs in May. Of course, through extended diapause, ticks may extend their life cycle across three or four years (Lindsay et al. 1998, Ogden et al. 2018). Thus, I. scapularis spends most of its time off-host, where survival, development, and questing (blood-meal seeking) are constrained by temperature and humidity (e.g., Ogden 2006, Ogden 2008, Parham et al. 2015, Ostfeld et al. 2015) at all stages of the two-year tick life cycle (Fig. 1.7).

10



Figure 1.7 Life cycle of the blacklegged tick. Warmer, longer falls would allow for longer questing seasons for larvae and adults (a), warmer/shorter winters would enhance overwinter survival of all stages (b), earlier, warmer springs would allow earlier questing of all stages, especially adults, and earlier accumulation of degreedays would lead to earlier egg-laying and larval hatch (c), and sufficient humidity would rescue ticks from desiccation in summer (d). Life cycle figure used with permission from the University of Rhode Island TickEncounter Resource Center (www.TickEncounter.org).

1.2.4 Climate, Temperature, and Humidity Constraints on I. scapularis

Eisen et al. (2016) summarized the expectation that there should be stronger linkages between *lxodes* abundance and climate near the margins of their range where populations are emergent (southern Canada and US northeast and upper Midwest states) or receding (US southeast), as opposed to core areas where temperature and humidity are optimal and *Ixodes* are established. The northward range expansion of I. scapularis in Canadian provinces (Leighton et al. 2012, Clow et al. 2017) including and east of Ontario is likely driven in part by climate change (Ogden et al. 2006a, Ogden et al. 2008a) and this may be the case for all or part of Maine as well. Climate change has been accelerating in Maine during the 2000s and 2010s (Fernandez et al. 2015, Birkel and Mayewski 2018), manifesting as a shorter cold season (daily average $\leq 0^{\circ}$ C), with warmer winters and falls, less snow and earlier ice-out, more hot, humid summer days, i.e., heat index >35°C (95°F), and more extreme rainfall events (>5cm within 24hr) (Fernandez et al. 2015). Relative humidity has been increasing (Dai 2006, Lyon and Barnston 2017), and over the last decade, sea surface temperatures in the Gulf of Maine increased faster than 99% of the global ocean (Pershing et al. 2015). These changes are linked to global-scale changes such as more frequent moderate to strong El Niños and rapid decline of Arctic sea ice (e.g., Birkel and Mayewski 2018).

Temperature and humidity are the key elements defining the climate suitability envelope of *I. scapularis* (Eisen et al. 2016). Both high and low temperature thresholds constrain questing activity, development duration, and survival of *Ixodes* ticks (e.g., Lindsay et al. 1995, Ogden et al. 2006a, Ogden et al. 2008a, Parham et al. 2015, Ostfeld et al. 2015, Linske

12
et al. 2019) at all stages of the two-year tick life cycle: egg, larva, nymph, and adult, and especially in summer and winter.

Chilling injury and mortality in all stages of *I. scapularis* occur in the range of -18°C to -10°C (Burks et al. 1996, VanDyk et al. 1996, Brunner et al. 2012). Brunner et al. (2012) found that hazard of mortality in nymphs in soil core enclosures increased rapidly at temperatures below -13°C. Burks et al. (1996) found the threshold for direct chilling injury ranged from -10 to -14°C for all stages of three tick species examined, including *I. scapularis*. VanDyk et al. (1996) found for unengorged *I. scapularis* that LT50 (lethal temperature for 50% of ticks) at 2 hours exposure was -18°C for nymphs, -12°C for adults, and -11°C for larvae. This range (-18°C to -10°C) is common in northern Maine winters, at least in terms of air temperature above leaf litter and snow. But average winter temperatures have been rising in Maine, and relatively faster in the northern than southern tier (Fernandez et al. 2015, Fig. 1.8). Extended falls and earlier springs attend shorter, or "compressed" winters, which should allow adult ticks to quest longer into the fall before snow blankets the landscape, and begin questing earlier in spring upon snowmelt, leading to increased questing season duration for fall and spring adults. Temperatures >30°C increase direct mortality rates (Ogden et al. 2004) and indirect *I. scapularis* mortality rates through reduced host seeking (Vail and Smith 1998). Thus, high summer temperatures regulate I. scapularis at the southern edges of its US range, and low winter temperatures regulate *I. scapularis* at the northern edges and higher altitudes (Ogden et al. 2004, Diuk-Wasser et al. 2010) by delaying development and decreasing survival.

In addition to cold winters, *I. scapularis* is constrained at the northern margins of its range via insufficient accumulation of degree-days for eclosion (egg laying) and oviposition (egg



Figure 1.8. Difference map showing the increase in average winter temperature for 1990-1994 vs. 2010-2014, Maine, USA. Source: Climate Reanalyzer Climate Change

hatching) (Lindsay et al. 1995, Estrada-Pena 2002, Rand et al. 2004a, Ogden et al. 2005, Ogden et al. 2006a, Brownstein et al. 2003, Ogden et al. 2014). In Maine, Rand et al. (2004a) showed that for blacklegged tick females to lay eggs (in May), and for those eggs to hatch, about ~1,240 (± SD 143) degree-days (DD) >6°C (42.8°F) must accumulate. They mapped isolines of 1,240 DD>6°C attained by the end of the months of August through December and found that the 1,240 DD>6°C threshold was not attained in Maine's northern tier by the end of August (Fig 1.5). Few DD accumulated beyond August (Rand et al. 2004a). Light-mediated diapause (e.g., Ogden 2018) may preclude some larval questing beyond August, thus attainment of sufficient DD by summer's end is important to completion of the lifecycle of *I. scapularis*. Interestingly, Rand et al. (2004a) compared 1,240 DD>6°C isolines for the decades 1971-1980 versus 1991-2000 and found no decadal northward shift in the 1,240 DD>6°C isoline. Attendant to abrupt climate change, that 1,240 DD>6°C isoline (i.e., threshold) is now visibly shifting northward into the northern tier (Fig. 1.9). Years where 1,240 DD>6°C is achieved by the end of August should lead to larger larval cohorts in the same year, and larger nymphal and fall adult cohorts the following year, assuming a mild intervening winter.



Figure 1.9. Accumulation of degree-days >6°C by the end of August for the last and current decade. Source: PRISM (2004).

In addition to temperature, humidity (and its converse, vapor pressure deficit) constrains activity, development duration, and survival of *Ix odes* ticks (Yuval and Spielman 1990, Needham and Teel 1991, Stafford 1994, Bertrand and Wilson 1996; Vail and Smith 1998, Lindsay et al. 1998, Eisen et al. 2002, Eisen et al. 2003, Perret et al. 2003, Schulze and Jordan 2003, Gray et al. 2009, Estrada-Pena 2002, Diuk-Wasser et al. 2010, Berger et al. 2014a, Berger et al. 2014b, Eisen et al. 2016). Low humidity leads to mortality directly through desiccation or indirectly by preventing questing and reducing the likelihood of finding a blood meal (Eisen et al. 2016). In the laboratory at 27°C, Stafford (1994) found 95% of larvae survived 28d at 100% RH and 43% at 93% RH, whereas for nymphs, survival was 100% at 149d at both 100% and 93% RH, but dropped substantially at ≤75% RH. In the field, Berger et al. (2014b) found nymphal abundance in Rhode Island declined where RH was <82% for at least 8hr. If not too hot, increasing average summer humidity should allow for increasing questing activity of nymphs, with earlier starts and later ends to the questing season leading to longer season duration.

Taken together, the literature suggests that *I. scapularis* survival is more likely where *I. scapularis* are subject to sufficient degree-day accumulation (e.g., ~1,240 degree-days>6°C) to promote egg laying and hatching, with prevailing seasonal temperature averages between ~- 10°C and ~30°C and humidity \geq 75% to promote increased questing activity and higher probability of survival.

1.2.5 Variations in White-tailed Deer Density

Against the backdrop of changing climate has been variation in Maine's white-tailed deer (*Odocoileus virginianus*) population. The white-tailed deer is the primary host of adult *I. scapularis* within its US range (e.g., Telford 2017) and host larval and nymphal *I. scapularis* as well (Watson and Anderson 1976). Rand et al. (2003) found deer pellet group counts (a surrogate for deer density) were correlated with adult *I. scapularis* abundance in southern Maine, and that few ticks were collected at deer densities lower than ~18/ mi² (<7/km²). To suppress *I. scapularis* ticks and Lyme disease, several investigators have posited that density of white-tailed deer should be lowered to below a threshold in the range of 8-13/mi² (Telford 1993, Telford 2002, Stafford et al. 2003, Stafford 2007, Kilpatrick et al. 2014, Telford 2017).

Over the past several decades deer densities in Maine's southern tier have been above 8-13/mi² but below this threshold in the northern tier (MEIFW 2007, MEIFW 2017).

1.2.6 Aims and Hypotheses

Given decadal-scale shifts in seasonal temperature and humidity regimes in Maine, we expected that latent developmental responses (Ogden et al. 2014) would manifest as increases in the rate of submissions of *I. scapularis* to the passive surveillance program, as well as earlier weeks of first and peak weeks of submissions, later last weeks, and longer season duration, particularly in the northern tier of the state. We expected changes in submissions rates and phenology to differ between Maine's northern versus southern tier (Fig. 1.3) given differing climate and deer host densities. Our aims were to 1) characterize northern versus southern tier temporal trends in *I. scapularis* submissions rate (an index of abundance) and phenology (first, peak, and last week of submission, and season duration); 2) compare trends in *I. scapularis* submissions rate versus juvenile *I. scapularis* burdens on birds and fall-flagged adult abundance from a field site in southern Maine; and 3) determine whether questing *I. scapularis* submissions rate and phenology were correlated with climatological variables, deer densities, and for nymphs, Lyme incidence. Our hypotheses were

1. Submissions rate, first/peak/last week, and season duration of northern tier *I. scapularis* would trend up over time, whereas southern tier *I. scapularis* might show an early uptrend then level off, which could reflect establishment of stable *I. scapularis* populations in the southern tier;

2. Submissions rate, first/peak/last week, and season duration would be correlated with annual DD>6°C attained by the end of August the previous year (nymphs, fall adults), average

minimum temperature of the current year (spring adults, nymphs, fall adults), summer average humidity of the current year (nymphs, fall adults), and fall average minimum temperature of the current year (fall adults). We hypothesized that these correlations might hold true for the northern tier across the duration of the time series, but possibly only for the early half of the time series for the southern tier, if *I. scapularis* appear to have stabilized in the southern tier.

3. Nymphal and fall adult *I. scapularis* submissions rates would be correlated with annual deer density in the southern but not northern tier due to low deer densities in the latter.

4. Lyme incidence would be correlated with nymphal *I. scapularis* in the northern but not southern tier due to ongoing increases in Lyme incidence in southern tier counties (Fig. 1.2) versus declining *I. scapularis* submissions (Fig. 1.6).

In reality, a proportion of any cohort may not be questing due to weather-dependent quiescence or weather-independent, behavioral or developmental diapause (Eisen et al. 2016, Ogden et al. 2018). Here we assume that the submissions rate indexed annual abundance of questing *I. scapularis*, and captured latent developmental responses of *I. scapularis* to decadalscale shifts of seasonal temperature and humidity regimes and deer host density.

1.3 Methods

1.3.1 Study Area

Maine, the most northeastern of the United States, encompasses 86,542 km² and 4.5° latitude (42.97-47.46°N, 66.95-71.08°W), and 924 has minor civil divisions (towns), 512 of which are populated. With the exception of agricultural land along its eastern border with Canada, the

northern half of the state is mix of spruce and fir (Picea and Abies spp.) forests and hardwood stands, principally of maple and oak (Acer and Quercus spp.). A series of higher elevations (600-1,600 m) occupies the northwestern half of the state. The majority of its human population of 1.3 million resides in its southern half, generally within an 80-km-wide coastal plain with elevations <150 m (Rand et al. 2007). *I. scapularis* range from established on the coast to emerging in the northern tier, white-tailed deer densities range from moderate (moderate relative to states such as Connecticut and New York) to low in the northern tier, and local climates range from mild on the coast, to cold in the northern interior and higher elevations (Rand et al. 2007).

We divided the state into northern and southern tiers (Fig. 1.3) using as guides both Lyme incidence (counties below/above state average as described above) and the pattern of degree-day accumulation (Fig. 1.9), and deer densities (low in the northern versus higher in the southern tier wildlife management districts, MEIFW 2017). Counties with Lyme incidence below the statewide average aligned well with counties where average 2000-2009 degree-day accumulation 19≤1,240 degree-days by the end of August (Fig. 1.9). Although Washington County is coastal, the cooler climate is seen as a strip of green along the Downeast coastline.

Birds and vegetation were sampled for ticks from within a 15-ha section of Laudholm Farm (42° 20' 00" N, 70° 32'45" W), a 175-ha wildlife sanctuary within the Wells National Estuarine Research Reserve in Wells, Maine. The study site borders the Atlantic Ocean and habitat comprised a second-growth forest of red maple, (*Acer rubrum*), yellow birch (*Betula lutea*) and white pine, (*Pinus strobus*) with a thick understory of honeysuckle (*Lonicera*

canadensis) and Japanese barberry (*Berberis thumbergii*), successional upland meadows, and mowed fields (Rand et al. 1998).

1.3.2 Datasets

1.3.2.1 Passive Tick Surveillance

To meet our first aim (characterize northern versus southern tier trends in questing *I. scapularis* abundance and phenology), we used a passive tick surveillance dataset. Passive surveillance data index entomological risk (Johnson et al. 2004, Rand et al. 2007, Ripoche et al. 2018) and reflect the seasonality of *I. scapularis*. From 1989-2013, a free-of-charge, statewide tick identification program was run at the Vector-borne Disease Laboratory at the Maine Medical Center Research Institute (Rand et al. 2007). In 1989, lab staff announced the identification service to the general public, clinicians, and veterinarians by way of lectures, newsletters, and media communications. Staff also targeted sparsely populated areas by contacting entities such as summer camps and hunting camps. Thereafter, ticks were passively submitted. Data collected from persons submitting ticks included date found and town where the tick was thought to have been acquired (not the tick submitter's town of residence). Laboratory staff identified the species, stage, and engorgement level of the tick and returned this information to the tick submitter (Rand et al. 2007).

The program was brand-new in 1989 and recruitment was active. The program end was announced at summer's end in 2013, which likely biased fall adult *I. scapularis* submissions downward in 2013. Considering these potential biases (Clow et al. 2017), we dropped 1989 from the final dataset and did not use 2013 data for the fall adult time series. Ninety-seven percent of *I. scapularis* hosts were humans, dogs, and cats. We excluded the 3% of submissions

where ticks were unknown or were found on livestock (cows, sheep, goats, horses) and wildlife species since livestock and wild animals did not necessarily have statewide representation (for a complete list of livestock and wild animal hosts see Rand et al. 2007). The granularity of the raw data was daily at the town level by *I. scapularis* cohort: spring adult, nymph, fall adult.

To characterize *I. scapularis* abundance we summarized the daily date to annual number of submissions of spring adult, nymphal and fall adult *I. scapularis* by tier. We obtained annual census data by town (minor civil division) for the State of Maine from the U.S. Census Bureau (U.S. Census Bureau 2018), then summarized annual population by tier. We calculated annual spring adult, nymphal and fall adult *I. scapularis* submission rate by tier as

tick count/population x 100,000

to arrive at ticks submitted per 100,000, analogous to conversion of disease case counts to disease incidence (cases/100,000). Annual submission rate served as a proxy to size of the questing tick population, 1990-2013 (1990-2012 for fall adults).

To characterize *I. scapularis* phenology we needed to define first, peak, and last week of submission by tier (northern/southern, Fig. 1.3). We summarized the daily data to the level of cohort by week/year by tier. We tried using second-order derivatives to locate first, last, and peak weeks, similar to the method of Moore et al. (2014), but found using the actual first/peak/last weeks a better job of identifying these phenological benchmarks. We defined spring adults as any submitted before or during week 34 and fall adults as those found after week 34. The cut point should have minimal effect on the analysis of phenology since the same cut point was used for all years, because few adults are found in the summer, and because extension of the spring and fall adult seasons would be due to earlier springs and later falls,

respectively. Using first and last week we calculated duration of season in number of weeks. This resulted in first/peak/last week and season duration for each year, 1990-2013 (fall adults 1990-2012).

1.3.2.2 Active (Field) Tick Surveillance: Subadult *I. scapularis* on Birds and Questing Fallflagged Adult *I. scapularis*

Our second aim was to compare trends in *I. scapularis* from the passive surveillance dataset to trends in *I. scapularis* from active (field) surveillance. Each year from 1989, weekly bird-banding has been conducted from 15 May through 1 September (950 ± 10 net-hours per year) at Wells National Estuarine Research Reserve using mist nets opened at sites along forest edge and within the forest. All birds were identified to species and age recorded as hatch year (fledgling), or after-hatch year (>1 year old). Prior to release, each bird was closely examined, particularly around the head and neck, by using a head-mounted magnifying loupe (Rand et al. 1998). All ticks were removed with forceps and transported to laboratory and identified to stage and species. Only larval and nymphal *I. scapularis* were found on birds. Sampling was consistent (weekly) through 2015. We used the same 17 ground-nesting or ground-feeding species listed in Rand et al. (1998) to calculate larval and nymphal burdens (ticks per bird).

Each year from 1989, questing adult ticks have been collected at Wells National Estuarine Research Reserve at least once annually during the height of the fall adult questing season, October through early November. From this we calculated the number of ticks per hour as an index to tick abundance. It was of ancillary interest to see if there were trends in *B. burgdorferi* infection rates in these questing adult ticks, since *B. burgdorferi* may be expected to amplify in the zoonotic cycle as the vector tick becomes established (Ginsberg 1993) and might

increase even if tick densities are not increasing. As part of the long-term questing adult tick sampling a subset of ticks was dissected, and the midguts examined by a direct fluorescent antibody test, as per Donahue et al. (1987). From this the *Borrelia* sp. infection prevalence was calculated.

1.3.2.3 Climatology, Deer Density, and Lyme Incidence

To meet our aim, which was to determine whether questing *I. scapularis* submissions rate and phenology were correlated with climatological variables, deer densities, and Lyme incidence (nymphs only), we obtained data on climatology, deer, and Lyme incidence.

We obtained climatology from Oregon State University's Parameter elevation Regression on Independent Slopes Model (PRISM 2004). PRISM is the U.S. Department of Agriculture's climatological dataset and uses weather station point measurements with a weighted regression scheme to account for climate regimes associated with orography, rain shadows, temperature inversions, slope aspect, coastal proximity, and other factors (NCAR 2015). Monthly reanalysis data were available at 2.5 arcmin (4 km) resolution for 1895 through present in NetCDF format. We downloaded monthly gridded NetCDF files for the continuous United States (CONUS) which included minimum, average, and dewpoint temperature at 2m in degrees Celsius (t2min, t2ave, t2dpt), total precipitation in cm (prcp), for 1990 through 2013. Using the National Center for Atmospheric Research Command Language (NCL 2017), and the Maine shapefile, we masked the CONUS data to Maine only, then aggregated the monthly gridded data to the year-month-county level.

With the annual monthly climatology, we calculated annual number of degree-days >6°C attained by the end of August for each county using the formula (t2ave - 6°C) × 30.5. Then,

using the meteorological seasons of winter as December-January-February (DJF), summer as June-July-August, and fall as September-October-November, we then calculated annual seasonal averages for fall and winter t2min. Last, we calculated average monthly vapor pressure (VP) and saturated vapor pressure (SVP) in Pascals using t2ave, and from this, annual average monthly relative humidity (RH) by county. The formulas were: VP = $6.112 \times e^{(17.62)} \times t^{2ave/243.12 + t^{2ave}} \times 100$, SVP= $6.112 \times e^{(17.62 \times t^{2}dpt/243.12 + t^{2}dpt)} \times 100$, and RH=SVP/VP × 100 (WMO 2008, p. 1.4–29). We then aggregated to the level of northern/southern tier (Fig. 1.3).

We obtained deer data from the Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife (MEIFW). During the hunting season (the regular firearms season is generally in November), MEIFW tracks hunter-killed deer at deer registration stations around the state, capturing information including sex, age, and town of kill. MEIFW uses deer registrations to calculate a buck kill index (BKI), which is the number of hunter-killed deer per 100 square miles. During the years 1987-2005 (n = 18 years), MEIFW used a variation of a sex-age-kill model to estimate deer/mi² for each WMD, with inputs including BKI and hunter effort (MEIFW 2007). After 2005, MEIFW was no longer able to capture hunter effort. However, through a system of regression equations relating deer/mi² to BKI (MEIFW 2007 Appendix A), MEIFW has produced estimates of deer/mi² for years after 2005. We obtained equations from MEIFW to estimate deer/mi² for each WMD for the years 1990-2013. In 2006, WMD 29 was reconfigured to no longer include the Downeast coast of Washington County (Fig. 1.3) which has relatively low deer density, but to include the offshore islands, most of which have high deer densities and were part of old WMD 25. To compensate for this, we used the equation for old WMD 25 to estimate deer density in new WMD 29 which probably resulted in conservative annual estimates for new

WMD 29. We downloaded the shapefile of Maine's 30 Wildlife Management Districts (MEGIS 2017), added the annual deer/mi² to it, then used the zonal statistics tool in ArcGIS[®] (ESRI 2018) to aggregate annual deer densities to the level of northern/southern tier.

We obtained town-level Lyme disease incidence (1993-2014) for all Maine towns from the Maine Center for Disease Control through a Memorandum of Understanding between MECDC and the author. In 2008 a new CDC case definition created a "probable" category. For consistency, we used only "confirmed" cases. We aggregated Lyme incidence to the level of tier.

1.3.3 Analysis

To visualize northern versus southern tier temporal trends in all the time series we used the SAS® statistical graphics procedure SGPLOT (SAS 2018) to fit locally weighted scatter plot smoothing (loess) curves to the time series (Cleveland et al. 1988). For each time series we accepted the default smoothing parameters supplied by SAS® SGPLOT®. Implicit in this approach for the *I. scapularis* time series was the a priori assumption that even in the presence of interannual variation, there were trends that reflect the emergence and establishment of the invasive vector tick, *I. scapularis*.

Tick populations may reach a dynamic equilibrium once established (Ginsberg 1993, Ogden et al. 2007) and a way to characterize this was to check for evidence that *I. scapularis* might have initially increased during early years, then leveled off. We inspected the *I. scapularis* loess fits for breakpoints to visually identify the year or range of years where there might be changes in slopes—breakpoints—in the time series. To statistically assess breakpoints, we used

the SAS[®] procedure AUTOREG with the Chow test which compares equality of the subset regression slope coefficients, β 1 and β 2, on either side of year_i:

 $y_1 = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_1$ with n_1 observations, year<year_i

 $y_2 = \beta_0 + \beta_2 X_2$ with n_2 observations, year \geq year_i.

Where the Chow test was significant, we followed with piecewise regressions on either side of the breakpoint (e.g., year < 2000, year \ge 2000) to obtain the separate regression slopes. In the regressions there was no autocorrelation among residuals (Durbin-Watson tests not significant, all *P* > 0.05).

To determine whether questing *I. scapularis* submissions rate and phenology were correlated with climatological variables, deer densities, and Lyme incidence (objective 3), we obtained Spearman correlation coefficients for the strength of association between the explanatory variables as described in the hypotheses. We used the one-year lag of DD>6°C because the current years' nymphs and adults could be influenced by degree-day accumulation that influenced oviposition and eclosion the previous year. We used current, one-year, and two-year lags of deer density because all stages of *I. scapularis* feed on white-tailed deer and the cohort size of questing nymphal and fall adults could be related to deer blood meals they obtained in the current and prior years. According to Cohen (1988), a correlation > 0.5 is large and 0.5-0.3 moderate. Here, we thought that pairwise correlation coefficient ≥ 0.5 at $P \le 0.05$ would offer sufficient biological insight into what factors could have influenced changes in *I. scapularis* submissions rate and phenology.

1.4 Results

1.4.1 Summary Statistics

During 1990-2013, the passive surveillance program received 19,506 *l. scapularis*, 19,424 of which were identified to stage: 246 larvae, 1,903 nymphs and 15,725 females, and 1,100 males. Among nymphs, 81%, 2%, and 15% were found on humans, dogs, and cats, respectively and among female ticks, 62%, 23%, and 11% were found on humans, dogs, and cats, respectively. From the northern tier, five larvae were submitted before 2000 and 2 after. Eighty-six and 153 larvae were submitted from the southern tier before 2000 and on or after 2000, respectively. In the northern tier, submissions of nymphs were very low with only 0 to 4 per year submitted 1990-1999, and 4 to 22 per year submitted 2000-2012.

I. scapularis submissions rates were lower in the northern than southern tier for all tick stages. For spring adults, northern tier first week of submission was later, last week of submission was earlier, and duration of season was shorter (16.0 versus 25.4 weeks) than in the southern tier; also peak week was 2.4 weeks later (Table 1.1). Because of early low submissions, e.g., from zero to one or two submissions per year, we did not calculate phenological measures for nymphs in the northern tier. For fall adults, northern tier first week of submission was later, last week of submission was earlier, and duration of season was shorter (10.2 versus 13.4 weeks) than in the southern tier, but peak weeks did not differ. The northern tier was cooler than the southern tier by all measures of temperature although relative humidity did not differ by tier (Table 1.1). Deer density was lower in the northern than southern tier as was Lyme incidence (Table 1.1).

Table 1.1. Summary statistics for abundance and phenology of questing *I. scapularis* (nymphs, fall and spring adults) acquired through passive surveillance (a tick identification program), 1990-2013, Maine. Also included are summary statistics for *I. scapularis* subadult burdens on breeding songbirds, questing adult *I. scapularis* per hour from flagging, climatological variables, white-tailed deer density, and Lyme disease incidence (cases per 100,000) in the northern (N) and southern (S) tiers of Maine, 1990-2017. Nymphal passive surveillance data were too sparse in the northern tier to obtain phenological metrics (season first/peak/last week and duration).

(season hist/peak/last week and duration).									
Variable Type Variable	Tier	years	mean	SE	min	max	P		
I. scapularis spring adults from passive surveillance (1990-202	13)								
count	N	24	43.0	7.90	3.0	132.0			
	S	24	239.9	28.43	62.0	653.0	< 0.0001		
submission rate (count per 100 000) ^a	N	24	10 /	1 80	0.7	21.7			
Submission rate (count per 100,000)	5	24	27.2	2.05	0.7	31.7 7E 1	0.0001		
unal of first submission	2	24	27.5	3.15	7.7	75.1	0.0001		
week of first submission	IN C	24	13.3	1.03	2.0	23.0	.0.0001		
	S	24	5.6	0.85	1.0	15.0	<0.0001		
peak week of season	N	24	19.0	0.48	13.0	25.0			
	S	24	17.6	0.36	14.0	20.0	0.05		
week of last submission	Ν	24	29.3	0.53	25.0	34.0			
	S	24	31.0	0.54	26.0	34.0	0.03		
duration of season in weeks	Ν	24	16.0	1.34	2.0	29.0			
	S	24	25.4	0.88	16.0	31.0	<0.0001		
I. scapularis nymphs from passive surveillance (1990-2013)									
count (number submitted)	Ν	24	5.5	1.14	0.0	22.0			
	S	24	69.8	10.67	16.0	250.0	< 0.0001		
submission rate (count per 100 000) ^a	N	24	13	0.27	0.0	53			
submission fate (count per 100,000)	c	24	7.0	1 20	2.0	2.5	<0.0001		
first week of season	с С	24	175	1.20	2.0	20.7	<0.0001		
first week of season	2	24	17.5	0.63	7.0	21.0			
peak week of season	5	24	25.4	0.52	20.0	33.0			
last week of season	S	24	40.3	0.77	29.0	46.0			
season duration (in weeks)	S	24	22.8	1.04	14.0	35.0			
I. scapularis fall adults from passive surveillance (1990-2012)									
count	Ν	23	59.7	9.70	5.0	223.0			
	S	23	341.3	30.44	112.0	648.0	<0.0001		
submission rate (count per 100,000) ^a	Ν	23	14.5	2.33	1.2	53.5			
	S	23	39.2	3.41	13.8	74.5	<0.0001		
week of first submission	N	23	38.4	0.38	35.0	43.0			
	s	23	37.3	0.26	35.0	39.0	0.04		
neak week of season	N	23	12 7	0.20	30.0	45.0	0.04		
peak week of season	5	23	42.7	0.31	41.0	43.0	0.74		
	3	25	45.0	0.30	41.0	47.0	0.74		
week of last submission	IN C	23	48.7	0.37	46.0	52.0	0.000		
	5	23	50.7	0.30	48.0	53.0	0.002		
duration of season in weeks	N	23	10.2	0.62	3.0	15.0			
	S	23	13.4	0.35	10.0	17.0	0.001		
Lessaularis subadulte from active superillances broading birds (4000-2015)									
I. scapularis subadults from active surveillance: breeding birds	(1990)-2015)							
larval burdens (ticks/bird)	S	28	0.9	0.10	0.0	1.9			
nymphal burdens (ticks/bird)	S	28	1.7	0.18	0.2	3.9			
I. scapularis subadults from active surveillance: flag/drag sampling (1989-2017)									
adults per hour	S	26	73.4	6.61	11.1	150.9			
Borrelia burgdoferi infection %	S	24	56.8	1.65	37.1	72.4			
Climatology (1990-2017), deer (1990-2017), and Lyme inciden	ce (19	93-201	5)						
DJF t2min	N	28	-14.2	0.40	-17.9	-10.1			
· =·	S	28	-10.5	0.36	-13.7	-7.1	<0.0001		
IIA t2max	Ň	28	23.4	0.14	22.0	25.0			
337	ç	28	24 5	0.16	22.6	25.0	<0 0001		
	N	20	24.J	0.10	50 7	68 0	~0.0001		
"NA"KU	iN C	∠0 20	66 7	0.45	59.7 61 1	00.9 71 1	0.00		
	2	20 20	1100 5	0.49	1021.2	1222 5	0.08		
DD>6°C_Aug	N C	28	1180.5	14.46	1031.2	1522.5	.0.0001		
	S	28	1359.3	14.78	1205.8	1526.8	<0.0001		
SON_t2min	Ν	28	1.8	0.17	-0.1	3.5			
	S	28	3.8	0.15	2.4	5.4	<0.0001		
Deer/mi ² (1990-2017)	Ν	28	5.6	0.15	3.7	6.9			
· · ·	S	28	14.3	0.53	9.5	20.2	<0.0001		
Lyme incidence	Ν	22	7.3	1.45	0.0	21.9			
,	S	22	53.9	11.85	2.4	185.3	0.0002		

^a(Count of ticks submitted/population) x 100,000

^bWilcoxon rank-sum tests for differences between nothern and southern tier.

1.4.2 Trends in Questing I. scapularis Submissions Rate and Phenology

Consistent with our first hypothesis, northern tier *I. scapularis* submissions rates increased over time, (Figs. 1.8a, 1.9a, and 1.10a), but in contrast, *I. scapularis* submissions rates in the southern tier increased only through the early 2000's (~2001-2003), then leveled off or possibly declined (Figs. 1.8b, 1.9b, and 1.10b).

Partially consistent with our first hypothesis, phenological shifts in *I. scapularis* were seen not as earlier peak weeks (Figs. 1.8c, 1.9c, and 1.10c), but rather as longer seasons (Figs. 1.8d, 1.9d, and 1.10d) by virtue of earlier and later weeks of submission (Figs. 1.8c, 1.9c, and 1.10c). Increasing season length was seen in the northern tier for the duration of the time series but only in the early part of the southern tier series.

1.4.2.1 Spring Adult *I. scapularis*

In the northern tier the annual spring adult submissions rate increased over the years from 1990-2012 as described by the loess curve in (Fig. 1.10a) and a significant positive regression slope coefficient ($\beta_1 = 1.13$, P < 0.0001, Table 1.2). Phenological changes over time were seen in the northern tier only, where season duration became longer by virtue of first week of submission earlier, week of last submission later (Figs 1.10c,e; Table 1.2).

In the southern tier spring adults visually appeared to increase up to 2004 (Fig. 1.10b). Chow tests were significant at years 1999 through 2004 (Table 1.2), so we selected a break point of 2004 from the loess curve. Piecewise regression yielded a significant positive slope coefficient where year <2004 (Table 1.2) and no trend thereafter.

1.4.2.2 Summer Nymphal I. scapularis

In the northern tier the annual nymph submission rate increased over the years during 1990-2012 (Fig. 1.11a, left panel), and a significant positive regression slope coefficient (β 1 = 0.15, *P* < 0.0001, Table 1.2). With low volume of nymphal submissions in the northern tier we did not test phenology of nymphs, but the loess curve suggested duration of season increased (Fig. 1.11c).

In the southern tier the nymph submission rate increased up to 2001 then leveled off, as described by the change point of the loess curve at year 2001 (Fig. 1.11b), and Chow test significant at year 2001 (P = 0.02, Table 1.2). In the piecewise regressions (Table 1.2) there was a significant positive regression slope coefficient where year < 2001 (β 1 = 1.90, P = 0.002) and no trend thereafter. Phenological changes over time in nymphs were seen in the southern tier, where season duration became longer by virtue of week of last submission later (Figs. 1.11d,f; Table 1.2), but only up to 2001 as suggested by the loess curve. Chow tests were significant at all years tested so we selected 2001 as the change point. Piecewise linear regression confirmed week of last nymphal submission later, and season duration longer, up to 2001 (Table 1.2).

1.4.2.3 Fall Adult I. scapularis

In the northern tier the annual fall adult *I. scapularis* submission rate increased over the years in the northern tier during 1990-2012 (Fig. 1.12a). Phenological trends were seen in the northern tier only, with season duration longer by virtue of first week of submissions earlier and last week later (Figs 1.12c,e; Table 1.2). Chow tests indicated a changepoint at 2003; season duration increased where year < 2003 and also \geq 2003, but at a slower rate (Table 1.2).

In the southern tier fall adults increased up to 2001 as suggested by the loess curve (Fig. 1.12b). All Chow tests were significant within the range tested 1999-2004 (Table 1.2), and piecewise regression significant where year <2001 ($\beta_1 = 4.97$, P = 0.0005) indicating an increase in submissions, but not ≥ 2001 ($\beta_1 = -2.04$, P = 0.08) indicating no trend, though at $0.05 \le P \le 0.10$ could be interpreted as a marginally significant downward trend.

1.4.3 Feeding Subadult *I. scapularis* Burdens on Resident Breeding Birds and Questing Fallflagged Adult *I. scapularis* Abundance

At the Wells National Estuarine Research Reserve, juvenile *I. scapularis* parasitizing birds as well as fall-flagged questing adult *I. scapularis* showed initial increases followed by leveling or declines (Figs. 1.13, 1.14). These time series mirrored the passive surveillance data although temporal alignment of the breakpoints was not perfect. Annual nymphal and larval *I. scapularis* burdens on breeding adult and juvenile songbirds increased up to 1999 then declined, as described by the loess curve in Fig. 1.13 and Chow tests significant at year = 1999, and piecewise regressions (Table 1.2). This mirrored the patterns seen in the passive surveillance data. We note the highest year for nymphal burdens on birds was in 2000 (Fig. 1.13a), coinciding with the spikes seen in nymphal and fall adult surveillance data in 2000.

Fall-flagged adult *I. scapularis* collected per hour increased up to about 2004 then declined, as described by the loess curve in Fig. 1.14a, and piecewise regressions (Table 1.2). Chow tests were significant at all years (Table 1.2), so we based the piecewise regressions on a changepoint of 2004 (Table 1.2). We note 2003 was the highest year for adult ticks sampled per hour (Fig. 1.14a) unlike the year 2000 in the passive surveillance and bird burden data. There was no trend in *Borrelia* infection rate in the fall-flagged ticks (Fig. 1.14b).



Figure 1.10. Trends in annual spring adult *I. scapularis* abunance and phenololgy in the northern (left column) and southern (right column) tiers of Maine, 1990-2013. Plots (a) and (b) show abundance (rate of tick submissions), (c) and (d) show season start and end weeks (bottom/top of bars) and trends in peak week, and (e) and (f) show trends in season duration. Plots (a), (b), (e), and (f) include smooth curves (locally estimated scatterplot smoothing from the R package.)



Figure 1.11. Trends in annual nymphal *I. scapularis* abunance and phenololgy in the northern (left column) and southern (right column) tiers of Maine, 1990-2013. Plots (a) and (b) show abundance (rate of tick submissions), (c) and (d) show season start and end weeks (bottom/top of bars) and trends in peak week, and (e) and (f) show trends in season duration. Plots (a), (b), (e), and (f) include smooth curves (locally estimated scatterplot smoothing from the R package.)



Figure 1.12. Trends in annual fall adult *I. scapularis* abunance and phenololgy in the northern (left column) and southern (right column) tiers of Maine, 1990-2013. Plots (a) and (b) show abundance (rate of tick submissions), (c) and (d) show season start and end weeks (bottom/top of bars) and trends in peak week, and (e) and (f) show trends in season duration. Plots (a), (b), (e), and (f) include smooth curves (locally estimated scatterplot smoothing from the R package.)

5			Linearre	gression	on yea			0000	5					5	· f · · ·	Piecewi	ise regr	ession	
Variable			Parame ¹	ters		Mode	Signific	cant char	ige point	:(CP)ye	ar(s) (Ch	ow test:	s)		СР	< CP		≥CP	
Type	Tier	Variable	β1	SE	t	R ²	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	Selected	β1	ط	β1	٩
I. scapularis spring adults	s from pa	ssive surveillance (1990	-2013)																
	z	submission rate	1.13 (0.14 7	* %	* 0.74													
	z	first week of season	-0.46 (0.12 -4	* •	* 0.42													
	z	peak week	-0.02	0.07 -0	e.	0.00													
	z	last week of season	0.19 (0.07 2	* 00.	0.26													
	z	season duration	0.65 (0.14 4	÷ 9.	* 0.49													
	s	submission rate	1.20 (0.39 3	.1	* 0.30			*	*	*	*	*	*	2004	3.26	* *		
	s	first week of season	-0.14 (0.12 -1	.2	0.06													
	s	peak week	0.02	0.05 0	4.	0.01													
	S	last week of season	0.03	0.08 0	4.	0.01													
	s	season duration	0.17 (0.12 1	4.	0.08													
I. scapularis nymphs fron	n passive	surveillance (1990-2013																	
	z	submission rate	0.15 (0.03 5	** 6.	* 0.61													
	S	submission rate	0.35 (0.16 2	.2	0.18					*				2001	1.46	*		
	S	first week of season	-0.07	0- 60.0	<u>.</u>	0.03													
	s	peak week	0.07	0.08 1	o.	0.04													
	s	last week of season	0.23 (0.10 2	* «	0.19	* *	*	* *	* *	*	*	*	*	2001	1.12	* *		
	S	season duration	0.31 (0.14 2	.2 *	0.18	* *	*	*	*	*	*	* *	*	2001	1.17	* *		
<i>I. scapularis</i> fall adults fr	om passiv	re surveillance (1990-20	12)																
	z	submission rate	1.27 (0.23 5	*	* 0.59													
	z	first week of season	-0.15 (0.05 -3	*	* 0.30													
	z	peak week	0.02	0.05 0	4.	0.01													
	z	last week of season	0.12	0.05 2	* «	0.20							*		2003	0.30	*		
	z	season duration	0.26 (0.08 3	¥.	* 0.36							* *	*	2003	0.54	*	0.64	* * *
	s	adundance	0.49 (0.52 1	o.	0.04	*	*	* *	* *	*	*	*	* *	2001	4.97	* *	-2.04	m
	S	first week of season	-0.04	0.04 -1	0.	0.04													
	s	peak week	-0.02	0.05 -0	e.	0.01													
	s	last week of season	-0.08	0.04 -2	0.	0.16													
	s	season duration	-0.05 (0.05 -0	<u>.</u>	0.03													
I. scapularis subadults fro	om active	surveillance: breeding b	irds (199	90-2015)															
	s	larval burdens	-0.04	0.01 -3	* 0.	* 0.28	* *	*	* *	* *	*	*	*	* *	1999	0.10		-0.08	*
	S	ny mphal burdens	-0.02	0.02 -0	9.	0.02	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	1999	0.25	*	-0.12	*
I. scapularis subadults fro	om active	surveillance: flag/drag s	ampling	; (1989-2	017)														
	S	adults per hour	1.30 (0.84 1	5.	0.09		*	*	*	***	* * *	* * *	***	2004	8.17	* *	-4.15	*
	S	% Bb -positive	0.30	0.23 1	ε.	0.07													
$^{a}P = 0.08$																			



Figure 1.13. Trends in summer nymphal (a) and larval (b) *I. scapularis* burdens (ticks per bird) on breeding adults and juvenile songbirds mist-netted at Wells National Estuarine Research Reserve, Wells, Maine, 1990-2015.



Figure 1.14. Trends in (a) fall adult *I. scapularis* flagged per hour and (b) *B. ferrferi* infection rate in those ticks, Wells National Estuarine Research Reserve, Wells, Maine, 1990-2017.

1.4.4 Potential Correlates of I. scapularis Submissions Rate and Phenology

1.4.4.1 Indicators of Changing Climate

Over 1990-2017, there was a significant positive trend in winter average minimum temperature in the northern tier (Fig. 1.15a). Summer average maximum temperature (Fig. 1.16) did not rise, but summer average relative humidity increased in both tiers (Fig. 1.17). Fall average minimum temperature rose in both tiers (Fig. 1.18).

Lack of trend in accumulation of degree-days >6°C by the end of August was attributable to high interannual variation, but in the 28-year series that 1,240 DD>6°C by the end of August was exceeded in only six years in the northern tier versus 26 years in the southern tier (Fig. 1.19).

1.4.4.2 White-tailed Deer

White-tailed deer density averaged 5.5/mi² in the northern tier, with a low of 3.7/mi² seen in 2009 (Fig. 1.20a, Table 1.1). Deer density in the southern tier averaged 14.3/mi², ranging from 9.5/mi² in 1990 in 20.2/mi² in 2000 (Fig. 1.20b). This was followed by a decline to a local minimum of about 11-12/mi² 2009-2011 and a rise thereafter.



Figure 1.15. Trends in winter average minimum temperatures in the northern (a) and southern (b) tiers of Maine, 1990-2017.



Figure 1.16. Trends in summer average maximum temperatures in the northern (a) and southern (b) tiers of Maine, 1990-2017.



Figure 1.17. Trends in summer average relative humidity in the northern (a) and southern (b) tiers of Maine, 1990-2017.



Figure 1.18. Trends in fall average minimum temperatures in the northern (a) and southern (b) tiers of Maine, 1990-2017.



Figure 1.19. Trends in accumulation of degree-days >6°C in the northern (a) and southern (b) tiers of Maine, 1990-2017.



Figure 1.20. Trends in white-tailed deer density (deer/mi2) in the northern (a) and southern (b) tiers of Maine, 1990-2017.

1.4.5 Correlations Among *I. scapularis* from Passive Surveillance and Climatological Indicators of Warming Climate, Deer, and Lyme Incidence

Generally, most correlations between *I. scapularis* and temperature variables occurred in the northern tier during 1990-2013 or during the first decade in the southern tier (Table 1.3). Warmer winters corresponded with earlier appearance (both tiers) and longer season (northern tier) of spring adults. Consistent with our second hypothesis, warmer winters also corresponded with longer season duration of fall adults in the early series of the southern tier. Warmer falls corresponded with higher fall adult submission rates in the northern tier and longer season duration in the early series of the southern tier. Also consistent with our second hypothesis, higher relative humidity corresponded with higher submissions rates of nymphs in both tiers (Table 1.3). However, contrary to expectations, there were no correlations between any *I. scapularis* metrics and degree-day accumulation.

Correlations between *I. scapularis* submission rates and deer density were seen in the southern tier only, consistent with our third hypothesis. In the full southern tier time series (1990-2012), fall adult submission rate was correlated with deer/mi² in year_{t-0}, year_{t-1}, and year_{t-2} (0.48, 0.51, and 0.61, respectively, Table 1.4). In the early southern tier series (1990-1999), there were correlations between all *I. scapularis* stages and deer/mi² in the current and lagged years and ranged from 0.65 to 0.85 (Table 1.4). Finally, consistent with our fourth hypothesis, Lyme incidence was correlated with nymph submission rate (0.74) in the northern but not southern tier.

Table 1.3. Spearman rank correlation coefficients (where P < 0.05) between *I. scapularis* spring adult, summer nymph, and fall adult submission rate and phenology versus climatological variables, in the northern and southern tiers of Maine, 1990-2013. Ticks were submitted to a passive surveillance program (tick identification service) at the Maine Medical Center. Nymphal data were too sparse in the nothern tier to test phenological metrics (first, peak, and last week of season, and season duration; cells in gray).

			Spring				Fall			
			adults	Nymp	ohs		Adults ^b			
	Abundance/ Phenology	Tier	DJF_t2min	DJF_t2min	JJA_RH	DD>6°C_Aug _{t-1}	DJF_t2min	SON_t2min	JJA_RH	DD>6°C_Aug _{t-1}
Northern and										
Southern tiers, all										
years	submission rate	Northern Southern			0.70 0.69			0.64		
	first week of season	Northern Southern	-0.60 -0.53							
	peak week of season	Northern Southern								
	last week of season	Northern Southern								
	season duration	Northern Southern	0.58							
Southern tier, first										
decade only	submission rate	Southern								
	first week of season peak week of season last week of season		-0.68							
	season duration						0.62	0.60		

^aDJF_t2min and SON_t2min are average minimum temperature at 2m above ground, JJA_RH is summer relative humidity at 2m, DD>6°C_Augt-1 is cumulative degree-days>6°C by the end of August, one-year lag. ^b1990-2012

Table 1.4. Spearman rank correlation coefficients (where P < 0.05) between *I. scapularis* spring adult, summer nymph, and fall adult submission rate versus white-tailed deer density in the current and past two years in the northern and southern tiers of Maine, 1990-2013. Submission rate was (number of ticks submitted/population) x 100,000.

		Spring	adults	Nymph	IS	Fall ad		
Geographic Range	Tier	Deer/mi ² _{t-1}	Deer/mi ² t-2	Deer/mi ² _{t-1}	Deer/mi ² t-2	Deer/mi ² _{t-0}	Deer/mi ² _{t-1}	Deer/mi ² +2
Northern and Southern								
tiers, all years	Northern Southern					0.48	0.51	0.61
Southern tier, first								
decade only	Southern	0.75	0.68	0.66		0.76	0.65	0.85
^a 1990-2012								

1.5 Discussion

With passive surveillance data for 1990-2013, we were available to compare trends in *I. scapularis* abundance and phenology in the warmer southern versus colder northern tier of Maine. Submissions of larval *I. scapularis* from the northern tier indicated the increase in *I. scapularis* in the northern tier was not just a result of long-distance avian dispersal (Smith et al. 1996, Rand et al. 1998, Leighton et al. 2012, Ogden et al. 2006b, Ogden et al. 2008b).

Consistent with our expectations, in the northern tier the *I. scapularis* submission rate and season duration increased, whereas in the southern tier these metrics increased during the first years of the time series but after about ~13 years leveled off. Assuming a true biological signal in the submissions data, ~13 years to establishment is in agreement with the 5-10 years to establishment scenarios Ginsberg (1993) observed empirically and Ogden et al. (2007) observed via simulation. *I. scapularis* submissions rates by the end of the time series in the northern tier were similar to those at the start of the series in the southern tier, suggesting the *I. scapularis* in the north were still emergent versus established in the southern tier. We did not see shifts to earlier peak weeks over time as seen in New York State (Levi et al. 2015); in this study the observed phenological shift was increased season duration.

Consistent with our second set of expectations, *I. scapularis* submission rates and phenological changes were correlated with winter warming in the northern tier across the duration of the time series, but only the early half of the time series for the southern tier (with the exception of the correlation between spring adults and winter for the full southern tier series).Winter average minimum temperatures in the northern tier, and fall average

temperatures and summer relative humidity in both tiers increased significantly over the 1990-2017 interval, which from a climate standpoint is a very short time.

It was unexpected that degree-day accumulation was not correlated with *I. scapularis* submission rates and phenological metrics, but there could be several reasons for this. First, we note that in the 28-year degree-day time series 1,240 DD>6°C by the end of August was exceeded in only seven of the more recent years in the northern tier versus 26 years in the southern tier. Second, current-year climatological conditions may obfuscate effects of degree-day accumulation the year before. Larvae were rarely submitted so we could not test for a correlation between larvae and degree-day accumulation. Third, a simple correlation analysis may not work well with threshold relationships.

The relationship between increasing nymphal *I. scapularis* submissions rates and higher summer relative humidity (in both tiers) was consistent with *I. scapularis*' need to avoid desiccation. We note that relative humidity was based on temperature at two meters and not RH at ground level under cover of leaves and duff. Berger et al. (2014b) developed an equation to relate ambient air RH to data loggers in leaf litter as $RH_{litter} = 100/(1 + 7.2145e[-0.0559_{RHair}])$. Applying this equation to our RH summary data (Table 1.1) yielded RH 84.3 (range 79.6 to 86.7) for the northern tier and RH 85.2 (range 80.8 to 88.1) which would not challenge *I. scapularis* nymphs.

Though northern tier climate suitability appears to have improved for *I. scapularis* and will likely continue to do so, current overall ecological suitability for *I. scapularis* in the northern tier may be limited due to low deer densities, which averaged ~5/mi² (range 2-9/mi²). Where a suitable climate envelope exists for *I. scapularis*, tick abundance will depend on adequate host

densities and core woodland habitat (Eisen et al. 2016). In the southern part of the Province of Quebec (PQ), Canada, from 1990 to 2008, Ogden et al. (2010) attributed increasing *I. scapularis* populations to warming climate, because they considered habitat, and rodent and deer host densities non-limiting; deer densities were 7.4 to 10.7/km² (19 to 28/mi²). But in Maine's northern tier, low deer densities (2-9/mi²) may be limiting more rapid establishment of *I. scapularis* even as climate suitability has improved.

Habitat and small mammal host populations are likely non-limiting in Maine's northern tier. Maine has a mix of deciduous, mixed, and coniferous forest cover types. The white-footed mouse, a key host of juvenile *I. scapularis* reservoir of *B. burgdorferi*, has a broad North American distribution (19-49°N 64-112°W, Wang et al. 2009) that includes Maine. The deer mouse (*P. maniculatus*) ranges farther north but overlaps with the white-footed mouse in Maine, and is similar in terms of *I. scapularis* infestation, burdens, and *B. burgdorferi* reservoir competence (Rand et al. 1993, Garman et al. 1994, Oliver et al. 2006, Roy-Dufresne et al. 2013).

Compared to the northern tier, Maine's southern tier climate has been more suitable for *I. scapularis* and there have been more deer. During the emergent phase of *I. scapularis* in southern tier of Maine, average white-tailed deer density in the southern tier increased from 9.5/mi² in 1990 to 20.2/mi² in 2000, a 113% increase over 11 years. The burgeoning deer population in southern Maine during the early 2000s led the Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife (MEIFW) to significantly increase any deer permits to increase hunting pressure on does, and the number of ADPs issued generally declined starting in 2004, as population objectives were met (MEIFW 2017). Deer declined to a density of 11-12/mi² in 2009-2011. The rise and fall of deer coincided with the pattern of increase and decrease in *I.*

scapularis in the southern tier and was consistent with our expectation that *I. scapularis* and deer density in the current and past two years would be correlated. However, we emphasize that once *I. scapularis* has become established in an area, we would not expect to observe a decline in tick density unless deer density were lowered and held at or below the posited 8-13/mi² threshold (Telford et al. 2017) for several years, so the correlation may be spurious. Apart from deer, density-independent or density-dependent population regulation mechanisms (Fish 1993) could be keeping *I. scapularis* at a state of dynamic equilibrium.

Density-independent weather mechanisms limiting tick development and survival in both winter and summer in Maine could be declining snow cover, increasing frequency of heat waves, and increasing extreme rainfall events. Snow is a ground insulator that improves tick survival (Eisen et al. 2016) and snowfall has been decreasing statewide (Fernandez et al. 2015). Lack of snow followed by an extended cold wave could make the southern tier more hostile than a more snow-covered northern tier. Extended heat waves may drive nymphal I. scapularis into the leaf litter even in Maine, as is typical at the southern edge of its range (Stromdahl and Hickling 2012, Arsnoe et al. 2015). Increasing relative humidity in the northeast (Lyon and Barnston 2017) may not compensate for high temperatures during heat waves. Heavy rain may suppress nymphal questing activity (Moore et al. 2014, Berger et al. 2014b), leading to indirect mortality. Density-dependent I. scapularis population-limiting mechanisms include grooming behavior by hosts such as white-footed mice (Levin and Fish 1998) and opossums (Keesing et al. 2009), immune resistance acquired by hosts (Wilson et al. 1990, Craig et al. 1996), or predators, parasites, and pathogens of ticks (Fish 1993). Host density-dependence may regulate *I*. scapularis as well (e.g., Fish 1993, Eisen et al. 2016, but see Hazler and Ostfeld 1995).

Quiescence and diapause (Eisen et al. 2016, Ogden et al. 2018) also may play a role in trends and fluctuations observed in *I. scapularis*.

Two independently-obtained datasets from the southern tier—subadult *I. scapularis* burdens on breeding passerine birds, and questing fall adult ticks—demonstrated patterns of increasing *I. scapularis* through the early 2000s, followed by a leveling or decline. Although these data are from just one site, the Wells National Estuarine Research Reserve, they could be another line of evidence that *I. scapularis* may have reached a population asymptote in the southern tier. The Borrelia infection rate in the fall-flagged adults is also consistent with the idea of a dynamic equilibrium in Wells, a long-established site for *I. scapularis*. Ogden et al. (2007) predicted that *I. scapularis* populations should reach a stable cyclical equilibrium within 10 years, assuming typical white-footed mouse densities and high deer densities. High *I. scapularis* host density and ideal tick habitat were characteristic of many parts of the research reserve in Wells.

Amplification of *B. burgdorferi* is expected to follow increases in abundance and range of *I. scapularis* as the pathogen follows the vector (Ginsberg 1993). Partially consistent with our fourth hypothesis, annual Lyme incidence was correlated with nymphal *I. scapularis* submissions rates in the northern tier. However, Lyme incidence was not correlated with nymphal *I. scapularis* in the southern tier because Lyme incidence increased whereas submissions rates leveled off. This putative decoupling of disease incidence and entomological risk could be due in part to increased rate of discovery of tick-borne illness owing to increased clinician and patient awareness and testing effort (Elias et al. 2019). Another possibility is that an increasing proportion of virulent strains of *B. burgdorferi* and/or co-infections in *I. scapularis*
could be an emergent feature where *I. scapularis* are established (Brisson et al. 2011, MacQueen et al. 2012).

1.5.1 Limitations of the Study

We have performed simple univariate linear regressions and correlation tests with datasets that are subject to bias. Passive surveillance is not based on random sampling (Clow et al. 2017), and valid criticisms of the Maine tick identification program include submitter fatigue (possibly due to increased familiarity with ticks), and possible lack of familiarity with and in the program where there was lower entomological risk and/or distance from the program. We juxtaposed submissions of nymphal and adult *I. scapularis, I. cookei* (woodchuck ticks), which is macroscopically similar to I. scapularis, and Dermacentor variabilis (dog ticks) found on humans. Non-zero submissions of *I. cookei* and *D. variabilis* indicated some submitters in both tiers were aware of the program from its inception (Fig. 1.21). One might expect increasing public concern or submissions fatigue to respectively increase or decrease submissions of at least I. scapularis and I. cookei at the same rate, but such was not the case (Fig. 1.21). I. cookei nymphs were more commonly submitted in the early years in both tiers, whereas more I. scapularis were submitted in later years (Fig. 1.21a,b). These patterns in concurrent submissions of the three most common ticks (93% of submissions) suggested that despite biases there was a relevant biological signal from the Maine submissions data.

Several passive surveillance programs outside of Maine have investigated correspondence between Lyme disease and passive *I. scapularis* submissions in time and space. At both the county and town levels in Rhode Island, USA, Johnson et al. (2004) found Pearson



Figure 1.21. Number of submissions of *I. scapularis, I. cookei,* and *D. variabilis* nymphs and adults in the northern (a) and southern (b) tiers of Maine and adults in the northern (c) and southern (d) tiers of Maine, 1989-2013.

correlation coefficients (r) \geq 0.92 between human Lyme disease cases and the number of submitted *I. scapularis* (stage not specified). At the town level in Quebec, Canada, Ripoche et al. (2018) modeled Lyme incidence as a function of population-adjusted number of passively submitted nymphal *I. scapularis* and a found a correlation coefficient of 0.93 between actual and predicted Lyme incidence. In Connecticut, USA, Shelton (2015) found moderate correlations between Lyme cases and passively submitted *I. scapularis* (stage not specified) at the town level across years, and on an annual basis across towns (both r ~ 0.50), however, Connecticut case reporting methods changed dramatically during the period used for analysis. In Rhode Island, Johnson et al. (2004) found no positive correlation between Lyme cases and passive *I. scapularis* submissions over time but the tick identification program at the time included testing for a fee. Thus, while bias is inherent in any passive surveillance program, these programs have successfully tracked geographic emergence of Lyme disease.

Active (field) surveillance is subject to measurement error (Clow et al. 2018), and certainly the bird burden and flagged adult tick data used here came from one site only and were subject to variation due to weather and sample timing. These data cannot validate the passive surveillance data from the southern tier. But in ecological studies, the choice is usually between short-term sampling at many sites or long-term sampling at one or a few sites. Thus, we offer the field time series as lines of evidence which do not contradict the passive surveillance data. The deer density data were based on regression model predictions, introducing unknown error.

Level of aggregation chosen also can introduce bias (e.g., Openshaw 1984, Dark and Bram 2007). Aggregation of tick, weather, and deer data into northern and southern tiers could have obscured spatial patterns at a finer spatial resolution, and certainly transitional conditions at the northern-southern tier boundary will be obscured by the necessity of conforming to county lines. Temporal aggregation of climatological variables to seasons will obscure temperature extremes, although *I. scapularis* are buffered from temperature and humidity extremes through time spent in the soil/leaf litter layer and exhibit latent developmental responses to seasonal changes (Odgen et al. 2014). Certainly, we know that there are focal areas of deer overabundance (MEIFW 2017) and that tick habitats vary in microclimate, vegetation, and rodent and host communities. Aggregation to the northern/southern tier levels was intended to be as objective as possible based differences in Lyme disease incidence, climate, and deer densities. Critically, characterizing phenological trends of *I. scapularis*

required enough data per tier to assess season duration and data were sparse for the northern tier.

A number of tick-associated factors were not included in the correlation analysis. We did not include other landscape-scale conditions associated with *I. scapularis* such as forest fragmentation and suburbanization (Allan et al. 2003, Linske et al. 2018) and invasive plant species invasion (Lubelczyk et al. 2004, Elias et al. 2006, Williams and Ward 2010, Williams et al. 2017), though these conditions co-occur with higher white-tailed deer densities. The relationship between a heat index and *I. scapularis* would probably be more instructive than temperature and humidity separately. Despite these limitations, the results reported here are biologically plausible and will guide future statistical ecological modeling that ascertains the joint contributions of factors driving emergence and regulation of *I. scapularis* in Maine.

1.6 Conclusions

Climate has likely been permissive for *I. scapularis* since before the 1990s in Maine's southern tier, and has been less permissive for *I. scapularis* in the northern tier, but is improving. However, overall ecological suitability for *I. scapularis* in the northern tier may be limited due to low deer densities, which averaged ~5/mi² during the study period and to this day. The joint effects of climate, deer, and landscape-scale habitat should be modeled to determine the relative contributions of these factors, and to ascertain to what degree impacts of climate change on *I. scapularis*, and thus disease transmission in the northern tier, could be mitigated through conservative deer density goals for the northern tier. Conversations over the merits of keeping deer herd density low may replace the usual debate over deer reduction.

In the southern tier, *I. scapularis* submissions rates and season duration trended up for ~13 years then leveled to a possible dynamic equilibrium. Teasing out what if any population-limiting mechanisms could be operating on *I. scapularis* and at what geographic scale will be a worthwhile challenge if it leads to ecological insights and tick control strategies.

In Maine's southern tier we may have demonstrated an instance decoupling of reported disease incidence and entomological risk. The challenge will be to tease apart the confounding effects of human diagnostic testing effort versus pathogen amplification and genetic diversification. Otherwise we will frustrate our expectations of lowered tick-borne disease incidence following carefully designed tick control interventions. Maine's laboratory capacity for PCR-based testing has expanded since 2013 and includes the laboratories at the Maine Medical Center Research Institute, The Maine CDC's Maine Health and Environmental Testing Laboratory, and the University of Maine's Cooperative Extension Diagnostic and Research Laboratory. Climate change is exacerbating our problems with blacklegged ticks in Maine. Mapping patterns in strain diversity of the multiple pathogens that *I. scapularis* carry should improve our resilience as our changing environment facilitates invasion of tick and mosquito vectors into Maine.

CHAPTER 2.

BLACKLEGGED TICK RANGE EXPANSION IN RELATION TO WHITE-TAILED DEER AND CLIMATE, IN MAINE, USA

2.1. Abstract

Lyme disease is caused by the bacterial spirochete Borrelia burgdorferi, which is transmitted through the bite of an infected blacklegged tick (Ixodes scapularis). Geographic range expansions of invasive *I. scapularis* populations over time in the US have been attributed to a mosaic of factors including 20th century reforestation followed by suburbanization, burgeoning populations of the white-tailed deer (Odocoileus virginianus) which is the primary reproductive host of I. scapularis, non-native plant invasions that provide ideal tick habitat, and, at the northern edge of *I. scapularis*' range, climate change. Maine, a high Lyme incidence state, has been experiencing warmer and shorter winter seasons, and relatively more so in the northern tier. We used a passive tick surveillance dataset to index abundance of *I. scapularis* nymphs within Maine's wildlife management districts, 1990-2013. We used a generalized additive mixed model (GAMM) to model linear and nonlinear relationships between nymphal I. scapularis abundance and predictors, while allowing for spatiotemporal dependencies within and among wildlife management districts. I. scapularis nymphs increased with increasing deer densities up to ~13 deer/mi², but beyond this threshold tick abundance did not vary with deer density. This result corroborated the idea of a saturating relationship between *I. scapularis* and deer density. It was also consistent with empirical studies suggesting deer density must be lowered below ~8-13/mi² to lower *I. scapularis* abundance enough to lower Lyme disease. The model also indicated that more ticks were associated with higher relative humidity, warmer

minimum winter temperatures and more degree-day accumulation, and that without deer >4/mi² warmer winters would not increase nymphal abundance. The Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife northern tier goals range from 10-15/mi² and southern tier goals from 15-20/mi² for 2030 (MEIFW 2017). We recommended deer densities be kept to ≤10/mi² in all of Maine's northern tier to mitigate likely increases in ticks due to future warming. Suburbanization and presence of tick-associated non-native plants did not enter the model because they co-occurred with deer.

2.2 Introduction

The blacklegged or deer tick (*Ixodes scapularis*) is the vector of agents causing Lyme disease, human babesiosis, and human granulocytic anaplasmosis (Spielman et al.1985, Spielman 1988, Bakken et al. 1994). Incidence and geographic ranges of Lyme borreliosis and other tick-borne diseases are rising and spreading in both North America and northern Europe, following northward range expansion of vector ticks, which has been partially attributed to climate warming (Parham et al. 2015). Lyme disease is the most common vector-borne illness in the US (Rosenberg et al. 2018) and is concentrated in the upper Midwest and New England. Formerly, Lyme disease incidence in the southern New England states eclipsed that of the northern New England states, but Maine, New Hampshire, and Vermont have caught up with the rest of the northeast (CDC 2018a).

Lyme cases in Maine have risen dramatically since the first case in 1983, with record case numbers set each year since 2011, and increasing by 82.4% from 2011 to 2017 (from 1,013 to 1,848 cases, MECDC 2018b). Maine had the highest incidence of Lyme disease cases in the

U.S. in 2016 and 2017 (86.4 and 106.6 cases/100,000 people, respectively) and has ranked in the top five states for Lyme incidence since 2008 (42.1 to 84.8; CDC 2018a). Case-counting is inexact (Cartter et al. 2018), but Maine is clearly a high-incidence state. Other tick-borne illnesses on the rise are anaplasmosis, babesiosis, *B. miyamotoi* disease, and Powassan virus neuroinvasive disease (Cavanaugh et al. 2017, MECDC 2018b, Smith et al. 2019a).

Increasing Lyme disease incidence in Maine has been correlated with the range expansion of the blacklegged tick (Fig. 2.1). Reporting on 18 years' worth of data (1989 through 2006), Rand et al. (2007) showed that *I. scapularis* emerged first along the coast then advanced inland, and that submissions of nymphal *I. scapularis* were strongly correlated with reported Lyme disease cases in time and space. Comparison with submissions of macroscopically similar *I. cookei* (woodchuck tick) indicated an increase of *I. scapularis*, not just increased activity on the part of blacklegged ticks or tick submitters (Rand et al 2007).

Geographic range expansion of invasive *I. scapularis* populations over time in the US has been attributed to a mosaic of factors including 20th century reforestation followed by suburbanization, burgeoning populations of the white-tailed deer (*Odocoileus virginianus*), which is the primary reproductive host of *I. scapularis* (e.g., Eisen et al. 2016, Telford et al. 2017), non-native plant invasions that provide ideal tick habitat (Lubelcyk et al. 2004, Elias et al. 2006, Williams and Ward 2010), and, at the northern edge of *I. scapularis*' range, climate change (Leighton et al. 2012, Ogden et al. 2014). We describe known associations between *I. scapularis*, climate, deer, suburbanization, and tick-associated invasive plants in the next sections.



Figure 2.1. Range expansion of the blacklegged tick in Maine, USA, 1990-2013, as measured by *I. scapularis* submitted to Maine Medical Center's tick identification program. Source: Vector-borne Disease Laboratory, Maine Medical Center Research Institute, Scarborough, Maine.

2.2.1 I. scapularis, Climate Suitability, and Climate Change in Maine

Climate change in Maine has likely been an ally of *I. scapularis* over the past several decades (Chapter 1). Maine has warmed by about 1.7°C (3°F) between 1895 and 2014, and this warming has been felt most acutely in winter and in the northern part of the state (Chapter 1: Fig. 1.8; Fernandez et al. 2015). Since 1895, annual precipitation in Maine has increased by 15 cm (13%), with most of the additional amount falling in summer and fall (Fernandez et al. 2015). Among several climate scenarios for coastal Maine by 2030 (not all of which assume warming), Birkel and Mayewski (2018) described a moderate warming of 0.5°C, or abrupt warming of 1.7°C by 2030 due to Arctic sea ice collapse leading to further shrinkage of the

winter season and more total annual precipitation than the 2010s. A warmer, wetter climate future in Maine would likely further promote *I. scapularis* survival and questing activity and thus we are concerned that risk of tick bite and pathogen transmission will increase.

The climate envelope for *I. scapularis* in Maine will be suitable in locations where *I. scapularis* are subject to sufficient degree-day accumulation (e.g., ~1,240 degree-days>6°C) to promote egg laying and hatching, with prevailing seasonal temperature averages between ~-10°C and ~30°C and humidity ≥75% (Chapter 1). Survival, development, and questing (blood-meal seeking) of Ixodes ticks are constrained by temperature and humidity at all stages of the two-year tick life cycle: egg, larva, nymph, and adult. In brief, temperature affects winter diapause (overwintering), length and timing of inactivity (phenology) and survival of adults and nymphs, summer questing activity (phenology) and survival of nymphs and larvae, and spring/summer phenology of oviposition (laying) and eclosion (hatch) of eggs; humidity modifies the desiccating effects of summer heat on nymphs and larvae (e.g., Lindsay et al. 1995, Rand et al. 2004a, Ogden 2006a, Ogden 2008a, Williams and Ward 2010, Leighton et al. 2012, Ostfeld et al. 2015, Parham et al. 2015, Linske et al. 2019).

In Maine, Rand et al. (2004a) showed that for blacklegged tick females to lay eggs (in May), and for those eggs to hatch, about ~1,240 (\pm SD 143) degree-days >6°C (42.8°F) must accumulate by the end of August. Light-mediated diapause (e.g., Ogden 2018) may preclude some larval questing beyond August, thus attainment of sufficient degree days by summer's end is important to completion of the lifecycle of *I. scapularis*. During the 1990s and 2000s 1,240 degree-days >6°C (42.8°F) has not been attained in the northern tier but attendant to climate change, the line marking attainment of this threshold has shifted northward (Chapter

1:Fig. 1.9) and this shift may continue. Years where 1,240 DD>6°C is achieved by the end of August should lead to larger larval cohorts in the same year, and larger nymphal and fall adult cohorts the following year, assuming a mild intervening winter. We were interested in whether *I. scapularis* might show nonlinear and/or threshold relationships related to degree-day accumulation, mean winter low temperatures and other seasonal climatologies.

2.2.2 I. scapularis and White-tailed Deer

In the US, the white-tailed deer is the primary reproductive host of the adult *I.* scapularis (e.g., Telford 2017) by providing a mating site for adult ticks and blood meals to females and providing ~95% of blood meals to females (Wilson et al. 1990). In the northeastern US, larvae and nymphs also feed on deer (Watson and Anderson 1976, Anderson and Magnarelli 1980, Magnarelli et al. 1995, Garnett et al. 2011, Williams et al. 2018a), as well as on rodents and non-rodent small animals such as lizards (Piesman and Spielman 1979, Spielman et al. 1985, Oliver et al. 1993, Piesman 2002, Oliver et al. 2003, Brisson et al. 2008), and migratory birds (Smith et al. 1996, Rand et al. 1998, Ogden et al. 2008b). Conversely, adult blacklegged ticks feed on medium- to large-sized mammals but almost never on rodents and birds (e.g., Smith et al. 1996, Rand et al. 1998, Scharf 2004, Schulze et al. 2005, Elias et al. 2011). Integrated tick management combines strategies to lower tick abundance by killing ticks outright and to finding ways to interrupt the life cycle of the vector tick. Depriving adult *I.* scapularis of its primary blood meal host—white-tailed deer—is a strategy for long-term tick reduction that can be paired with short-term strategies (Telford 2017).

Several studies have found correspondence between tick abundance and deer abundance (Wilson et al. 1988, Wilson et al. 1990, Deblinger et al. 1993, Rand et al. 2003,

Stafford et al. 2003, Kilpatrick et al. 2014), while others have not (Wilson et al. 1984, Jordan and Schulze 2007, Ostfeld et al. 2006). Six studies at seven sites ranging from New Jersey to Maine sought to reduce white-tailed deer densities enough to reduce *I. scapularis* (Kugeler et al. 2016). Deer were reduced to 45-100% from pre-cull densities of 34-251/mi² (13-97/km²) to post-cull densities of 0-65/mi² (0-25/km²) (Kugeler et al. 2016). Fifty to 100% reduction in nymphal *I. scapularis* was achieved at six of the seven sites. The burden of Lyme disease was assessed pre- and post-cull at four of the sites. Where Lyme was possibly reduced, deer were reduced 50-100% from pre-cull densities of 34-118/mi² (13-46/km²) to post-cull densities of 0-13/mi² (0-5/mi²) and where Lyme was not reduced post-cull deer densities remained high at 47/mi² (18/km²).

The three deer reduction experiments connected with possible reductions in Lyme disease were on Great Island, Massachusetts, Monhegan Island, Maine, and Mumford Cove, Connecticut. On Great Island deer were reduced to <6/mi² (2.3/km²) in 1982; nymphal *I. scapularis* declined by >63% and cases declined from ~20 among 162 residents during the five-year pre-cull period to two cases in the decade following (Telford, 1993, 2002). Monhegan islanders voted in 1995 to remove all 113 deer permanently; the number of *I. scapularis* larvae and nymphs on rats declined from 1 to 17 pre-removal to 0 post-removal (Rand et al. 2004a) and among the ~70-resident population, cases declined from 10 in the pre-cull decade to two in the two decades since. In Mumford, Kilpatrick et al. (2014) reported a 76% reduction in tick abundance and 80% reduction in cases of Lyme disease per 100 households in a Connecticut community where deer were reduced by 91%, from 142/mi² (54/km²) to 13/mi² (5/km²). The four studies on Monhegan Island, Maine, Great Island, Massachusetts, Mumford, Connecticut,

and Bernard Township, New Jersey provided empirical evidence that if the goal is to lower Lyme incidence, deer density should be lowered to the vicinity of 8-13/mi² (3 to 5/km²) (Telford 1993, Telford 2002, Stafford et al. 2003, Stafford 2007, Kilpatrick et al. 2014).

Taken together, the deer reduction studies suggested the relationship between deer density and tick abundance is nonlinear, with a threshold deer density above which deer reduction does not reduce *I. scapularis* but below which deer reduction does lower tick abundance, with a time lag (Eisen and Dolan 2016). Kilpatrick et al. (2017) described this as a saturating relationship, with tick abundance increasing with increasing deer density up to a moderate but unknown deer density then showing little response as deer abundance increases further. A question we had was whether existing data on Maine *I. scapularis* and white-tailed deer in a model might statistically corroborate the empirically-derived 8-13/mi² (3 to 5/km²) threshold.

2.2.3. I. scapularis and Suburbanization

The emergence of the blacklegged tick is tied to 20th and 21st century reforestation and suburbanization of the landscape (Telford 2017). Deciduous and mixed deciduous-coniferous forests are core forest habitat for *I. scapularis* (Eisen et al. 2016), and forest fragmentation as a result of residential development may lead to increased Lyme disease risk (Allan et al. 2003, Brownstein et al. 2005a, Brownstein et al. 2005b). Exposure to blacklegged ticks and risk of transmission seems to occur most typically in the peridomestic environment (Nicholson and Mather 1996, Linard et al. 2007, Zeman and Benes 2014). In Maine, many of the emerging suburbs that are currently experiencing rapid growth were rural areas 40 years ago (Richert 2004). Expansion of service centers and transportation, along with increased development

pressure and zoning requirements for large lot sizes have led to the rapid conversion of land from traditional agricultural or timber uses to open, low, and medium-density suburban development (Richert 2004). We thus surmised that proportion of the landscape in deciduous and mixed forest cover in conjunction with proportion in residential development may serve as a good landscape-scale proxy to *I. scapularis* abundance and exposure.

2.2.4 I. scapularis and Tick-Associated Non-native Plant Species Invasions

Japanese barberry (Berberis thunbergii) is classified as invasive in twenty states and five Canadian provinces, and forms dense thickets that alter soil and site conditions, inhibiting forest regeneration and native herbaceous plant populations (Silander and Klepeis 1999). Japanese barberry is favored when overabundant white-tailed deer browse down native vegetation (Lubelczyk et al. 2004, Elias et al. 2006), and furthermore, it harbors white-footed mice and other small mammals and birds that host *I. scapularis* and serve as reservoirs for *B.* burgdorferi (Williams and Ward 2010). Japanese barberry infestations are favorable habitat for ticks because they provide a buffered microclimate that limits desiccation-induced tick mortality. High vapor pressure deficit (VPD) values are strongly related to tick mortality (Williams and Ward 2010). In Connecticut, control of Japanese barberry reduced the number of ticks infected with *B. burgdorferi* by nearly 60%, by reverting microclimatic conditions to those more typical of native northeastern forests, namely, lower relative humidity/higher vapor pressure deficit, and higher summer temperatures (Williams and Ward 2010). Forests infested with barberry can adversely affect human and pet health because they have greater tick abundance than native vegetation. Ticks also are associated with Japanese honeysuckle (Lonicera japonica) and oriental bittersweet (Celastrus orbiculatus) (Lubelczyk et al. 2004, Elias

et al. 2006). Though these plants have focal distributions, their tendency to invade whole landscapes led us to ask if sightings data might be predictive of *I. scapularis* abundance.

2.2.5 Knowledge Gaps

Numerous data modeling and simulation studies have supported the premise that *Ixodes* ticks and tick-borne disease have advanced northwards in response to warming climate (e.g., Ogden et al. 2008a, Ogden et al. 2008c, Leighton et al. 2012, Ogden et al. 2014) although Randolph (2014) and Ostfeld et al. (2015) cautioned that such models are incomplete without inclusion of non-climatic processes. Likewise, models of *I. scapularis* in relationship to deer and other landscape components be incomplete without consideration of climate. (Kilpatrick et al. 2017) considered the relationship between tick density and low-to-moderate deer density while accounting for effects of cold on tick survival to be a knowledge gap. An advantage of a Maine study is that in the northern tier winters are colder and deer densities lower than in states to the south.

Ideally, data on all climatic and non-climatic processes affecting Ixodes could be assembled into one model, but this is improbable. Still, several landscape-scale studies using combinations of field and remote-sensing data have incorporated climatic and some nonclimatic processes in the same models with ticks or tick-borne illness as the response (e.g., Khatchikian et al. 2012) . Robinson et al. (2015) found associations between Lyme incidence in Minnesota and degree-day accumulation and deciduous forest cover. Tagliapietra et al. (2011) found *I. ricinis* abundance was associated with saturation deficit and red deer density. Lyme incidence as an outcome in these types of models can be problematic due to increased disease discovery (Chapter 1; Elias et al. 2019). Fortunately, we had the benefit of a long-term passive

surveillance dataset (1989-2013) to model the statistical association between *I. scapularis* and a suite of factors known to be associated with *I. scapularis*.

2.2.6 Aims and Hypotheses

Our aim was to determine whether annual nymphal *I. scapularis* submissions rate could be modeled as linear or nonlinear smooth functions of deer density, seasonal climatology, and several landscape features, at the statewide scale. As described above, relationships between *I. scapularis* and predictors are not likely to be linear and may involve thresholds. Using nymphal *I. scapularis* submissions rate (ticks submitted adjusted for human population size) as an index to tick abundance, our hypotheses were that nymphal *I. scapularis* submissions rate in year*t* and WMD*i* would be

- 1. a nonlinear function of deer density at year_{t-2} in WMD_i, exhibiting a positive relationship initially, followed by threshold in the vicinity of 8-13/mi², over which there would be no relationship between ticks and deer density. The rationale for year_{t-2} is that the summer nymphal cohort in year_t would be the result of a year_{t-2} adult cohort, most of which fed on deer in fall of year_{t-2}. Larvae (in year_{t-1}) and nymphs (in year_{t-2}) also could have obtained blood meals from deer, but typically would have fed on small mammals as well as birds. The rationale for the specific threshold is based on the 8-13/mi² range posited for suppression of ticks and Lyme disease (Telford 1993, Telford 2002, Stafford et al. 2003, Stafford 2007, Kilpatrick et al. 2014);
- a nonlinear function of degree-day accumulation in year_{t-1} of WMD_i with a threshold in the vicinity of 1,240 degree-days >6°C because larval eclosion depends on accumulation of sufficient degree-days (Rand et al. 2004a, Leighton et al. 2012);

- a positive nonlinear function associated with mean winter low temperature in year_t and WMD_i, with a threshold in the vicinity of -18°C to -10°C (Burks et al. 1996, VanDyk et al. 1996, Brunner et al. 2012) assuming warmer winters improve overwintering survival;
- 4. a positive nonlinear or linear function of mean summer relative humidity and or mean summer maximum temperature in year_t and WMD_i because greater nymphal activity and survival is associated with higher relative humidity (Williams and Ward 2010), but might be compromised in hot summers;
- 5. a positive nonlinear or linear function of percentage of land area in, open, low and medium density development, percent of forest with deciduous or mixed cover type, and frequency of Japanese barberry, Japanese honeysuckle, and oriental bittersweet sightings in WMD_i.

We considered several other climatological variables closely associated with humidity (precipitation, vapor pressure deficit) and compressed winters (warmer falls, warmer springs). We expected the model would be improved by including time (year), because *I. scapularis* is an invasive species, dispersing into presumably suitable but previously unoccupied habitat (Byers et al. 2015). We also assumed that there would be temporal and spatial autocorrelation within and among WMDs, respectively, and that the models would be improved by incorporating random effects to represent these sources of variation. Adult *I. scapularis* do have a role in Lyme disease transmission in humans, but as human cases of Lyme disease peak in the summer months when nymphs are active (Schwartz et al. 2017), we selected nymphs as the representative stage.

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Study Area

Maine, the most northeastern of the United States, encompasses 86,542 km2 and 4.5° latitude (42.97-47.46°N, 66.95-71.08°W), and has 924 minor civil divisions (towns), 512 of which are populated. With the exception of agricultural land along its eastern border with Canada, the northern half of the state is primarily commercial forests of spruce and fir (Picea and Abies spp.) being gradually supplanted by hardwood stands, principally of maple and oak (Acer and Quercus spp.). A series of higher elevations (600-1,600 m) occupies the northwestern half of the state. The majority of its human population of 1.3 million resides in its southern half, generally within an 80-km-wide coastal plain with elevations <150 m (Rand et al. 2007). Relative to other high Lyme incidence states in the northeastern US, Maine is unique. This is because tick populations range from established on the coast to emerging in the northern tier, white-tailed deer densities range from moderate (moderate relative to states such as Connecticut and New York) to low in the northern tier, and local climates range from mild on the coast to cold in the northern interior and higher elevations (Rand et al. 2007).

The Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife (MEDIFW) manages deer and other game species within 30 Wildlife Management Districts (WMDs) numbered 0 through 29 (Fig. 2.2). WMDs are based on similarities in geographical location, soils, forest cover types, seasonal temperature, rainfall and snowfall, and land use (MEIFW 2007). Currently, WMD-level deer abundances range from 2-5/mi² (5-13 deer/km²) in the north, to 15-25/mi² (39-65 deer/km²) in central and southern areas (MEIFW 2007). WMD 29 is located along the mid- and southern coast and contains all islands with year-round residents not connected to the

mainland at low tide or by manmade structures; at times deer densities have exceeded 100/mi² on certain islands (MEIFW 2007, Rand et al. 2007). We note that no ticks were acquired in towns corresponding with WMD 0 (Baxter State Park) and WMD 4 and so these two WMDs are not part of the model.



Figure 2.2. Maine's 16 counties (red outlines) superimposed over 30 Wildlife Management Districts (WMDs 0 through 29, gray outlines), with the northern tier WMDs shaded in gray.

2.3.2 Datasets

The data comprised nymphal blacklegged tick submission rates as response variables, and white-tailed deer abundance, climatological variables, and landscape characteristics as candidate explanatory variables (Table 2.1).

2.3.2.1 Shapefiles

We downloaded shapefiles of Maine towns (metwp24.shp) and WMDs (wildlife_mgmt_districts.shp) (Maine GeoLibrary 2017). We used these shapefiles to spatially aggregate and portray data on ticks, white-tailed deer, climatology, and landscape variables to the WMD level.

2.3.2.2 Nymphal I. scapularis Submission Rate as an Index of Abundance

The Vector-borne Disease Laboratory at the Maine Medical Center Research Institute ran a free-of-charge, statewide tick identification (i.e., passive surveillance) program in Maine, initiated in 1989, a year after the first *I. scapularis* were reported in the state (Rand et al. 2007). Members of the general public, health care providers, and veterinarians submitted ticks to the program from 1989 through 2013. In 1989, lab staff actively recruited tick submitters by way of lectures, phone calls, newsletters, and media communications. After 1989 there was no active recruitment, and in mid-2013 the lab announced the end of the program. Data collected from persons submitting ticks were: date found and town where the tick was thought to have been acquired, the species of "found-on" host (including age and gender if the host was human), the attachment site if bitten, and any related symptoms. Laboratory staff identified the species, stage, and engorgement level of the tick and returned this information to the tick submitter (Rand et al. 2007). Although passively collected, tick submissions data serve as a good if not

excellent index of entomological risk (Rand et al. 2007, Ripoche et al. 2018) and reflect the seasonality of *I. scapularis*. Humans could encounter nymphal and adult ticks carried into the region as larvae and nymphs by migratory birds and these encounters would not reflect an established tick population (Ogden et al. 2006b, Ripoche et al. 2018). But in these areas, tick submissions would be low as would Lyme incidence.

Among 1,903 I. scapularis identified by the submissions program, 81%, 2%, and 15% of hosts were found on humans, dogs, and cats, respectively (Chapter 1). We excluded the 3% of submissions where ticks were unknown or found on livestock and wildlife species (Rand et al. 2007) since livestock and wild animals did not necessarily have statewide representation and wildlife do not represent peridomestic risk. We summarized the number of nymphal I. scapularis by town and year. To index annual abundance of questing *I. scapularis* nymphs, we obtained annual census data by town (minor civil division) for the State of Maine from the U.S. Census Bureau (U.S. Census Bureau 2018), then divided the number of ticks submitted per town by year by (population x 100,000) to arrive at ticks submitted per 100,000, i.e., the tick submissions rate. This was analogous to conversion of disease case counts to disease rate or incidence (cases/100,000), which allows for comparisons across time and areal units. We did adjust for the "small numbers problem" wherein small changes in case numbers in a geographic unit with a small population can cause wild swings in incidence and cause high disease rates to appear to cluster in areas with small populations (Pringle 1996, Roquette et al. 2018). For this reason, we calculated "tick rates" only where town populations were at least 50, following the lead of the Maine CDC which considers cases in towns with populations under 50 "nonreportable" (MECDC 2018a).

Table 2.1. Variables used in n aggregated from their original	odels of nymphal <i>I. scapulari</i> s submissions rate as a function of predictors in Maine, 1990-2 granularity to the level of wildlife management district and year.	2012. As needed, response and explanatory	variables were
Type Abbreviation	Definition	Original Granularity	Source
Experimental unit			
DIMW	wildlife management district; 30 total, 28 with a human population	MMD	Maine GeoLibrary ^a
Response: tick abundance ind	lex		
nyrate	nymphal submissions rate: ticks submitted/(human population x 100,000)	town/date tick found	MMCRI VBDL ^b
Predictor			
year	year	n/a	
deerlag2	deer/mi2, 2-year lag	WMD by year (1992-2012)	MEIFW ^c
ddlag1	degree days >6 $^\circ \! \mathbb C$ accumulated by the end of August (Jan 1 - Aug 31)	raster, 4km resolution/monthly	PRISM ^d
DJF_t2min	winter (December-January-February) average minimum temperature	raster, 4km resolution/monthly	PRISM ^d
MAM_t2min	spring (March-April-May) average minimum temperature	raster, 4km resolution/monthly	PRISM ^d
JJA_t2max	summer (June-July-August) average maximum temperature	raster, 4km resolution/monthly	PRISM ^d
SON_t2min	fall (September-October-November) average minimum temperature, 1-year lag	raster, 4km resolution/monthly	PRISM ^d
JJA_prcp	summer (June-July-August) average total precipitation	raster, 4km resolution/monthly	PRISM ^d
JJA_RH	summer (June-July-August) average relative humidity	raster, 4km resolution/monthly	PRISM ^d
	summer (June-July-August) vapor pressure deficit	raster, 4km resolution/monthly	PRISM ^d
	summer (June-July-August) average Palmer drought severity index	raster, 4km resolution/monthly	PRISM ^d
pctDEVEL	percent of land cover as open, low, and medium density development	raster, 30km resolution/2011	NLCD ^e
pctDecMix	percent of land cover as both deciduous and mixed forest	raster, 30km resolution/2011	NLCD ^e
INVASIVE	Total sightings per hectare of tick-associated invasive plants (JB, AB JH)	point counts/through 2017	MNAP ^f
^a Maine GeoLibrary, https://ww	w.maine.gov/geolib		
^b Maine Medical Center Resea	ch Institute, Vector-borne Disease Laboratory, http://mmcri.org/ns/		
^c Maine Department of Inland	isheries and Wildlife, https://www.maine.gov/ifw/		
^d Oregon State University's Pa	ameter elevation Regression on Independent Slopes Model (PRISM 2004), http://prism.ore,	gonstate.edu/	
^e National Land Cover Databa	se (NLCD), MultiResolution Land Characteristics Consortium (MRLC), http://www.mrlc.gov)		
Maine Natural Amor Dracram	/ ID- Iononoco horhom / AD-Aciatio hittomucot / IU- Iononoco honoucho)		

^eNational Land Cover Database (NLCD), MultiResolution Land Characteristics Consortium (MRLC), http://www.mrlc.gov) ¹Maine Natural Areas Program, (JB=Japanese barberry, AB=Asiatic bittersweet, JH=Japanese honeysuckle)

Using ArcGIS[®] (ESRI 2018), we joined the year-by-town dataset (now with tick submission rate), with the Maine town-level shapefile. We then used the zonal statistics tool in conjunction with the WMD shapefile to summarize tick submission rate to the year-by-WMD level (Table 2.1). The choice of spatial data aggregation level was nontrivial as different aggregation levels can lead to different results; this is the Modifiable Areal Unit Problem or MAUP (e.g., Openshaw 1984, Dark and Bram 2007, Roquette et al. 2018). One reason to aggregate to the WMD level was that we could have more confidence in the tick submission rate at the WMD level than at the town level. A second reason is that the WMD is the basic management unit for big game species including white-tailed deer.

2.3.2.3 Deer Density

During the hunting season (the regular firearms season is generally in November), the Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife (MEIFW) Maine tracks hunter-killed deer at deer registration stations around the state, capturing information including sex, age, and town of kill. MEIFW uses deer registrations to calculate a buck kill index (BKI), which is the number of hunter-killed deer per 100 square miles.

Through 2005, MEIFW used a variation of a "sex-age-kill" model, called "HARPOP", to arrive at estimates of deer/mi² for each WMD. HARPOP required a number of inputs including BKI and an index to hunting pressure, called hunter-days of effort/mi². HARPOP density estimates corresponded well with those based on pellet group surveys conducted in the 1980's as ground-truthing (MEIFW 2007). Discontinuation of hunter surveys meant loss of hunter effort data and use of HARPOP ended after 2005. However, to express deer density estimates in public forums on deer management goals, MEIFW regressed HARPOP deer/mi² on BKI for each

WMD using the years 1987-2005 (*n* = 18 years). The best-fitting of several candidate regression models (linear, exponential, or power) was selected for each WMD and used to predict deer/mi² for years after 2005 (mean R^2 = 0.81, range 0.52 to 0.96, Appendix A). From MEIFW we obtained annual BKI and the equations for each WMD, then estimated annual deer/mi² for each WMD, 1990-2013 (Table 2.1). At the end of 2005, a handful of WMDs' boundaries were shifted with the notable change being WMD 29. The former WMD 29 included areas with both higher (WMD 25) and lower (Downeast) deer densities but the new WMD 29 included the offshore islands with historically much higher deer densities: Monhegan Island Plantation, ~114/mi² in 1996 (Rand et al. 2004b), Islesboro, ~48 to 62/mi² in 2011 and 2012 (Town of Islesboro Deer Reduction Committee 2018). We used the equation for WMD 29, which we thought preferable to losing an experimental unit.

2.3.2.4 Climatology

Oregon State University's Parameter elevation Regression on Independent Slopes Model (PRISM 2004) is the U.S. Department of Agriculture's climatological dataset. PRISM uses weather station point measurements with a weighted regression scheme to account for climate regimes associated with orography, rain shadows, temperature inversions, slope aspect, coastal proximity, and other factors (NCAR 2015). Monthly and daily reanalysis data are available at 2.5 arcmin (4 km) resolution for 1895 through present in NetCDF format. We downloaded monthly gridded NetCDF files for the continuous United States (CONUS) which included minimum, maximum, average, and dewpoint temperature at 2m in degrees Celsius (t2min, t2max, t2ave, t2dpt), and total precipitation in cm (prcp). Using the National Center for Atmospheric Research

Command Language (NCL 2017), and the WMD shapefile, we masked the CONUS data to Maine only, then aggregated the monthly gridded data to the WMD level for 1989-2013.

We calculated the number of degree-days >6°C attained by the end of August for each year-WMD using the formula (t2ave - 6°C) × 30.5 with the monthly PRISM data (Table 2.1). Using t2ave, we calculated average monthly vapor pressure (VP) and saturated vapor pressure (SVP) in Pascals, and from this, average monthly relative humidity (RH) and vapor pressure deficit (VPD), by WMD. The formulas were: VP = $6.112 \times \exp [17.62 \times t2dpt/(243.12 + t2dpt)]$, SVP= $6.112 \times \exp [17.62 \times t2ave/(243.12 + t2ave)]$, and RH=SVP/VP × 100, and VPD=1 SVP-VP (WMO 2008, p. I.4–29). For each year and WMD, we summarized monthly climatology to obtain average seasonal climatology pertaining to minimum and maximum temperature and degree-day accumulation by the end of August, and precipitation, relative humidity, and vapor pressure deficit (Table 2.1). Climatological time trends were difficult to interpret in map multiples so we presented them as time series.

2.3.2.5 Suburban and Forest Land Cover

National Land Cover Database (NLCD) contains classes of land cover associated with development, which we aggregated to represent suburban land cover. The NLCD is the primary source of land cover data in the United States (Wickham et al. 2010, MRLC 2018) and is a thematic land cover map for the United States based on Landsat images for the years (2001, 2006, 2011), with 20 classes of land cover with a spatial resolution of 30m (the 2011 NLCD includes changes in land cover classes from 2001 and 2006). We used the Evaluation, Visualization, and Analysis (EVA) Tool on the MRLC website (MRLC 2018) to select and download the 2011 land cover raster for Maine. Using the zonal statistics tool in ArcGIS and the WMD shapefile to define zones, we summarized percent coverage by cover type for each WMD. We aggregated across the classes "Developed, Open Space", "Developed, Low Intensity", and "Developed, Medium Intensity", to create a single new class of open, low, and medium density suburban development. We repeated this for percent forest cover type (deciduous, mixed, evergreen) and added the deciduous and mixed types to create percent deciduous/mixed forest cover (Table 2.1).

2.3.2.6 Tick-associated Invasive Plant Presence

The Maine Natural Areas Program (MNAP), Maine Department of Agriculture, Conservation and Forestry, coordinates a mapping system called iMapInvasives (www.imapinvasives.org). iMapInvasives is an online, GIS-based, mapping and data management tool for invasive species monitoring and management. Data are received from partners through quality-controlled, online submissions and iMapInvasives provides confirmed data points with high confidence in species identification and positional accuracy (Nancy Olmstead, personal communication 2017). Through a Data Use Agreement with the Maine Natural Areas Program, Maine Department of Agriculture, Conservation and Forestry, we downloaded iMapInvasives shapefiles (NAD83 Datum: NAD83 UTM Zone 19N) with spatial point locations of Japanese barberry, Japanese honeysuckle, and oriental bittersweet.

Using ArcGIS, we joined shapefile attribute tables for each of the three species (Japanese barberry, Japanese honeysuckle, and oriental bittersweet), with the town shapefile, and scored the occurrence of any of one of these three species as "tick-associated invasive plant species present". Using ArcGIS and the WMD shapefile to define zones, we summarized presence counts for each WMD and divided by total hectares of the WMD (Table 2.1).

2.3.3 Statistical Methods

2.3.3.1 Summary Statistics and Visualizations

To characterize and visualize the variables used in the Maine model, we tabulated summary statistics for the northern and southern tiers of the state (Fig. 2.2) and produced maps (*I. scapula*ris, deer, landscape) and time series (climatology).

2.3.3.2 Nymphal I. scapularis Model

Generalized additive models (GAMs) extend generalized linear models (GLMs) by using smooth functions to define nonlinear relationships between the response and explanatory variables, and by combining predictor variables additively (Wood 2017). A generalized additive mixed model (GAMM) has the form

$$g(\mu_i) = X_i \theta + f_1(x_{1i}) + f_2(x_{2i}) + f_p(x_{pi}) + \dots Z_i b + \varepsilon_i$$

where g is a link function that links the expected value to the predictor variables, $\mu_i \equiv E(Y_i)$, the expected value of Y_i , and $Y_i \sim$ is a response from the exponential family distribution, i=1,...,n are n observations; for the parametric part, if any, X_i is a row of the parametric effects model matrix and θ is the corresponding parameter vector (usually with an intercept, β_0); for the smooth components of the model, f_i are smooth functions of the covariates, $x_1,...,x_p$ (Wood 2001, Wood 2017). For the random part of the model, Z_i is a row of a random effects model matrix; b $\sim N(0, \Psi)$ is a vector of random effects coefficients with unknown positive definite covariance matrix Ψ (Wood 2006) and $\varepsilon \sim N(0, \Lambda)$ is a residual error vector, with ith element ε_i and covariance matrix Λ , which is usually assumed to have some simple pattern (Wood 2006). A generalized additive model (GAM) is a special case of GAMM (Wood 2006) without the

random part, Z_ib, with ϵ_i i.i.d. N(0, σ^2) random variables. Further details on GAMs can be found in Appendix B.

We implemented s generalized additive mixed models (GAMM) using the mgcv gam package R Core Team (2018). We used the square root transform on nymphal submission rate to reduce leverage of a large outlier (very high tick submission rate in WMD 29) and stabilize the mean-variance relationship (Wood 2017). Using the 2-year lag of deer density meant that the years 1990 and 1991 were not part of the model, and we eliminated 2013 as submissions could have been biased by announcement of the end of the tick identification program that year. Thus n = 614 (28 WMDs x 22 years, 1992-2013).

The Tweedie distribution (Candy 2004; Dunn and Smyth 2008) is a family of distributions that incorporates the normal, Poisson, and gamma distributions. The mean(μ)-variance (V) relationship is given by V(μ) = μ^p for some p, the index parameter, where p = 0, p = 1, and p = 2 are normal, Poisson, and gamma distributions, respectively (Arcuti et al. 2013). A Tweedie model can be thought of as having mixed distributions with a positive mass at zero and nonnegative real numbers, i.e., zero-inflated data with 1 abundance (submission rate), included many zeros. Using the R function tweedie.profile (Dunn 2013) we determined 1 link by default, which ensures predicted values are positive (Wood 2017). When using the Tweedie distribution, the method for smooth parameter estimation in mgcv gam defaults to restricted maximum likelihood (REML) rather than generalized cross validation criteria (CGV).

The starting main effects nymphal model was:

$$\begin{aligned} Y_{j} &= f_{1}(\text{year}_{tj}) + f_{2}(\text{deer}_{\text{lag2}_{tj}}) + f_{3}(\text{DD}_{\text{lag1}_{tj}}) + f_{4}(\text{SON}_{\text{t2}}\text{min}_{\text{lag1}_{tj}}) + f_{5}(\text{DJF}_{\text{t2}}\text{min}_{tj}) + \\ f_{6}(\text{MAM}_{\text{t2}}\text{min}_{tj}) + f_{7}(\text{JJA}_{\text{RH}_{tj}}) + f_{8}(\text{JJA}_{\text{VPD}_{tj}}) + f_{9}(\text{JJA}_{\text{prcp}_{tj}}) + f_{10}(\text{pctDEVEL}_{tj}) + \\ f_{11}(\text{pctDECID}_{\text{MIXED}_{tj}}) + f_{12}(\text{INVASIVE}_{tj}) + \epsilon_{tj} \end{aligned}$$

with *t* indexing years and *j* indexing WMDs.

Concurvity is the GAM analogue of collinearity in a GLM setting and occurs when a smooth term in a model could be approximated by one or more other smooth terms in the model (including smoothers in the random part of the model). Concurvity smooth main effects and a random spatial effect is likely to occur when all effects are at the same scale (Hodges and Reich 2010, Paciorek 2010, Hughes and Haran 2013, Hughes 2014, Hanks et al. 2015).

In an iterative process, we checked for concurvity among candidate explanatory variables, then tested each variable for significance as a main effect, either smooth or linear. If a main effect was concurve with one or more others, we substituted until we found the best predictor. Significance of smooth terms is based on Wald tests of smoothing parameter, $\beta k = 0$. i.e., not different from a simple linear relationship. Wald test P-values for smooth terms provide only rough guidance (Wood 2017) and should be used in combination with other fit guidance, e.g., smooth plots and residuals analysis. If a variable was not significant as a smooth main effect, we tested it for significance as a linear main effect. The chosen linear and smooth main effects were predictor variables that were not concurve with any other predictor and provided the best fit. We did not find guidance that described a concurvity score that should trigger concern, and concurvity can be tolerated in some models (Wood 2008). However, in our models it was clear that concurvity scores of ~≥0.30 in the spatial dimension destabilized the

smooth terms as seen through changes in the smoothing parameters, wider confidence intervals and counter-intuitive smooths (e.g., ticks negatively related to temperature) (Mur 2008). We note that concurvity scores among the explanatory variables were the same regardless of correlation structure. We tested model fit given four candidate correlation structures (R code is in Appendix B):

<u>1. Temporal "factor smooth" random effect.</u> This random effect was a year × spatial unit interaction (i.e., a tensor product) that imposed a temporal correlation structure arising from repeated measurements on the spatial units (WMDs) but did not impose a spatial correlation structure. To specify this, the term f_2 (year t_i , WMD t_i) was added to the main effects equations above. In the GAMM context the smooths of WMD over time are allowed to have smooths that vary from the overall main (global) effect of year.

<u>2. Spatial Markov random field random effect.</u> This random effect imposed a global Markov random field (mrf) smooth allowing a single spatial correlation structure among the neighboring areal units across years. The term $f_1(WMD_j)$ using a queen neighbor structure for the WMDs (Wood 2017) was added to the main effects equations above.

<u>3. Additive temporal-spatial random effect.</u> This random effect imposed, additively, the correlation structures of both the temporal factor smooth and global spatial Markov random field smooth. The term $f_2(WMD_{tj}, year_{tj}) + f_3(WMD_j)$ was added to the main effects equations above.

<u>4. Interacting temporal-spatial random effect.</u> This model differed from Model 3 in that the correlation structure allowed the mrf spatial smoothing among the neighboring areal units (WMDs) for each year of the form. The term $f(WMD_{tj}, year_{tj})$ was added to the main effects

equations above and $f_1(\text{year}_{ij})$ was omitted. This was because in the R mccv package, the "te" function that specifies this random effect includes the main effects, so a main time effect would not be separately specified, as would be main effects in an ANOVA (Wood 2017).

We checked for concurvity among the candidate explanatory variables and four candidate random effects. Our primary interest was ecological mechanisms explaining the observed increases in *I. scapularis* over time and space versus pure prediction. Thus, we selected ecological predictors over purely temporal and/or spatial covariance structures that predicted as well or even better than the biological factors.

We assessed the appropriateness of model terms based on measures of fit: residuals plots striving for $\varepsilon_{tj} \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$, i.e., normal residuals without remaining correlations or patterns, Aikake information criterion (AIC), dispersion, deviance explained, adjusted R², and the autocorrelation statistic (acf). The adjusted R² is approximately square of the correlation between the observed and fitted values, with an adjustment for degrees of freedom. Through this iterative process, we arrived at a final, parsimonious model, selected on the basis of model fit and explanatory value. For reference, we also ran an intercept-only model.

We wanted to assess the proportion of deviance explained by each explanatory variable in the final multivariate model. For each variable, we ran a reduced model missing the variable of interest (enforcing the same smoothing parameters as the full model), then subtracted the percent deviance explained by the reduced model from the percent deviance explained by the final model. Unfortunately, in a multivariate model where covariates are not strictly orthogonal, proportion of deviance explained by individual covariates does not add up to proportion of deviance explained by the full model. Therefore, we divided the proportion of deviance

explained by each variable by the sum of percent deviance explained from the reduced models. This approximated the relative contribution of each variable to the proportion of explained deviance. We multiplied this by percent deviance explained in the full final model to approximate proportion of total deviance explained.

2.3.3.3 Validation and Prediction

We set the nymph submission rate to missing for 2012, and used the gam.predict function in conjunction with the final model to output predicted nymph submission rate. We examined the spearman correlation coefficient, Rho (ρ_s) between actual and predicted values for the nymph submission rate and considered correlations strong where $\rho_s \ge 0.7$ (Cohen 1988).

We wanted to predict the joint effect of anticipated climate warming and deer herd management on nymph submission rate. We selected an intermediate climate warming scenario of 1.0°C based on the two warming scenarios (moderate 0.5°C, abrupt 1.7°C) of Birkel and Mayewski (2018). To do this, we established a contemporary baseline ("current" situation), and a scenario with warmer climate, and a scenario with warmer climate and more deer. We established a five-year baseline for all variables (Table 2.1) by averaging across 2008-2012, calling this our "current" situation for the 28 WMDs. We selected a five-year average to represent the current situation because a five-year average for climatology smooths over extremes and is preferable to a shorter span for a baseline (Birkel S., University of Maine Climate Change Institute personal communication 2015). Assuming continued faster winter warming in the northern tier relative to the southern tier (Fig. 2.2), we then added 1.0°C to the "current" seasonal climatology for winter minimum temperature to each WMD for the northern tier and 0.5°C to the southern tier. We also added 100 to the number of degree-days

accumulated by the end of August to all northern tier WMDs and 50 to southern tier WMDs. We then tested the effect of warming, plus increases in northern tier deer density to hypotheticals of 10/mi² and 15/mi². We left deer densities in the southern tier at the contemporary values and set year to arbitrarily to 2018 since we were not predicting a specific year at which the warming would occur. This was to mimic MEIFWs deer density targets in both tiers. We kept values of other predictors in the model constant.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Summary Statistics and Visualizations

The south-to-north spatial gradient was strong for nearly all variables, with higher nymph submission rates, white-tailed deer densities, warmer climate, along with the timeinvariant landscape variables residential development and tick-associated invasive plant sightings characteristic of the southern tier of the state (Table 2.2, Figs. 2.3, 2.4, 2.5). Percent land cover in deciduous and mixed forest cover type varied, but not along a latitudinal gradient (Fig. 2.5b). Consistently higher deer densities can be seen the central WMDs and especially WMD 29, which encompassed the unbridged, off-shore islands, but in the temporal dimension the years 1996 to 2002 marked the period of highest deer densities in the southern tier (Fig. 2.4). Temporal uptrends can be seen for winter, spring, and fall, and degree-day accumulation, particularly in the northern tier (Fig. 2.6a,b,d,e), which appeared to be "squeezing" up towards values in the southern tier. This is consistent with the relatively faster warming in the northern tier depicted in Fig. 1.8 (Chapter 1). The slight downtrend in mean maximum summer temperature was apparent (Fig. 2.6c), which could reflect increased precipitation. Among the moisture variables, uptrends in summer precipitation and relative humidity, could be seen (Fig.

2.6f,g). As the converse of relative humidity, a slight downtrend in vapor pressure deficit could

be seen in Fig. 2.6h.

Table 2.2. Summary statistics for variables used in a model of nymphal <i>I. scapularis</i> submission rate. There were 28 Wildlife
Management Districts (WMDs) used for the summaries (17 in the northern tier, 11 in the southern tier, across 23 years (1990-
2013), thus $n = 644$). Significant differences for northern vs.southern tier means are denoted as *** ($P < 0.001$), ** ($P < 0.01$), *
(P < 0.05), Wilcoxon rank-sum tests.

			Statistic				
Common name	Abbreviation	Tier	mean	SE	min	max	Р
nymphs	nyrate	Northern	0.8	1.10	0	71.9	
		Southern	14.1	13.25	0	606.8	***
√nymphs	sqrt(nyrate)	Northern	0.2	0.21	0	8.5	
		Southern	2.7	0.79	0	24.6	***
deer/mi ²	deermi2	Northern	4.1	0.74	0	18.2	
		Southern	17.3	1.64	5.4	35.9	***
degree-days/end August	ddgt6endaug	Northern	1185.3	27.44	884.5	1488.4	
		Southern	1382.6	34.15	1085.8	1689.7	***
average winter min temp	DJF_t2min	Northern	-14.1	0.66	-20.2	-6.5	
		Southern	-10.2	0.71	-16.7	-4.7	***
average spring min temp	MAM_t2min	Northern	-2.3	0.42	-6.6	2.7	
		Southern	0.3	0.42	-3.3	4.0	***
average summer max temp	JJA_t2max	Northern	23.5	0.28	20.6	26.2	
		Southern	24.6	0.41	19.8	27.6	***
average fall min temp	SON_t2min	Northern	1.8	0.32	-1.2	5.7	
		Southern	3.9	0.36	1	7.4	***
average summer total precip	JJA_prcp	Northern	10.6	0.71	5.1	20.6	
		Southern	9.7	0.93	4.1	18.6	**
average summer relative humidity	JJA_RH	Northern	65.5	0.68	57.4	75.1	
		Southern	66.5	1.02	59.9	77.2	***
average summer vapor pressure deficit	JJA_VPD	Northern	449.3	8.14	353.8	530.6	
		Southern	485.9	13.34	336.0	575.5	***
% residential development	pctDEVEL	Northern	1.7	0.28	0.1	3.6	
		Southern	8.9	1.91	0.3	26.9	***
% decid or mixed forest	pctDecMix	Northern	45.9	2.67	12.0	64.0	
		Southern	40.1	4.29	0.5	54.3	
invasive plant sightings/ha	INVASIVE	Northern	14.9	10.87	0	180.5	
		Southern	301.9	68.70	0	758.1	***



Figure 2.3. Nymphal submission rate for 28 wildlife management districts (WMDs) in Maine, 1990-2013. Two WMDs had no human population.










Figure 2.6. Annual average seasonal climatologies in Maine's northern and southern tiers, 1990-2013. Plots are (a) winter minimum temperature, (b) spring minimum temperature, (c) summer maximum temperature, (d) fall minimum temperature, (e) degree-day accumulation by the end of August, (f) summer precipitation, (g) summer relative humidity, and (h) summer vapor pressure deficit.

2.4.2 Nymphal I. scapularis Model

Nymphal *I. scapularis* submission rate was best predicted by summer relative humidity and nonlinear smooths of deer density at a 2-year lag, degree-day accumulation >6°C by the end of August at a one 1-year lag, and average winter minimum temperature (Table 2.3). In addition, the model contained a temporal correlation structure arising from repeated measurements (Table 2.3). In a manner analogous to generalized linear modeling, where main effects are conditional on the higher-order interaction, we left the lower order effect (year) in the model as a smooth main effect. Deviance explained = 74% and R^2 = 0.72 (Table 2.3). Variables not included were concurve with and less predictive than variables remaining in the model including the three candidate random spatial autocorrelation structures (Table 2.4). *I. scapularis* were associated percent residential development and invasive plant sightings per hectare, but were concurve with deer and thus not included.

The selected model maximized ecological explanatory value. Although it performed third best in terms of AIC and second best in terms of deviance explained (Table 2.3), it did not suffer concurvity issues as did the models with spatial random effect structures (Table 2.4). Approximate proportion of total deviance explained by each variable was deer 30%, degree-day accumulation 2%, average winter minimum temperature 9%, summer relative humidity contributing 14% (thus 25% explained by climatology), and time–accounting for varying time trends in wildlife management districts–19%.

Table 2.3. Generalized additi and/or spatial effects, Maine, 28 Maine wildlife managemer	ive mixed moc , 1992-2013. At districts and	lels (GAMs) of nym; Using the two-year 122 vears) Signific	phal <i>I. scapularis</i> sub lag of deer density re ance of terms is deno	mission rate as a fun emoved 1990 and 19 oted by ***P < 0 001	ction of explanatory varia 91 from the model (expe **P < 0.01 *P < 0.05	ables and random time rimental unit <i>n</i> = 616 given
			Random effect (varia	nce component) type		
	intercept	no random			Additive temporal,	Interacting temporal,
Model component	only	effects	Temporal only ^a	Spatial only ^b	spatial ^c	spatial ^d
Parametric terms: coefficient	(SE)	-10 42 (1 22)***	-11 67 /1 18)***	-7 11 11 EU ***	8 30 /1 36)***	0 16 /1 28/***
JJA RH		0.14 (0.02)***	0.16 (0.02)***	0.09 (0.02)***	0.11 (0.02)***	0.12 (0.02)***
1						
Smooth terms: estimated df (i	reference df) ^e					
s(deerlag2)		3.79***	3.76***	1.00	3.65***	3.71***
s(ddlag1)		1.00*	1.28**	1.00**	1.00***	1.14*
s(DJF_t2min)		2.34***	1.77***	1.98*	1.43**	1.00***
s(year)		1.00	1.00	2.33*	1.45*	
ti(year, id)			32.43***		30.17***	
s(id)				20.97***	13.94***	
te(year,id)						10.73***
Fit Measures						
AIC	1944.0	1458.86	1433.32	1434.24	1409.16	1420.07
Deviance	1869.0	581.62	442.06	482.35	379.26	491.23
Deviance explained	0	0.67	0.75	0.72	0.78	0.72
Dispersion	3.1	1.38	1.18	1.22	1.05	1.22
\mathbb{R}^2	0	0.59	0.69	0.67	0.78	0.67
acf	0.75	0.28	0.12	0.21	0.03	0.17
Num. obs.	616	616	616	616	616	616
Num. smooth terms	0	4	5	5	6	4
^a temporal autocorrelation aris	sing from repe-	ated measures on ¿	areal units ("factor" sı	nooth); no spatial str	ucture	
^b global (time-invariant) Marko	v random field	l "mrf" smooth for s	patial autocorrelation	among spatial units		
^c temporal autocorrelation aris	sing from repe-	ated measures on ¿	areal units plus a glot	oal mrf smooth		
^d temporal autocorrelation aris	sing from repe	ated measures on a	areal units with spatic	al autocorrelation (mrf) allowed to vary by year	
a giobal mil smooth (same	e ior all vvivilus	across years)				

^eEstimated df (EDF) are the estimated number of parameters representing the smooth; approximate significance tests for the smooths are Wald tests of EDF = 0 (i.e., the smooth is null/a flat line)

Table 2.4. Matrix of concurvity scores from generalized additive mixed models (GAMMs) of nymphal *I. scapularis* submissions rate as smooth functions of explanatory variables and random time and/or spatial effects, Maine, 1992-2013. Experimental unit *n* = 616 given 28 wildlife management districts and 22 years. Concurvity scores among explanatory variables were the same regardless of random effect structure.

(SAVISAVNI)a		00.0	1.00	0.00 1.00	0.43
s(pctDecMix)	1 00 8 3 8	0.00	1.00	0.00 1.00	0.35
s(pctDEVEL)	0.86 0.86	0.00	1.00	0.00 1.00	0.38
(UAV_ALL)s	1.00 0.25 33	0.12	0.44	0.12 0.44	0.24
(HA_ALL)a	0.23 0.33 0.24 25	0.28	0.29	0.28 0.29	0.34
(dɔrd_ALL)s	0.21 0.05 0.05 0.05	0.28	0.12	0.27 0.12	0.37
(nimSt_ALD)a	0.24 0.24 0.26 0.26	0.11	0.54	0.11 0.54	0.57
(nimSt_MAM)a	0.15 0.58 0.13 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15	0.17	0.50	0.17 0.50	09.0
(xsmSt_ALL)a	1.00 0.10 0.16 0.26 0.26 0.27 0.27 0.33	0.07	0.50	0.06 0.50	0.19 cture
(†gelbb)s	0.29 0.29 0.26 0.03 0.03 0.20 0.41 0.41 0.41 0.41 0.41 0.41	0.05	0.56	0.05 0.56	0.36 ial stru
s(Sgehəəb)s	0.11 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.05 0.14 0.14 0.14 0.14 0.14 0.14 0.14 0.14	0.21	0.71	0.21 0.71	0.50 To spat
s(year)	1.00 0.03 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.00 0.00 0.00	96.0	00.0	0.04 0.00	ooth); i
Model term	para s(year) s(deerlag2) s(JJA_t2max) s(JJA_t2max) s(JJA_t2min) s(JJA_PD) s(JJA_VPD) s(JJA_VPD) s(pctDEcKix) s(IVASIVFS)	ti(year,id)	s(id)	ti(year,id) s(id)	te(year,id) areal units ("factor" sn
Model component	Explanatory variable	Temporal only ^a	Spatial only ^b	Additive temporal, spatial ^c	Interacting temporal, spatial ^d n arising from repeated measures on
Type of smooth effect	Main effect	Random effect aka correlation	structure		^a temporal autocorrelatio

^bglobal (time-invariant) Markov random field "mrf" smooth for spatial autocorrelation among spatial units

^ctemporal autocorrelation arising from repeated measures on areal units plus a global mrf smooth

^dtemporal autocorrelation arising from repeated measures on areal units with spatial autocorrelation (mrf) allowed to vary by year

Patterns in the residuals indicated reasonable fit (Wood 2017). The Q-Q (quantilequantile) plot (Fig. 2.7a) shows deviance residuals lying close to the straight line which represents deviance residuals of the theoretical distribution; this indicated the Tweedie distribution was a reasonable choice of response distribution. A handful of outliers (Fig. 2.7a, top right corner) coincided with various WMAs with higher-than-expected predictions of nymph submission rate but there was no basis to exclude them. In the residuals versus linear predictor plot (Fig. 2.7b) the smooth line of residuals in the lower left of the plot was caused by response values of zero and expected when response values contain a mixture of zeros and positive values (Wood 2017). The pattern above the smooth line suggested, apart from outliers at the top of the plot, that variance was approximately constant as the mean increased (Fig. 2.7b). The histogram of residuals (Fig. 2.7c) approached normality though a long right tail represented the outliers. The plot of response against fitted values (Fig. 2.7d) showed a positive linear relationship albeit with scatter and outliers (upper right). Compared to the intercept-only and main effects models, the low acf score and patterns in the residuals were a substantial improvement (Table 2.3, Fig. 2.8a-c). Spatial data may be over dispersed ($\sigma^2/\mu \gg 5$) but dispersion in the chosen model was well under 5 and in the neighborhood of 1 (σ^2/μ =1.18, Table 2.3) as recommended by Zar (2010). In the model validation, correlation between the actual and predicted values for nymph submission rate in arbitrarily selected 2012 was strong (Spearman $\rho = 0.72$).

Consistent with our first hypothesis, there was a positive relationship between *I. scapularis* nymphs and deer up to a threshold deer density, which we visually assessed as 13 deer/mi² (Fig. 2.9a). Using second derivatives along the smooth we confirmed with 95% confidence (Simpson 2014) that the rate of change in nymph submission rate was non-zero where \leq 13 deer/mi² and zero where >13 deer/mi². Response variables in GAMs are zero-mean centered on the y-axis and a smooth plot is read as the relationship between the response and the covariate of interest while keeping other covariates at constant at their means. In Fig. 2.9a horizontal line drawn from 0 on the yaxis intersected the curve at the point corresponding with ~6 deer/mi² on the x-axis, indicating nymph submission rate was below average where deer density was <~6/mi².

Our second and third hypotheses were that nymphal *I. scapularis* would be a nonlinear function of degree-day accumulation with a threshold in the vicinity of 1,240 degree-days >6°C, and a threshold in the vicinity of -18°C to -11°C. The nonlinear increasing functions showed no thresholds per se, but nymphal submission rate was above average where at least ~1,320 degree-days >6°C had accumulated by the end of the previous August (Fig. 2.9b), and where average winter low temperatures were above about -13°C (Fig. 2.9c).

Consistent with our fourth hypothesis, there was a positive (linear) relationship between nymphs and mean summer relative humidity (Table 2.3). The model predicted a one unit increase in average summer relative humidity would result in a 2% increase in nymph submission rate (obtained by back-transforming the coefficient; $0.16^2 = 0.02$).

Also consistent with our expectations was a global trend of increasing nymphal *I. scapularis* over the years (Fig. 2.9d). The global time trend was essentially linear and slightly increasing, though the smooths of nymphal *I. scapularis* year for individual wildlife management districts differed substantially. Generally the smooths of nymphs over time increased in the northern tier wildlife management districts and decreased in the southern tier

wildlife management districts. Therefore, while the random smooths of year helped explained temporal variation in nymphal submissions rate, the statistical relationships between nymphal *I. scapularis* and the deer and climatology predictors ran strongly in the spatial dimension.

Three-dimensional plots (Fig. 2.10a,b) of the final nymphal tick GAM illustrate the additive effects of two covariates on the response (Wood 2017). We constrained prediction surfaces not to extend beyond 10% of the data to avoid prediction where data were sparse or in covariate spaces that were unrealistic (e.g., we did not have high deer densities in the cold, northern WMDs), resulting in the plots' jagged appearance. Higher nymph submission rate was associated with warmer winters and degree-day accumulation (positive rather than flat trend line seen) but only where $\sim \geq 4$ deer/mi². The threshold at $\sim 1,320$ DD in the univariate smooth plot (Fig. 2.9c) is seen also in the 3D plot but only where $\sim \geq 5$ deer/mi² (Fig. 2.10b).

Fig. 2.11a is a map of the five-year average, current (as close to current as allowed by the data, 2008-2012) distribution of nymph submission rate. Fig. 2.11b shows the predicted effect of climate warming only. Fig. 2.11c shows the predicted effect of warming and deer management to 10/mi² in the northern tier.

In the warming scenario, predicted nymph submission rate increased 1.4-fold (2.0 to 2.7) in the northern tier and 1.3-fold (15.0 to 19.9) in the southern tier. On top of the warming scenario, increasing northern tier deer density from the current five-year average of 3.6 to 10 deer/mi² increased nymph submission rate five-fold (2.0 to 10.0) and increasing deer to and 15 deer/mi² increased submission rate eleven-fold (2.0 to 22.0). Meanwhile southern tier tick submissions rate stabilized at 20. Thus, under the scenario of warming and deer managed to 15 deer/mi² in the northern tier, nymphal abundance in the northern tier caught up with that of

the southern tier. This was consistent with the leveling-off pattern seen in southern tier *I. scapularis* in Chapter 1 (Figs.1.11b, 1.13a). However, confidence in these predictions was better for the 10/mi² scenario than the 15/mi² scenario on the basis of a narrower bivariate confidence intervals where deer density <13/mi² (Fig. 2.12).

In summary, *I. scapularis* nymph submission rate was statistically associated in the temporal dimension with year, and in the spatial dimension linearly with increasing summer humidity, and nonlinearly with deer densities up to ~13 deer/mi², increasing degree-day accumulation, and warmer winters.



Figure 2.7. Fit diagnostics for the model of nymphal *I. scapularis* submission rate. Plots are (a) a Q-Q (quantile-quantile), (b) residuals vs. linear predictor (c) histogram of residuals and (d) response against fitted values.



Figure 2.8. Autocorrelation function plots for GAM models of nymphal *I. scapularis* submission rate. Plot (a) is an intercept-only model, plot (b) a model with main effects only (no random effects), and plot (c) the final model with main effects and a temporal random effect.



Figure 2.9. Two-dimensional smooth plots allowing univariate visualization of effects of deer and climate on nymphal *I. scapularis* submission rate. In plot (a) nymphs were above average where deer >7/mi and exhibited a response to deer between 0 and ~13 deer/mi, but not above the threshold of ~13 deer/mi; in (b) nymphs were above average where annual degree-day accumulation >6°C by the end of August was over ~1,300; in (c) nymphs were above average where mean winter minimum temperature >~-13°C; and in (d) there was a global upward trend (red lines) but nymphal abundance varied by wildlife management district (southern tier with black lines, northern tier in gray lines).



Figure 2.10. Three-dimensional contour plots allowing visualization of pairwise additive effects of explanatory variables on nymphal *I. scapularis* submission rate. Plot (a) shows the joint effect of average minimum winter temperature and deer density, and plot (b) shows the joint effect of degree-day accumulation and deer density.



Figure 2.11. Current and predicted nymphal *I. scapularis* submission rate by wildlife management district, Maine. Map (a) is the current five-year average (2008-2012), (b) represents average minimum winter temperatures warmer by 1°C, and map (c) assumed winters warmer by 1°C and white-tailed deer are managed from current <5/mi to 10/mi in the northern tier districts. Two WMDs in northern Maine are blank because there is no human population to submit ticks.



Figure 2.12. Three-dimensional contour plot showing the joint effect of average minimum winter temperature and deer density on nymph submission rate. The upper and lower 80% confidence limits widen at deer densities >13/mi.

2.5 Discussion

We used a passive tick surveillance dataset to index abundance of *I. scapularis* nymphs within Maine's wildlife management districts, 1990-2013, and a generalized additive mixed model to characterize statistical relationships between nymphal *I. scapularis* submissions rate and white-tailed deer, climatological, and landscape predictors. The model covered the extent of Maine, with Maine's 29 wildlife management districts as the experimental unit.

I. scapularis nymphal abundance was a nearly linear function of deer densities when densities ranged from 0 to ~13 deer/mi² whereas above 13 deer/mi² there was no relationship

between nymphs and deer. This was consistent with the idea of a saturating relationship between *I. scapularis* and deer density (Kilpatrick et al. 2017). The findings of 13 deer/mi² threshold and below-average nymphal submission rates at <6 deer/mi² were consistent with empirical studies that suggested to lower *I. scapularis* abundance and hence Lyme disease, density of white-tailed deer should be lowered to below a threshold somewhere in the range of 8-13/mi² (Telford 1993, Telford 2002, Stafford et al. 2003, Stafford 2007, Kilpatrick et al. 2014). We emphasize that this study did not test the effect of lowering (or raising) deer density over time, but rather characterized a statistical association between nymphs and deer that was driven mainly by the south-to-north spatial gradient in deer density, in the presence of only moderate temporal changes in deer density in the southern tier (Chapter 1).

Our approach allowed us to consider the relationship between tick density and low-tomoderate deer density while accounting for effects of cold on *I. scapularis* abundance. The generalized additive model indicated that warmer winters and earlier degree-day accumulation conferred a slight increase in *I. scapularis* only where there were ~≥4-5 deer/mi² and maximum effect where deer densities ≥10 deer/mi2 (Fig. 2.10). As suggested in Chapter 1, low deer densities in the northern tier may have served as a check on gains in survival advantage conferred by climate change.

Our finding that nymph submission rate was above average where average winter low temperatures were above approximately -13°C was consistent with studies of cold hardiness, which showed increased lethality for *I. scapularis* below -18°C for nymphs (Burks et al. 1996, VanDyk et al. 1996, Brunner et al. 2012). Even though ambient temperatures are harsher than those under leaf litter and snow where *I. scapularis* would sequester during cold waves, we

think -13°C is proxy to conditions that challenge *I. scapularis* at the cold end of their climate suitability envelope. Our finding that nymph submission rate was above average where at least ~1,320 degree-days >6°C had accumulated by the end of August was quite close to the average of 1,240 days to eclosion (SD 143.3, range 1,029 - 1,532) reported by Rand et al. (2004a) and confirms the importance of degree-day accumulation for larval eclosion. In the northern tier, in only 6 of the last 28 years >1,240 degree-days have been attained by the end of August (Chapter 1), indicating climate in the northern tier was still marginal for completion of the life cycle of *I. scapularis*, at least through the duration of the study (1990-2013).

Despite temporal uptrends in minimum winter temperature, degree-day accumulation and relative humidity in Maine, temporal variation in *I. scapularis* was best modeled through smooths of individual wildlife management districts over time. Temporal increases in *I. scapularis* were seen for the most part only in the northern districts, possibly representative of biological invaders moving into suitable (or marginally suitable) but unoccupied habitat.

In the northern tier, *I. scapularis* abundance was predicted to increase 1.2-fold given 1°C warming versus 5-fold given 1°C warming, deer managed to 10/mi² from the current ~5/mi². Due to uncertainties in the model this prediction should be construed qualitatively as "higher deer densities in the northern tier will likely result in more abundant *I. scapularis* than if we were subject to climate change alone."

2.5.1 Limitations of the Study

With regard to explanatory variables that did not enter the model, we note that lack of inclusion does not infer lack of importance. For example, longer, warmer falls in Maine were correlated with extension of *I. scapularis*' questing season later into fall (Chapter 1). Spring and

fall minimum temperature did not enter the model, but warmer springs and falls co-occur with warmer, shorter winters, and greater tick abundance is associated with lengthening questing seasons (Chapter 1). Also, insignificance of forest cover type in the model reflected the fact that there is substantial forest cover in the northern tier of Maine that is deciduous or mixed. Suburbanization and presence of tick-associated invasive plants did not enter the models because they were concurve with deer, i.e., they co-occured with deer at the spatial scale used, but at the scale of the forest stand or old field the presence of tick-associated invasive plants are a key determinant of tick host abundance, tick abundance, and *B. burgdorfer*i infection prevalence (Williams and Ward 2010). We think that the scale selected for this analysis was appropriate for deer and climate, but a multi-scale model might capture more tick-associated variables. Also, model validation could be improved by testing the model against an independent passive tick surveillance dataset.

One might argue that any model of *l. scapularis* abundance is incomplete without information on the full suite of blood meal hosts, including passerine birds, as they are longdistance dispersers of ticks (Smith et al. 1996, Rand et al. 1998, Ogden et al. 2005, Ogden et al. 2006a,b, Ogden et al. 2008b, Clow et al. 2017, Leighton et al. 2012), and white-footed mice, as they are the most common rodent hosts of subadult *l. scapularis* and also highly reservoir competent for *B. burgdorferi* (e.g., Mather et al. 1989, Brunner et al. 2008). However, long-term datasets in Maine (2+ decades) are restricted to just two sites for birds (Rand et al. 1998, Elias et al. 2011) and two for small mammals (Rand et al. 1998, Elias et al. 2004, Wang et al. 2009, Ogawa et al. 2017). Still we know the white-footed mouse has a broad North American distribution (19-49°N 64-112°W, Wang et al. 2009, Bedford and Hoekstra 2015) including

Maine. The deer mouse (*P. maniculatus*) ranges farther north than but overlaps with the whitefooted mouse in Maine, and is similar in terms of *I. scapularis* burdens, and *B. burgdorferi* reservoir competence (Rand et al. 1993, Garman et al. 1994, Oliver et al. 2006, Roy-Dufresne et al. 2013). The ubiquity of Peromyscus and other rodent hosts suggests small mammal blood meals are not a limiting factor in either the intact forest or peridomestic environments. In any case, adult *I. scapularis* do not feed on small mammals or birds, again highlighting the role of deer.

We thought that not including moose in the model could be problematic, but moose densities in Maine range from 0.2-0.6/mi² in the southern tier to 1.0-1.7/mi2 in the northern tier (Wattles and DeStefano 2011), much lower than even the lowest deer densities in the northern WMDs. Also, while infestation of moose by winter ticks (*Dermacentor albipictus*) is an area of active research (e.g. Jones et al. 2018), in a literature search we could find no reports on *I. scapularis* burdens on moose in North America.

Snow is a ground insulator that may promote I. *scapularis* survival, and Huntington et al. (2004) found that the ratio of snow to rain in northern New England has been declining in the months of December and March. Linske et al. (2019) found that snow cover may promote survival of *I. scapularis* during extreme cold, but due to variation in accumulation and duration, snow cover was an inconsistent insulator compared to leaf litter. Since deciduous and mixed deciduous-coniferous forests are core forest habitat for *I. scapularis* (Eisen et al. 2016), leaf litter may have a greater long-term, latent effect on emergence of *I. scapularis* than snow. Snow was not part of the PRISM gridded monthly dataset we used, but models that take timing of snowfall and snow depth into account would be an improvement.

Ecologists are motivated to capture meaningful spatial relationships while avoiding pseudo-replication (Hurlbert 1984), yet as Hodges and Reich (2010) warned "adding spatially correlated errors can mess up the fixed effect you love". Consistent with Wood (2017), we found high concurvity between the spatial random effect (the Markov random field) and spatial explanatory variables because they were at the same scale and so dropped the spatial random effect. The R package ngspatial (Hughes 2014), alleviates spatial confounding, so that a random spatial effect will account only for spatial variation not already explained by a covariate. We would like to have tried this, but ngspatial (at the time of this writing) did not allow a Tweedie response or the spatio-temporal covariance structures that mgcv gam did. Doubtless these issues will be resolved with development and refinements to modeling packages.

Notwithstanding limitations of the study, we think that the model's alignment with known relationships from the literature impart credibility to the findings.

2.6 Conclusions

In Lyme-endemic areas it is fair to ask whether we are promoting a healthy or pathogenic landscape (Lambin et al. 2010) through our land use policies and practices. The invasion of *I. scapularis* northward in Maine is partly a consequence of climate change and we may be able to mitigate this to some degree through balanced deer herd management. The Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife northern tier goals for 2030 range from 10-15/mi² and southern tier goals from 15-20/mi² (MEIFW 2017). If the gist of this study is correct, in the northern tier of Maine there may be a unique opportunity to mitigate increases in *I. scapularis* due to climate change by keeping deer densities $\leq 10/mi^2$.

A recommendation to lower deer densities to $\leq 10/\text{mi}^2$ in the southern tier might not be reasonable given expectations for hunting opportunities, lands posted against hunting, and firearms bans in some towns, but we do suggest a goal of $\leq 15/\text{mi}^2$ for the southern tier. Even if $15/\text{mi}^2$ versus 20/mi² had no discernable effect on tick abundance and Lyme incidence, reduction of vehicle collisions, damage to landscaping, crops, and forests, and improved deer health (MEIFW 2017) would be beneficial.

The recommendation to cull deer has been met with the argument that even if deer reduction could measurably lower entomological risk, reduction to 8-13 deer/mi² is socially infeasible in most places, and logistically feasible only on islands and peninsulas (Jordan et al. 2007, Levi et al. 2015, Kugeler et al. 2016). However, as Telford (2017) has recommended, deer reduction as a tool should not be discarded wholesale because there are communities that may be in a position—culturally and geographically—to implement deer reduction. We can employ a number of other strategies to reduce ticks as well, such as mechanical reduction of tick habitat. Miller and McGill (2019) attributed moderate to severe tree regeneration debt in the southern and central, mid-Atlantic, and south regions of eastern US forests, to invasive plants and deer overabundance, and land use. Integrated tick management including deer and tick-associated invasive plant management will help prevent this future for Maine.

Other tick and tick-borne pathogen control strategies include acaricide application to tick habitat or tick hosts (e.g., Eisen and Dolan 2016, White and Gaff 2018), and host vaccination (Richer et al. 2014) and genetic modification (Eaves 2018). A human Lyme vaccine (Comstedt et al. 2017) should be available within several years, and anti-tick vaccines are in

development. Even with some or all of these strategies in place, there is still no downside to managing the deer herd to a healthy level.

CHAPTER 3.

VIEWS ON LYME DISEASE AND DEER REDUCTION FROM THE OFFSHORE, UNBRIDGED ISLANDS OF MAINE, USA

3.1 Abstract

Lyme disease is caused by the bacterial spirochete Borrelia burgdorferi, which is transmitted through the bite of an infected blacklegged tick (Ixodes scapularis). Maine, USA, is a high Lyme disease incidence state, with rising incidence of Lyme and other tick-borne illnesses associated with a history of increasing I. scapularis abundance, including range expansion to the north. Lyme incidences on the 15 off-shore, unbridged islands of Maine are above the statewide average and at least on par with those seen on other offshore islands in Massachusetts and Rhode Island. Increasing *I. scapularis* abundance and Lyme incidence have been attributed to high deer densities by some residents of these island communities. Burgeoning deer densities on some of these islands have led to various deer management histories along with a good deal of conflict on how to manage deer populations. We summarized the burden of Lyme disease, entomological risk, and deer management histories on these islands. We also polled island residents in 2016 to quantify the level of concern about the Lyme disease problem and assess the level of support for deer herd reduction on their islands. A 2016 survey of island residents indicated that other deer-related problems, namely vehicle collisions and garden and forest damage, motivated support for deer reduction as much as Lyme disease. We recommended efforts to keep deer density $\leq 15/mi^2$ and to remove invasive plant species--particular Japanese barberry—from the landscape. The benefits of these measures will extend beyond vector tick control to improved deer and forest health.

3.2 Introduction

Lyme disease is the most common tick-borne illness in the US, accounting for 69% of all tick- and mosquito-borne disease (Adams et al. 2016). Lyme disease is caused by the bacterial spirochete *Borrelia burgdorferi*, which is transmitted through the bite of an infected blacklegged tick (*Ixodes scapularis*) (Mead et al. 2015, Rosenberg et al. 2018). The first known case of Lyme disease in Maine was in 1986 (Rand et al. 2007) and the first reports of *I. scapularis* in Maine were published in the late 1980s (Anderson et al. 1987, Ginsberg and Ewing 1988). The increase in Lyme disease in Maine has been correlated in space and time with the range expansion of *I. scapularis* (Rand et al. 2007, Chapter 2: Fig. 2.1). The US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention define a high Lyme disease incidence state as average incidence of at least 10 confirmed cases per 100,000 persons for the previous three reporting years. Maine's three-year average incidence (2015-17) was 89.2 (range 74.7 – 106.6) and highest in the nation.

Maine has 15 unbridged, offshore islands with year-round communities; seven of these were coextensive with towns and had reportable Lyme case numbers across 2013-17. The seven-island, 2013-17 Lyme incidence average was 1,062 and ranged from 0 on the Cranberry Isles and Frenchboro to 3,972 on Islesboro (MECDC 2018a) compared to the statewide average of 89.2. Over the past three decades, several of Maine's offshore island communities have been interested in quantifying *I. scapularis* abundance and *B. burgdorferi* infection rates in *I. scapularis* on their islands. Beginning with Monhegan Island in 1989, representatives from various islands have invited our staff at the Maine Medical Center Research Institute's Vector-borne Disease Laboratory to collect ticks at sites around their islands.

Part of islanders' motivation for assessing entomological risk—density of infected *I. scapularis*—has been to inform their decisions about management of white-tailed deer (*Odocoileus virginianus*). On some of New England's offshore islands such as Monhegan Island in Maine, Block Island in Rhode Island, and Martha's Vineyard and Nantucket Island in Massachusetts, High Lyme incidence has been attributed to high densities of *I. scapularis* supported by hyper-abundant white-tailed deer (e.g., Rand et al. 2004b, RIDEM 2013, Greer et al. 2014). The white-tailed deer is the primary host of adult *I. scapularis* within its US range (e.g., Telford 2017), and is host to larval and nymphal *I. scapularis* as well (Watson and Anderson 1976). Following bans on white-tailed deer hunting on Maine's unbridged islands from the 1930's, several islands reinstituted a regular firearms season in the 1950's. Other islands maintained hunting bans, however, and deer numbers burgeoned in the absence of pressure from natural predators and hunting.

By the 1990s, deer densities of approximately 100 per square mile reached or exceeded island residents' tolerance for damage to vehicles, gardens, the landscape, and most recently, Lyme disease (Moore 2002). The Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife (MEIFW) reported that white-tailed deer populations on the offshore islands were much higher than the 15/mi² goal called for by MEIFW (Lavigne 1997). In setting population goals for the state's 29 wildlife management districts, the MEIFW takes into consideration public demand for deer hunting and viewing, concerns over vehicle collisions, tick-borne disease, health of the deer, and damage to landscaping, orchards, and forests (MEIFW 2017). When deer densities in southern and central Maine exceeded 20/mi² during 1999-2001, MEIFW adjusted numbers back down through issuance of any deer permits (ADPs) during the regular firearms season (MEIFW

2017). However, MEIFW is unable to apply this approach in urban and suburban settings and on many of the offshore islands, where firearms discharge bans, safety concerns, and posted land have precluded firearms hunting.

In 2000, the Maine State Legislature granted authority to MEIFW to open islands previously closed by statute to deer hunting, which provided a formal mechanism for MEIFW and municipalities to coordinate controlled hunts. Thus, in cooperation MEIFW, those offshore islands without a regular firearms season have implemented controlled hunts to reduce (cull) deer numbers. However, ongoing debate over the need for further deer reduction and/or increased hunting pressure are part of the fabric of life on these islands (Rand 2017).

At the Vector-borne Disease Laboratory part of our mission is–through entomological surveys and invited outreach–to assist communities through the process of planning for integrated tick management. Over the years we have provided island communities with annual summaries of entomological data, but these data, as well as data on Lyme incidence and deer management history, and island residents' opinions on ticks and deer, have been available only through scattered sources.

Thus, our first aim was to review Lyme incidence, entomological risk, and history of white-tailed deer management on Maine's unbridged islands, from the late 1980s to present. The first aim provided an historical context for our second aim, which was to quantify islanders' support for deer reduction, through a survey we opened in 2016.

To understand bases of support for deer herd reduction, we asked islanders if they agreed, disagreed, or were neutral on whether Lyme disease was problematic on their islands. We then related the level of agreement to self-reported burden of tick bites and tick-borne

disease, i.e., "burden of bite/TBD". We graded burden of bite/TBD from high to low as self/extended family had acquired TBD, self only bitten (no TBD), and self never bitten. We also related degree of personal protection behaviors to burden of bite/TBD, to see if the degree to which Lyme was considered problematic and degree of health behaviors aligned. Then, we assessed the level of support for deer herd reduction in relation to problems associated with deer overabundance, including risk of Lyme disease. Our hypotheses were:

- Odds that respondents will agree Lyme disease is a problem on their island will depend on the burden of tick bite/TBD, that is, be highest for those burdened by tick-borne disease (self/extended family), vs. intermediate for those only bitten (and never contracting TBD) vs. lowest for those never bitten.
- Odds that respondents will use a given personal protection behavior will depend on the burden of tick bite/TBD, that is, be highest for those burdened by tick-borne disease (self/extended family), vs. intermediate for those only bitten (and never contracting TBD) vs. lowest for those never bitten.
- 3. Odds that respondents will agree that deer should be reduced on their island will be higher for those who attribute increased risk of Lyme disease to deer overpopulation on their island vs. those who have no problems with deer, and for those who experience additional problems with deer (increased risk of vehicle collisions, damage to yard, damage to forest) on their island vs. those who have no problems with deer.

We expected that the main variables of interest might interact with respondents' demographics. For example, gender and age could modify personal protection behaviors, as seen in a Nantucket Island study where females and older people were more likely to take measures to prevent tick bites than men and younger people (Phillips et al. 2001). Also, support for deer reduction year-round versus seasonal residency and hunting tradition could modify support for deer herd reduction. For example, a year-round resident who hunts annually might view deer herd reduction as detrimental to her chances of obtaining venison for the freezer.

Following the central question on support for deer herd reduction we asked islanders for their views on methods of deer reduction, who should be responsible for tick control, and a question about pesticide application. To inform our outreach, we asked islanders if they felt they needed more information about tick control, about their trust in information about tick control from scientists and government, and what factors they thought were contributing to an increase in ticks in Maine. This last question was of interest because in the years leading up to and including 2016 there was substantial media coverage of white-footed mice and climate change as drivers of TBD, but little to no attention on the association between certain invasive plant species and tick abundance and *B. burgdorferi* infection prevalence. This led to our last hypothesis:

4. Given four choices of factors causing the tick problem in Maine (deer, rodents, climate change, invasive plants), significantly more respondents would omit than include invasive plants as a cause.

The historical summary and survey may help each island community see how it fits into an overall island narrative of tick control and deer herd management, and to draw the attention of a broader audience to Maine's offshore island communities as they grapple with these challenges.

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Study Area

Maine, the most northeastern of the United States, encompasses 86,542 km² and 4.5° latitude (42.97-47.46°N, 66.95-71.08°W), and has 924 minor civil divisions (towns), 512 of which are populated. The majority of its human population of 1.3 million resides in its southern half, generally within an 80-km-wide coastal plain with elevations <150 m (Rand et al. 2007). *I. scapularis* range from established on the coast to emerging in the north.

The 15 unbridged, offshore Maine islands with year-round communities are depicted in Figure 3.1. These islands are accessible by boat (or aircraft) only and contain municipal centers focused around the town landing piers, as well as scattered rural distribution of homes. Successional upland meadows, and mowed fields (Rand et al. 1998) were scattered across generally forested landscapes. These forests were maritime spruce-fir (Picea and Abies spp.) forests and mixed, generally second-growth forests of red oak (*Quercus rubra*), red maple, (*Acer rubrum*), yellow birch (*Betula lutea*) and white pine, (*Pinus strobus*). The islands were variously infested with invasive honeysuckle (*Lonicera canadensis*), Japanese barberry (*Berberis thumbergii*), and oriental bittersweet (*Celastrus orbiculatus*). White-tailed deer densities have ranged from 0 to 114/mi² (Rand et al. 2004b). Coastal climate in summer is cooler and more humid, but warmer with less snow in winter than Maine's inland.



Figure 3.1. Maine's unbridged, offshore islands with year-round residents fall within Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife administrative Regions A-C.

MEIFW regional deer biologists oversee deer herd management in eight administrative wildlife management regions (MEIFW 2007). Region A includes the Casco Bay islands of Chebeague Island (formerly part of the Town of Cumberland), Long Island (formerly part of the City of Portland) and Cliff Island, Great Diamond Island, and Peaks Island (City of Portland); Region B includes Islesboro, North Haven, Matinicus Isle Plantation, Monhegan Island Plantation, and Vinalhaven; Region C includes the Cranberry Isles, Frenchboro, Swans Island, and Isle-au-Haut (Fig. 3.1). Of the 15 unbridged Matinicus Isle Plantation, 23 miles offshore, never had deer; whereas Monhegan Island Plantation, 11 miles offshore, removed its white-tailed deer during the years 1997-1999 (Rand et al. 2004b). Many island towns include numerous smaller islands (Fig. 3.1), but data on Lyme incidence, ticks, and deer apply to the main island, where is found the municipal pier, the concentration of municipal buildings, and most of the human population. Within the town of Cranberry Isles there are two main islands, Great Cranberry and Islesford, where data refer to both islands collectively.

3.3.2 Datasets

3.3.2.1 Lyme Disease Incidence

We obtained cumulative Lyme disease case counts, cumulative population, and fiveyear incidence for the period 2013-17 from the Maine Center for Disease Control's Maine Tracking Network (MECDC 2018a). Seven of Maine's 15 unbridged, offshore islands were coextensive with towns and had reportable Lyme case numbers across 2013-17. Where cumulative population ≤2,000 and cases were between 1 and 5, MECDC reported "<6", so we assumed one cases and calculated a minimum incidence as 1/cases x 100,000. Cases are attributed to patients' home town and state. Thus, cases for island towns will not include cases

acquired by summer residents. Island health centers keeping track of cases independently of the Maine CDC may or may not keep records for summer residents, but these data are generally not easily obtainable and may not meet CDC case definitions. Thus for standardization, we report only the cases reported by Maine CDC.

3.3.2.2 Questing Adult I. scapularis Abundance and B. burgdorferi Infection Prevalence

We collected ticks from transects averaging ~100m long at established (long-term) sites on the islands. These sites included hiking trails through forests, playing fields, the edges of school grounds, and private properties. We used 1m² flags consisting of light-colored corduroy attached to a 150cm pole, dragged over leaf litter and brush in the adult season (October- early November) when temperatures exceeded 10° C and vegetation was dry along transects at established sites on each island (e.g., Elias et al. 2006). Flags were inspected at approximately 5 min intervals, and ticks were placed in plastic vials for transportation to the laboratory for identification. After enumerating field-sampled ticks we calculated the number of adults per hour as an index to tick abundance. Flagging efficiency is higher for adult *I. scapularis* (Dantas-Torres et al. 2013) so our flagging produced far fewer nymphs during June/July than adults in October/November. To allow for comparisons across islands and years we therefore reported ticks per hour and infection rates for fall-flagged adults only.

Subsets of ticks from some samples were tested for *B. burgdorferi*. From 1989 through 2015 we tested for *Borrelia* by direct fluorescent antibody (DFA) as per Donahue et al. (1987). From 2016 through 2018 we tested for *B. burgdorferi* by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using PCR primers targeting the OspA coding region as designed by Persing et al. (1990). PCR was performed using 2µL of sample DNA, 12.5µL of Platinum[™] Green PCR 2x Master Mix

(Invitrogen, Waltham, MA), 1µL each of forward and reverse primers and 9µL of ultrapure water. Cycling conditions were 94°C for 3 minutes followed by 35 cycles of 94°C for 30, 55°C for 30 seconds and 72°C for 30 seconds and finally an infinite hold at 4°C. After testing we calculated *B. burgdorferi* infection prevalence (positive/tested).

3.3.2.3 Deer Management History

We described deer management history for each island by identifying, to the extent possible, the year or years of a controlled hunt (if applicable), the number of deer or deer density before the hunt, the number of deer taken in the controlled hunt, and the number of deer and deer density currently.

Historically, the Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife (MEIFW) has used a sex-age-kill model to estimate deer/mi² for each of 29 wildlife management districts (WMDs), with inputs including a buck kill index and hunter effort (MEIFW 2007). This calculation has only rarely been used at the town level as there are insufficient numbers of deer harvested in any given town. Thus, other sampling methods were needed to estimate deer density on islands.

Census methods included aerial surveys and pellet group counts (MEIFW 2007). Islesboro has had two aerial surveys and one pellet group count; we obtained results from the town's website. Maine's news outlets have followed deer herd management across the decades, and reporters have contacted people "in the know" for their stories. These people may be the hunters holding permits to take deer during special hunts, the deer biologists for the districts in which the islands fall, and other on-island personnel (such as island health officers). We searched for these articles on island deer herd management on the internet. We also asked MEIFW biologists for their historical and current knowledge of deer herd management. Where an estimate of deer numbers was known, we used the island's land area to calculate deer/mi²; if the estimate was given as deer/mi², then we back-calculated the number of deer. Deer densities and numbers were rough estimates.

3.3.2.4 Survey

We administered a 43-question survey using Qualtrics[®] web-based survey software (Table 3.1). Human subjects research was approved by the Maine Medical Center's Institutional Review Board (IRB #4789, Stakeholder Views on Deer Herd Reduction as a Method to Prevent Lyme Disease among Residents of Unbridged Maine Islands). We refer to the survey henceforth as the Island Survey. Year-round and seasonal residents alike were asked to participate. Seasonal (typically summer) residents own property and have a role in municipal policy formation. Questions pertaining to the aims and hypotheses of the study are listed in Table 3.1. Generally, questions about beliefs were scored on a 3-point Lickert scale (e.g., Agree, Disagree, Neutral). We opted for 3-point scale over a 5-point or higher scale because 1) our primary interest was in direction of response rather than intensity (Jacoby and Matell 1971), 2) we expected a modest number of respondents would require any scale >3 to be collapsed to three, a common situation that does not compromise reliability (Jacoby and Matell 1971), and 3) we wanted to avoid respondent fatigue and non-response (Lehmann and Hurlbert 1972). This latter consideration was key for the islands, which do not enjoy universal broadband internet and cell phone service (Tilson 2015).

Category	Question	Options
Demographics	What island do you live on?	name of island
5 1	What is your age?	18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65+
	what is your gender?	male/remale/oner
		<\$25K, \$25K to <\$40K, \$40K to <\$55K, \$55K to < \$65K, \$65K to
	What is your approximate household income?	\$100K >\$100K
		some nign school , nign school/GED, some college, college,
	What is the highest level of education you have completed?	graduate/professional
	Are you a year-round or seasonal resident?	vear-round seasonal
		deve to a weak, we to a month many there a month
	How long do you typically reside on the Island?	days to a week, up to a month, more than a month
Importance of Lyme	Is Lyme disease a problem on your island?	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
Burden of ticks	How many times have you been bitten by a deer tick on your island?	0, 1, 1 to 5, >5, not sure but more than once, don't know
and tick-borne		
diagona		the second second
disease	Do you find deer ticks on your dog or cat?	yes, no, does not apply
	Have you been treated for a tick-borne disease?	
	Lyme disease	yes, acquired on-island/yes, acquired off-island
	ananlasmosis	ves acquired on-island/ves acquired off-island
		yes, acquired on-island/yes, acquired on-island
	DADESIOSIS	yes, acquired on-island/yes, acquired off-island
	other	yes, acquired on-island/yes, acquired off-island
	Has anyone in your extended family been treated for a tick-borne disease?	
	Lyme disease	ves acquired on-island/ves acquired off-island
		yes, acquired on-island/yes, acquired on-island
	anapiasmosis	yes, acquired on-island/yes, acquired on-island
	babesiosis	yes, acquired on-island/yes, acquired off-island
	other	ves, acquired on-island/ves, acquired off-island
Proventive health	How often would you say you protect yourself against tick bites when ticks are out	2
hat a loss	The other would you say you protect yoursen against tick bites when ticks are out	:
benaviors	avoid tick nabitat	always, sometimes, never
	use personal repellent (bug spray)	always, sometimes, never
	tuck my pants into my socks	always, sometimes, never
	work light colored clothing	always, semetimos, nover
	wear light-colored clothing	always, sometimes, never
	check myself for ticks after being outside	always, sometimes, never
Policy Support	Do you think there is a need to reduce the number of deer on your island?	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
		too many. Increased risk of a car collision, eat my garden plants
Deer values	Do you ever have problems with the deer on your island?	and/or vard plantings, over-browse forest vegetation, increased
Deel values	bo you ever have problems with the deer on your island:	
		risk of Lyme disease
		I enjoy seeing deer, I value knowing deer are part of the
	How do you benefit from the deer on your Island?	landscape I hunt deer. My family and/or friends hunt deer
		and oupe, I have does, my family and/or mendo have does
Deer hunting		
Bool Hanning	Lio vou approve of deer hunding?	
opproval	bo you approve of deer nunting?	agree diaggree neither agree per diaggree
approval	in general	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval	bo you approve or deer nunting? in general on your island	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of	bo you approve or deer nummer? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island?
approval Methods of	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe parmits	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer	To what extent do you approve of deer numbers? on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer	bo you approve of deer numming? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd?
approval Methods of reducing deer	bo you approve of deer numming? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility	bo you approve of deer numming? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree disagree nor disagree agree disagree nor disagree agree disagree nor disagree agree disagree nor disagree nor disagree deer federal funds, town budget, private funds
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds o nyour island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility	bo you approve of deer numming? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government state government	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds a on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd?
approval Methods of reducing deer	bo you approve of deer numming? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government state government town government	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds o ny our island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government state government town government non-profit organizations	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds o on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility	bo you approve of deer multing? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government state government town government non-profit organizations orgenumition	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds a on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility	To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government state government town government non-profit organizations communities	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds o on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility	bb you approve of deer numming? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government state government town government communities small groups of individuals, or individuals	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility	bo you approve of deer numming? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow off-islanders to hunt of islanders allow off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government state government town government non-profit organizations communities small groups of individuals, or individuals How do you rate your knowledge of how to prevent tick bites?	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds o ny our island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility	bo you approve of deer numming? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government town government town government town government mon-profit organizations communities small groups of individuals, or individuals How do you rate your knowledge of how to prevent tick bites?	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds a on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility Information seeking Trust	bo you approve of deer nutring? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government state government town government non-profit organizations communities small groups of individuals, or individuals How do you rate your knowledge of how to prevent tick bites? Do you think you need to learn more about how to prevent tick bites?	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds a on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility Information seeking Trust	bo you approve of user numming? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government state government town government town government town goups of individuals, or individuals How do you rate your knowledge of how to prevent tick bites? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists?	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility Information seeking Trust	Do you approve of deer multing? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government state government town government non-profit organizations communities small groups of individuals, or individuals How do you rate your knowledge of how to prevent tick bites? Do you think you need to learn more about how to prevent tick bites? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by your town government? 	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds a on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility Information seeking Trust Causes	bo you approve of deer numming? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government state government town government non-profit organizations communities small groups of individuals, or individuals How do you rate your knowledge of how to prevent tick bites? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by your town government? What would you say is causing the increase in deer ticks in some parts of Maine?	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds o n your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility Information seeking Trust Causes of the	Do you approve of deer nullinity? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government state government town government non-profit organizations communities small groups of individuals, or individuals How do you rate your knowledge of how to prevent tick bites? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by your town government? What would you say is causing the increase in deer ticks in some parts of Maine?	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility Information seeking Trust Causes of the Tick	Do you approve of deer numing? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government town government non-profit organizations communities small groups of individuals, or individuals How do you rate your knowledge of how to prevent tick bites? Do you think you need to learn more about how to prevent tick bites? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by your town government? What would you say is causing the increase in deer ticks in some parts of Maine? climate change	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds o on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility Information seeking Trust Causes of the Tick Tick	bb you approve of deer numming? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government state government town government	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds a on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility Information seeking Trust Causes of the Tick Problem	 bo you approve of deer numming? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt of the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government state government town government town government non-profit organizations communities small groups of individuals, or individuals How do you trate your knowledge of how to prevent tick bites? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by your town government? What would you say is causing the increase in deer ticks in some parts of Maine? climate change deer overpopulation rodents 	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds o on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility Information seeking Trust Causes of the Tick Problem	 bo you approve of deer numming? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow off-islanders to hunt What would be acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the Who do you think should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government state government town government non-profit organizations communities small groups of individuals, or individuals How do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists? 	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree
approval Methods of reducing deer Responsibility Information seeking Trust Causes of the Tick Problem Pesticide	 bo you approve of deer nultiting? in general on your island To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following approaches to reducing more doe permits expanded archery season expanded firearms season a professional sharp-shooter allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow any off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders by our tink should be responsible for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease U.S. government town government bo you trate your knowledge of how to prevent tick bites? Do you trust information on tick control given to you by your town government? What would you say is causing the increase in deer ticks in some parts of Maine? climate change deer overpopulation rodents invasive plants Would you apply a pesticide on your property to kill ticks if the pesticide was harm 	agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree deer herd? state or federal funds, town budget, private funds a on your island? agree, disagree, neither agree nor disagree agree, disagree neither agree nor disagree

Table 3.1. Questions asked in the 2016 Island Tick Survey. Respondents were year-round and seasonal residents of Maine's unbridged, off-shore islands. Respondents were not required to answer all questions so total number responding per question varied.

Surveys could be taken via smart device, computer, or paper. We allowed more than one response from the same IP address to allow more than one response per household and per public (e.g., library) computer. We found no duplicates, i.e., where the same IP address appeared two or three times the respondents using the same computer had differing responses and appeared to be legitimate household members rather than one individual taking the survey twice. Advertising was through paper and an online news story in the Maine Island Institute's Working Waterfront (Groening 2016), island Facebook and website pages, by word-of-mouth, by laminated posters at ferry terminals, and by paper surveys left at town offices and libraries. The survey opened on May 1st, 2016 and closed December 31st, 2016.

The Island Survey was a convenience sample, a research strategy that allows people to opt-in, meaning that respondents self-select. Much survey research relies on convenience sampling due to the expense of population-based sampling (Mullinix et al. 2015). Convenience sampling can be biased, but allows for data collection over a short period of time at minimal expense compared to often infeasible population-based sampling. Rather than forgo any sampling at all, convenience sampling can generate data that can be interpreted in the presence of bias, where the bias can be described and inference can be constrained to the demographic of the sample (Kelley et al. 2003, Mullinix et al. 2015).

3.3.3 Analysis

We used SAS[®] (SAS 2018) for all analyses. We cross-tabulated categorical responses and reported frequencies of responses of island residents overall and by individual island. We used logistic regression models to address each of the three categories of hypotheses. The hypothesis 1 model tested level of agreement that Lyme disease was a problem (agree vs.

neutral/disagree) as a function of the burden of tick bites and disease. With regard to the response variable, very few respondents (n = 21, 3%) responded "disagree", which resulted in cell counts as low as 2, violating the "rule of ten" and resulting in poorly estimated variances and confidence intervals (Hosmer and Lemeshow 2000), thus we pooled "disagree" with "neutral" so the model had a binomial response.

The series of hypothesis 2 models tested the nominal level (always vs. sometimes vs. never) of five specific behaviors to protect against tick bite as a function of the burden of tick bites and disease. We used a generalized logit to accommodate nonproportional odds in the multinomial models.

In the hypothesis 3 model, we tested the level of agreement that deer numbers should be reduced (agree, neutral, disagree) as a function of the predictor variable "increased risk of Lyme disease" plus a composite predictor variable "other deer problems". Regarding the "increased risk of Lyme disease" few respondents (*n* = 32, 4%) responded "disagree", which resulted in cell counts as low as 3, thus we pooled "neutral" and "disagree" resulting in two levels: "agree" and "otherwise". Among the non-Lyme deer problems there was some degree of internal agreement (Cronbachs alpha = 0.43) and, analogous to the situation of collinearity among continuous predictors, equally important predictors were pushing each other out of the model. We created a new composite predictor "other deer problems". We scored the value "agree" if respondents answered "agree" to at least one of the variables "car collision", "eat my garden", "over-browse the forest", otherwise we designated the response "otherwise". This also resolved the problem of where some situations are non-issues, e.g., if a person doesn't garden then garden destruction is a non-issue. Thus "other deer problems" was a measure of
whether a respondent had at least one problem with deer not related to ticks. We used a generalized logit to accommodate the nonproportional odds in this multinomial model.

All models included the control variables gender, age class, education, and resident status (year-round or seasonal). The support for deer reduction model also contained hunting tradition (self and/or family/friends hunt) as a control variable. We tested for significant two-way interactions in all models between the main effect(s) of interest and these control variables. Because 97 respondents did not answer the income question, we did not include income as a control variable. Respondents were asked to write in their occupations if desired. As an approximation of risk of tick encounter, we categorized fishing, landscaping, gardening, or property management as outdoor. As 8.3% of respondents (n = 73) had outdoor occupations vs. 69.5% indoor vs. 22.2% unknown, we did not include occupation type as a control variable.

Differences of opinions by island relative to the overall opinions were of interest but, due to sparse data from islands with very small populations, we could not use island as a control variable in the logistic regression models. Further, no one island could logically serve as a reference island. Instead, we calculated the significance of the difference between the percent agreeing on an individual island versus the across-island percent agreeing for the two main outcome variables of interest (is Lyme disease a problem, is there a need for deer reduction) to serve as a reference to parties interested in the individual island responses.

To test whether significantly more respondents would omit than include invasive plants as a cause of the tick problem (hypothesis 4), we tallied the number of respondents that agreed to at least one cause among the choice of deer, rodents, and climate change, but not plants, vs.

those who included plants as a cause. We ran a chi-square test for equal proportions (1-3 causes not including plants vs. 1-4 causes including plants).

Our main interest was across-island results. But for the two major questions of the study (Is Lyme disease a problem on your island, is there a need to reduce deer on you island), we calculated the difference between the individual island percent agreeing versus the overall percent agreeing (vs. otherwise) and tested for significance (chi-square test for equal proportions, to see if any islands stood out relative to the overall averages.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Island Summaries of Lyme incidence, Entomological Risk, and Deer Management History

Estimated minimum Lyme disease incidence across all of Maine's unbridged islands, 2013-17, was 848 cases per 100,000 (Table 3.2) and ranged from 0 to 3,972. The Cranberry Isles and Frenchboro had 0 reported cases. It can be seen for Isle au Haut, Matinicus, and Monhegan that the 5-year populations did not sum to a population that allowed reporting of the exact number of cases, so assuming at least one case, a minimum incidence for the 5-year period for these three islands ranged from 270 to 277. Three Casco Bay islands fall within the City of Portland and island-level case data thus were not available (Table 3.2).

$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	1	<u>hese islands have year-rou</u>	ind residents. Case data	were not av	ailable for City	/ of Portl	and isla	nds.	:	α	
	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			 1	opulation		Area		2013-17	Lyme diseas	e e	Minimum
Chebeague Island Indep 341 1600 3.0 7.8 7 1742 402 402 402 Long Island Indep 230 1000 1.3 3.3 7 1139 615 615 Ciff Island City of Pontland 71 200 0.5 1.2 1139 615 615 Ciff Island City of Pontland 91 200 0.7 1.7 2 2 200 Peaks Island City of Pontland 864 2000 1.2 3.1 2 <td></td> <td></td> <td>Island</td> <td>Government</td> <td>Winter^b</td> <td>Summer^c</td> <td>mi²</td> <td>km²</td> <td>Cases</td> <td>5-year pop</td> <td>Incidence</td> <td>Incidence^d</td>			Island	Government	Winter ^b	Summer ^c	mi ²	km ²	Cases	5-year pop	Incidence	Incidence ^d
			Chebeague Island	Indep	341	1600	3.0	7.8	7	1742	402	402
Cliff Island City of Portland 71 200 0.5 1.2 Great Diamond City of Portland 91 200 0.7 1.7 Great Diamond City of Portland 91 200 0.7 1.7 Peaks Island City of Portland 864 2000 1.2 3.1 Peaks Island City of Portland 864 2000 1.2 3.1 2.70 Islesboro Indep 7.3 800 1.2 3.1 2.70 Matinicus Isle Plt LUPC 74 100 1.1 3.5.5 109 2.744 3972 372 Matinicus Isle Plt LUPC 69 2.50 0.8 2.1 < < 2.74 North Haven Indep 3.32 1000 1.1.3 2.9.3 3.6 3.72 2.72 Swans Island It LUPC 69 2.74 8 1678 4.767 4.75 Vin	Cliff Island City of Portland 71 200 0.5 1.2 Great Diamond City of Portland 91 200 0.7 1.7 Peaks Island City of Portland 91 200 0.7 1.7 Peaks Island City of Portland 864 2000 1.2 3.1 Reaks Island City of Portland 864 2000 1.2 3.1 270 Isle Au Haut Indep 73 800 12.6 32.7 270 Matinicus Isle Pit LUPC 74 100 14.1 36.5 109 2744 3972 3972 North Haven Indep 355 1000 11.3 23.3 < < 277 North Haven Indep 332 1000 11.3 29.3 366 * 277 Swans Island It 270 23.2 58.3 36.3 393 393 Vinilhaven Indep<		Long Island	Indep	230	1000	1.3	3.3	7	1139	615	615
	Great Diamond City of Portland 91 200 0.7 1.7 Peaks Island City of Portland 864 2000 1.2 3.1 Peaks Island City of Portland 864 2000 1.2 3.1 Isle Au Haut Indep 73 800 12.6 3.7 <6		Cliff Island	City of Portland	71	200	0.5	1.2				
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		Great Diamond	City of Portland	91	200	0.7	1.7				
Isle Au Haut Indep 73 800 12.6 32.7 6 370 * 270 Islesboro Indep 566 1000 14.1 36.5 109 2744 3972 3972 Matinicus Isle Plt LUPC 74 100 1.3 3.3 <6			Peaks Island	City of Portland	864	2000	1.2	3.1				
Islesboro Indep 566 1000 14.1 36.5 109 2744 3972 3973 3933 3933 3933 3933 3933 3933 3933 3933 3933 3933 3933 3933 3933	Islesboro Indep 566 1000 14.1 36.5 109 2744 3972 3933 3933 3933 3933 3933 3933 3933		Isle Au Haut	Indep	73	800	12.6	32.7	9>	370	*	270
Matinicus Isle Pit LUPC 74 100 1.3 3.3 <6 361 * 277 Anhegan Island Pit LUPC 69 250 0.8 2.1 <6	Matinicus Isle Pit LUPC 74 100 1.3 3.3 <6 361 * 277 Anhegan Island Pit LUPC 69 250 0.8 2.1 <6		Islesboro	Indep	566	1000	14.1	36.5	109	2744	3972	3972
Montegan Island Plt LUPC 69 250 0.8 2.1 <6 368 * 272 North Haven Indep 355 1000 11.3 29.3 36 1827 1970 1970 1970 North Haven Indep 332 1000 11.5 32.4 8 1678 477 477 Vinalhaven Indep 1165 2200 22.5 58.2 23 5859 393 393 Cranberry Isles ^e Indep 1165 2200 22.5 58.2 23 5859 393 393 Cranberry Isles ^e Indep 1165 2200 22.6 3.9 10.0 0 696 0 0 Frenchboro Indep 61 150 3.9 10.0 0 311 0 0 Arende Indep 100 161 150 0 340 0 0 0	Monhegan Island Plt LUPC 69 250 0.8 2.1 <6 368 * 272 North Haven Indep 355 1000 11.3 29.3 36 1827 1970 1970 1970 Swans Island Indep 355 1000 12.5 32.4 8 1678 4767 477 Vinalhaven Indep 1165 2200 22.5 58.2 23 5859 393 393 Cranberry Isles ⁶ Indep 110 850 1.6 4.0 0 696 0 0 Frenchboro Indep 61 150 3.9 10.0 0 311 0 0 0 0 Frenchboro Indep 61 150 3.9 10.0 0 311 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 </td <td></td> <td>Matinicus Isle Plt</td> <td>LUPC</td> <td>74</td> <td>100</td> <td>1.3</td> <td>3.3</td> <td>9></td> <td>361</td> <td>*</td> <td>277</td>		Matinicus Isle Plt	LUPC	74	100	1.3	3.3	9>	361	*	277
North Haven Indep 355 1000 11.3 29.3 36 1827 1970 100 100 100 <	North Haven Indep 355 1000 11.3 29.3 36 1827 1970 1070 1070 1070 1070 1070	~	Monhegan Island Plt	LUPC	69	250	0.8	2.1	9>	368	*	272
Swans Island Indep 332 1000 12.5 32.4 8 1678 4767 477 Vinalhaven Indep 1165 2200 22.5 58.2 23 5859 393 393 Cranberry Isles ⁶ Indep 110 850 1.6 4.0 0 696 0 0 Frenchboro Indep 110 850 3.9 10.0 0 331 0 0 Total 4402 Total 4402 Average Incidence 848	Swans Island Indep 332 1000 12.5 32.4 8 1678 4767 477 Vinalhaven Indep 1165 2200 22.5 58.2 23 5859 393 393 Cranberry Isles ⁶ Indep 110 850 1.6 4.0 0 696 0 0 Frenchboro Indep 61 150 3.9 10.0 0 331 0 0 Total 4402 Adverage Incidence 848 Average Incidence 848 ine Center for Disease Control Tracking Network (MECDC 2018). Average Incidence 848 Average Incidence 848		North Haven	Indep	355	1000	11.3	29.3	36	1827	1970	1970
Vinalhaven Indep 1165 2200 22.5 58.2 23 5859 393 393 393 393 393 5859 393 393 5859 393 393 5859 393 393 203	Vinalhaven Indep 1165 2200 22.5 58.2 23 5859 393 393 393 393 203		Swans Island	Indep	332	1000	12.5	32.4	8	1678	4767	477
Cranberry Isles ⁶ Indep 110 850 1.6 4.0 0 696 0 0 Frenchboro Indep 61 150 3.9 10.0 0 331 0 0 Total 4402 Total 4402 Average Incidence 848	Cranberry Isles ⁶ Indep 110 850 1.6 4.0 0 696 0 0 Frenchboro Indep 61 150 3.9 10.0 0 331 0 0 Total 4402 1402 Average Incidence 848 ine Center for Disease Control Tracking Network (MECDC 2018). Average Incidence 848		Vinalhaven	Indep	1165	2200	22.5	58.2	23	5859	393	393
Frenchboro Indep 61 150 3.9 10.0 0 331 0 0 Total 4402 1402 848 84	Frenchboro Indep 61 150 3.9 10.0 0 31 0 0 Total 4402 4402 Average Incidence 848 ine Center for Disease Control Tracking Network (MECDC 2018).		Cranberry Isles ^e	Indep	110	850	1.6	4.0	0	696	0	0
Total 4402 Average Incidence 848	Total 4402 Average Incidence 848 ine Center for Disease Control Tracking Network (MECDC 2018). 6		Frenchboro	Indep	61	150	3.9	10.0	0	331	0	0
	ine Center for Disease Control Tracking Network (MECDC 2018).			Total	4402					Averaç	je Incidence	848

Table 3.2. Government, population, area, and estimated Lyme disease incidence of Maine's 15 off-shore, unbridged

US Census Bureau (2017).

^cColby Environmental Policy Group (2014).

^dCalculated as (1/5-year population) x 100,000.

^eThe Cranberry Isles include the islands of Great Cranberry (population 40) and Islesford, aka Little Cranberry (population 70). ^fMaine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife administrative regions; a different deer biologist is assigned to each region. Entomological data in Table 3.3 show that sampling effort over the years has varied substantially. Of the 15 islands, we have collected ticks on ten. There remain five islands on which we have not yet collected adult ticks in fall: Great Diamond, North Haven, the Cranberry Isles, and Frenchboro. Sampling has typically been done on an ad hoc basis in response to a request for assistance as there has been no comprehensive sampling program or funding beyond short-term grants for minimum surveillance. The exceptions were Monhegan and Isle au Haut, which were sampled frequently during the 1990s and 2000s given the intense interest in tick control on Monhegan and funding to conduct research on efficacy of control options (Isle au Haut was a reference island).

As seen on a decadal basis, adult tick abundance has increased on the islands. The exception was Monhegan, where deer were removed from 1997-99 and tick abundance and infection rates decreased (Rand et al. 2004b). Increases in *B. burgdorferi* infection prevalence can be seen as well (again excepting Monhegan). Cliff Island, Islesboro, and Swan's Island best illustrate increases in entomological risk over the years, with fall-flagged adults per hour increasing on Cliff Island from 10 to 37 (2000s to 2010s), on Islesboro from 0 to 37 to 43 (1990s to 2000s to 2010s), and Swans Island from <1 to 6 to 33 (1990s to 2000s to 2010s). Infection rates also increased: Cliff Island from 29 to 42% (2000s to 2010s), on Islesboro from <1 to 3 to 31 (1990s to 2000s to 2010s), and Swans Island from 0 to 19 to 25 (1990 s to 2000s to 2010s). In general, the entomological data in Table 3.3 should be interpreted with caution as number of years sampled per decade was as low as one in some cases, e.g., Chebeague Island. We note that since 1989, we have conducted outreach on all islands other than Great Diamond, Cranberry Isles, and Frenchboro.

		2010s	62.4	41.6		45.0			43.1				25.0			25.1
		2000s		29.3				24.1	36.6		33.4					18.7
17.	% positive	1990s						17.7	0.0		37.0					0.0
1990-20		2010s	109	171		442			527	.			192			542
gdorferi,		2000s		154			0	745	125		554					113
for B. bur	n tested	1990s				0	4	920	5	0	1602					11
positive		2010s	37.5	37.4		29.7			31.0				26.2			32.8
percent	hour	2000s		10.0				20.7	2.6	0.1	4.2					6.5
er hour, and	adults per	1990s					0.4	12.4	0.1		13.3					0.3
agged pe		2010s	Ļ	4		5	0	0	9	0	~		7	0	0	5
), ticks fl	(2000s	0	7		0	0	5	7	7	6		0	0	0	4
s sampling	n (years)	1990s	0	0		0	ო	ø	7	-	10		0	0	0	с
mmary of fall adult <i>I. scapular</i> i		town	Chebeague Island	Cliff Island	Great Diamond Island	Long Island	Peaks Island	Isle Au Haut	Islesboro	Matinicus Isle Plt	Monhegan Island Plt	North Haven	Vinalhaven	Cranberry Isles	Frenchboro	Swans Island
Table 3.3. Su		region	A	A	A	A	A	В	Ш	в	В	ш	Ш	ပ	ပ	υ

990-20	
gdorferi, 1	
or B. bur	
positive f	
l percent	
nour, and	
jed per h	
ks flago	
oling, tic	
is samp	
scapular	
of fall adult 1.	
Summary	
able 3.3.	

Table 3.4 shows known deer management histories on the islands. Four of the 14 islands that ever had deer never had culls: Chebeague, North Haven, and Vinalhaven, which have regular firearms seasons, and Isle au Haut, which includes part of Acadia National Park and has no deer hunting. Ten of the 14 islands that ever had deer had culls: the first known occurring 1992-95 on Great Diamond and the most recent 2012-14 on Islesboro. Pre- and post-cull deer density estimates were available for only four islands and were >85/mi² to 10-13/mi² for Cranberry Isles, were 60/mi² to 50/mi² for Islesboro, >100/mi² to 21-25/mi² for Peaks Island, and 114/mi² to 0 for Monhegan Island.

Monhegan was the one island that completely removed its deer herd (technically complete removal is not a cull). In 1959, for subsistence hunting, Monhegan islanders brought 6 white-tailed deer across 12 miles of water from the mainland to Monhegan (Rand 2017). By the early 1990s, deer had reached a density of 141/mi². The island became known for its high population of deer, blacklegged tick infestation, and what seemed a disproportionate number of human and canine Lyme disease cases. In 1995, islanders voted to remove all 113 deer permanently. Number of ticks per hour was reduced from 8 to 15/hour pre-removal to <1/hour post-removal, and number of larvae and nymphs on rats from 1 to 17 pre-removal to 0 post-removal (Rand et al. 2004b). As of this writing, permitted, special regulations hunts to control deer currently occur on five of the islands. Known, current deer densities ranged from 10 to 60 (Table 3.4).

			Management ^a	Regular	Special	Special	Special	Special	Special	n/a	n/a	Regular	Regular	No hunting	Restricted	Restricted	Regular + Special	ig regulations by in Maine's
			~deer/mi2	unk	$40-60^{\circ}$	53	38	21 ^e -25 ^f	50^{h}	0	0	unk	unk	unk	10-13 ^k	unk	15	oecial huntir an be found
han culled		Current	u~	unk	$20-30^{\circ}$	25^{e}	25^{e}	$25^{e}-30^{f}$	690	0	0	unk	unk	unk	15-20 ^k	unk	188	ther has sp islands ca
ioved rather t		Number	Harvested	n/a	<10 ^b	25^{d}	unk; 37 ^b	223-234 ^d , ^g	124 ^h		114 ⁱ				10 ^k	unk	270 ^k	sland), but rai ions for some
nd was entirely rem			Method(s)	n/a	shotgun	sharpshooter	sharpshooter	sharpshooter	shotgun		sharpshooter	n/a	n/a	n/a	archery, shotgun	archery, shotgun	archery, shotgun	on (except Swans Is fe. Special regulat
herd on Monhegan Isla		Hunt	Year(s)	none	1999 ^b	2003 ^d , 2004 ^e	1992-95 ^{e,f} ;1999-2001 ^b	1999-2001 ^f	2012-2014 ^h		1996-1999 ⁱ	none	none	none	1999-2001 ^f	2001 ^g	2001-2003 ^f	e regular firearms seasc and Fisheries and Wildli
int. The deer	ction History		~deer/mi2	n/a	n/a	unk	unk	100 ^d ,200 ^{e,g}	60 ¹	0	141 ⁱ	n/a	n/a	n/a	85-100 ^g	unk	unk	iot open to th artment of Inl
oredation hu	Deer Redu	Pre-hunt	n~	n/a	n/a	unk	unk	274	846	0	06	n/a	n/a	n/a	133-156	unk	unk	e island is r Maine Dep
es by dep		Area	km ²	7.8	1.2	1.7	3.3	3.1	36.5	3.3	2.1	29.3	58.2	32.7	4.0	10.0	32.4	means th y and the
instanc		Land /	mi ²	3.0	0.5	0.7	1.3	1.2	14.1	1.3	0.8	11.3	22.5	12.6	1.6	3.9	12.5	llations nicipalit
d hunts or in a few			Island	Chebeague	Long	Cliff	Great Diamond	Peaks	Islesboro	Matinicus Isle Plt	Monhegan Plt	North Haven	Vinalhaven	Isle au Haut	Cranberry Isles	Frenchboro	Swans	under special regunt between the mu
controlle		MEIFW	Region	A	A	A	A	A	В	В	В	В	В	ပ	ပ	ပ	ပ	^a Hunting agreeme

Table 3.4. Summary of deer management history on the unbridged islands of Maine. Islands in bold implemented deer reduction hunts, i.e., culls, by way of

Statutes: www. mainelegislature.org/legis/statutes/12/title12sec11402.html. Restricted hunting on Cranberry Isles and Frenchboro means Regular with modifications. ^bBieber N. (pers. comm. 2018) ĉ

^cGroening T. March 13, 2015. The Working Waterfront.

^dLeath D.March 1, 2004. Deer control debated on islands. The Working Waterfront.

^eBillings R. November 17, 2016. Shots heard 'round 3 Portland islands as annual culling of deer begins.

^fMEIFW (2007)

^gMoore B. June 1, 2002. Deer, islands, and people. The Working Waterfront.

^hFleming D. May 14, 2017. Portland Press Herald.

Rand et al. (2004)

Leven R. October 17, 2014. Other islands embrace changes in deer hunt. Mount Desert Islander.

^kEdgecombe M. November 29-30, 2003. Islanders find relief in deer hunt. Bangor Daily News.

MMCRI (2018). Swans Island deer density estimate 14.6/mi² (lower and upper 95% confidence limits 11.3,18.0) based on a 2018 deer pellet count.

3.4.2 Island Survey

3.4.2.1 Demographics

A total of 829 island residents responded with776 (93.6%) online responses and 53 (6.4%) paper responses (Table 3.5). Among respondents 70% were female, 72% were age 55+, and 76% percent had a 4-year college degree or higher (Table 3.5). Incomes were distributed evenly among <\$55,000; \$55,000 to 100K and >\$100,000. The split between year-round and seasonal residents was close to 50/50, with slightly more year-round residents (54%). Demographics of paper and online responses were not significantly different for gender, age, education, and income (chi-square test for equal proportions, all $P \ge 0.41$, and (\$55K up to 100K, >\$100K pooled due to low *n* for paper in each group). Excluding Monhegan (which had one respondent despite lack of deer on the island), percent of the year-round population responding ranged from 1% (Frenchboro) to 19% (Peaks Island). Responses from Frenchboro, the Cranberry Isles, Cliff, and Great Diamond were sparse as would be expected from islands with very small populations. The remainder of the results pertain to across-island summaries, but by-island responses can be found in Appendix C.

							0 1							
Demographic	sbnslzi IIA	Frenchboro	Cranberry_lsles	suewS	tueH_ue_elsl	Islesporo	ทธรู ว ทดM	nəvɛH_dtıoN	Реакз	nəverleniV	ənǥsədənD	Cliff	bnomsiD_teərÐ	Buoj
age 55 and up	585 (72%)	8 (80%)	5 (38%)	51 (69%)	34 (69%)	72 (69%)	1 (50%)	31 (57%)	117 (78%)	53 (78%)	87 (82%)	12 (57%)	24 (69%)	76 (78%)
age 18 to 54	229 (28%)	2 (20%)	8 (62%)	23 (31%)	15 (31%)	33 (31%)	1 (50%)	23 (43%)	33 (22%)	15 (22%)	19 (18%)	9 (43%)	11 (31%)	22 (22%)
	*	NS	NS	*	*	*	NS	NS	*	*	*	NS	*	*
Graduate/Prof Degree	346 (43%)	5 (50%)	2 (17%)	34 (45%)	24 (51%)	50 (49%)	2 (100%)	20 (37%)	66 (45%)	32 (48%)	44 (43%)	11 (52%)	22 (63%)	25 (26%)
4-year College Degree	263 (33%)	1~(10%)	3 (25%)	18 (24%)	12 (26%)	32 (31%)		21 (39%)	61 (41%)	22 (33%)	30 (29%)	6 (29%)	9 (26%)	39 (40%)
Some College	133 (17%)	3 (30%)	5 (42%)	17 (23%)	7 (15%)	16 (16%)		9 (17%)	16 (11%)	4 (6%)	23 (22%)	3 (14%)	4(11%)	19 (19%)
High School/GED	60 (7%)	1 (10%)	2 (17%)	6 (8%)	4 (9%)	5 (5%)		4 (7%)	4 (3%)	8 (12%)	6 (6%)	1 (5%)		15 (15%)
	*	NS	NS	*	*	*		*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Female	570 (70%)	5 (50%)	11 (85%)	53 (71%)	33 (67%)	64 (61%)	2 (100%)	38 (69%)	113 (74%)	45 (65%)	76 (74%)	17 (81%)	25 (71%)	66 (67%)
Male	248 (30%)	5 (50%)	2 (15%)	22 (29%)	16 (33%)	41 (39%)		17 (31%)	39 (26%)	24 (35%)	27 (26%)	4 (19%)	10 (29%)	33 (33%)
	*	NS	*	*	*	*		*	*	*	*	*	*	*
income \$55K up to 100K	269 (37%)	4 (50%)	4 (44%)	24 (37%)	16 (35%)	24 (27%)	1 (50%)	20 (43%)	53 (40%)	27 (46%)	40 (41%)	8 (40%)	9 (26%)	32 (37%)
income >\$100K	245 (34%)	2 (25%)	1(11%)	24 (37%)	15 (33%)	48 (53%)		8 (17%)	39 (29%)	15 (25%)	24 (25%)	10 (50%)	22 (65%)	28 (33%)
income <\$55K	208 (29%)	2 (25%)	4 (44%)	17 (26%)	15 (33%)	18 (20%)	1 (50%)	19 (40%)	41 (31%)	17 (29%)	33 (34%)	2 (10%)	3 (9%)	26 (30%)
	*	NS	NS	NS	NS	*	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	*	NS
Year-round resident	446 (54%)	4 (40%)	12 (92%)	36 (48%)	14 (29%)	53 (50%)	1 (50%)	42 (76%)	110 (72%)	34 (49%)	61 (58%)	5 (24%)	10 (29%)	41 (42%)
Seasonal resident	373 (46%)	6 (60%)	1 (8%)	39 (52%)	35 (71%)	52 (50%)	1 (50%)	13 (24%)	42 (28%)	36 (51%)	44 (42%)	16 (76%)	25 (71%)	57 (58%)
	*	NS	*	NS	*	NS	NS	*	*	NS	NS	*	*	NS
Total Responses	829	10 (1%)	13 (2%)	75 (9%)	49 (6%)	105 (13%)	2 (0%)	55 (7%)	153 (19%)	70 (9%)	106 (13%)	21 (3%)	35 (4%)	99 (12%)
-				1000	1001 00									()007) 00
% pop responaing		10 (J.%)	13 (2%)	(איצ) כ/	49 (6%)	105 (13%)	(%N) Z	(%/) כל	153 (19%)	/n (9%)	106 (13%)	21(3%)	35 (4%)	999 (J.12%)

Table 3.5. Demographics of respondents to the 2016 Island Tick Survey. Respondents were year-round and season residents of Maine's unbridged, off-shore islands. Respondents were not required to answer all questions so total number responding per question varied.

3.4.2.2 Burden of Tick Bites and Tick-borne Disease

Eighty-three percent of island residents agreed that Lyme disease was a problem on their island whereas only 3% disagreed (Table 3.6). Twenty-three percent of islanders reported that they had contracted at least one case of Lyme disease on-island; and 27% of islanders reported that at least one extended family member had contracted Lyme disease on-island.

Our first hypothesis was that odds of respondents agreeing Lyme disease was a problem would depend on burden of bite/TBD. Among respondents, 58% reported themselves or family having had a tick-borne disease, 15% reported themselves bitten but not contracting a tick-borne disease, and 26% reported self not bitten. Bite/TBD burden was the only significant predictor of agreement that Lyme disease was a problem (*n* = 789, df = 2, Wald chi-square = 64.6, *P* <.0001, Table 3.7). Odds of respondents considering Lyme disease a problem on their island were nearly six times greater (OR 5.8, 95% CI 3.7-9.0) for those who had experienced tick-borne disease (through self, family, or friends) than those never bitten by a tick, and nearly four times greater (OR 3.8, 95% CI 2.1-7.0) for those bitten (but never ill) than those never bitten by a tick. There was no difference in odds between those experiencing TBD and bitten only (OR 1.5, 95% CI 0.8-2.9; Table 3.7). Control variables (gender, age class, education level) were not significant as main effects or as interactions with the effect of interest, bite/disease burden.

Table 3.6. Responses to the 2016 Island Survey of residents of Maine's unbridged, off-shore islands, 2016. An asterix denotes chi-square test for equal proportions $P \le 0.05$.

Category	Question					
Importance of Lyme	Is Lyme disease a problem on your island?	Agree	Disagree	Neutral		Р
		680 (83%)	21 (3%)	118 (14%)		*
Burden of ticks	Have you been bitten by a deer tick on your island?	No	Yes			
and tick-borne		421 (51%)	400 (49%)			NS
disease	Have you been treated for a tick-borne disease/where acquired?	Off-island	On-island	Both	N/A	
	l vme disease	44 (5%)	187 (23%)	15 (2%)	575 (70%)	*
	ananlaemosie	4 (0%)	5 (1%)	1 (0%)	811 (00%)	*
	habasiasia	- (0%) 5 (1%)	11 (1%)	1 (0%)	801 (08%)	*
	othor	2 (0%)	11 (1%)	2 (0%)	004 (00%)	*
	Uner	2 (0/0) Off island	On island	2 (0%) Roth	N/A	
	Has anyone in your extended family been treated for a tick-borne disease?			21 (40()	N/A 452 (550()	*
	Lynie usease	115 (14%)	223 (27%)	31 (4%)	452 (55%)	*
	anapiasmosis	10 (1%)	10 (1%)	2 (0%)	799 (97%)	
	Dadesiosis	16 (2%)	12 (1%)	2 (0%)	791 (96%)	-
	other	4 (0%)	4 (0%)	3 (0%)	810 (99%)	*
Preventive health	How often do you protect yourself against tick bites when ticks are out?	Always	Never	Sometimes		*
behaviors	avoid tick habitat	210 (26%)	150 (19%)	448 (55%)		*
	use personal repellent (bug spray)	180 (22%)	199 (25%)	425 (53%)		*
	tuck my pants into my socks	131 (16%)	349 (44%)	322 (40%)		*
	wear light-colored clothing	109 (14%)	171 (21%)	521 (65%)		*
	check myself for ticks after being outside	483 (60%)	27 (3%)	297 (37%)		
Policy Support	Do you think there is a need to reduce the number of deer on your island?	Agree	Disagree	Neutral		*
		483 (61%)	99 (12%)	211 (27%)		*
Deer issues/values	Do you ever have problems with the deer on your island?	Agree	Disagree	Neutral		
	vehicle collisions	321 (41%)	219 (28%)	244 (31%)		*
	garden damage	548 (69%)	116 (15%)	128 (16%)		*
	overbrowse the forest	301 (38%)	167 (21%)	317 (40%)		*
	risk of Lyme disease	653 (82%)	33 (4%)	108 (14%)		*
	How do you benefit from the deer on your island?		Disagree	Neutral		
	enjoy seeing deer	167 (50%)	152 (10%)	177 (22%)		*
	value deer presence	201 (100/)	101 (24%)	217 (22/0)		*
Deer hunting	Value deel plesence	304 (40 <i>%</i>)	191 (24%) Diseases	217 (2776)		
Deer nunung	in an and it is a second	Agree	Disagree			*
approval/tradition	in general	622 (78%)	55 (7%)	118 (15%)		
	on your Island	584 (74%)	102 (13%)	108 (14%)		*
	l hunt	48 (6%)	625 (80%)	108 (14%)		÷
	My family/friends hunt	301 (38%)	387 (49%)	99 (13%)		*
Methods of	Agreement with the following approaches to reducing deer on your island?	Agree	Disagree	Neutral		
reducing deer	more doe permits	306 (62%)	69 (14%)	119 (24%)		*
	expanded archery season	295 (60%)	101 (20%)	97 (20%)		*
	expanded firearms season	193 (39%)	167 (34%)	132 (27%)		*
	a professional sharp-shooter	312 (63%)	104 (21%)	79 (16%)		*
	allow off-islanders to hunt only if family of islanders	144 (29%)	198 (40%)	147 (30%)		*
	allow any off-islanders to hunt	69 (14%)	315 (64%)	108 (22%)		*
	Acceptable ways to pay for a sharp-shooting program to reduce the deer herd?	Any	Private	State/Federal	Town	
		14 (4%)	28 (9%)	175 (54%)	108 (33%)	*
Responsibility	Responsibility for tackling the issue of tick-borne disease on your island?	Agree	Disagree	Neutral		
	U.S. government	308 (40%)	253 (33%)	210 (27%)		*
	state government	553 (71%)	114 (15%)	115 (15%)		*
	town government	615 (79%)	68 (9%)	97 (12%)		*
	non-profit organizations	267 (35%)	210 (27%)	288 (38%)		*
	communities	267 (35%)	231 (30%)	270 (35%)		NS
	small groups of individuals or individuals	510 (66%)	98 (13%)	163 (21%)		*
Information	How do you rate your knowledge of how to prevent tick bites?	Δ lot	None	Some		
seeking		403 (50%)	12 (1%)	394 (49%)		*
oooning	Do you think you need to learn more about how to prevent tick hites?		Disagree	Neutral		*
	by you think you need to rearr more about now to prevent tick bites:	288 (18%)	1/12 (18%)	277 (24%)		*
		300 (4070)	143 (1876) Discorres	277 (34/8)		
Truct	De veu truet information en tick control given to veu by acientista?	Agree	Disagree	1EQ (10%)		*
must	Do you trust information on tick control given to you by scientists?	598 (70%)	35 (4%)	150 (19%)		
		Agree	Disagree	Neutral		
	Do you trust information on tick control given to you by your town government?	449 (57%)	83 (11%)	249 (32%)		*
Causes	vvnat would you say is causing the increase in deer ticks in some parts of Maine?	Agree	Disagree	Neutral		
of the	climate change	368 (48%)	// (10%)	329 (43%)		*
Tick	deer overpopulation	622 (79%)	44 (6%)	125 (16%)		*
Problem	invasive plants	206 (27%)	146 (19%)	414 (54%)		*
	rodents	483 (62%)	41 (5%)	255 (33%)		*
		Agree	Disagree	Neutral		
Pesticide	Would you apply a pesticide on your property to kill ticks if otherwise harmless?	475 (59%)	172 (21%)	157 (20%)		

Table 3.7 Logistic regression models relating importance of Lyme disease and personal protective behaviors taken versus burden of tick bite and tick-borne disease,
and support for deer herd reduction versus issues with deer, asked in a survey of residents of Maine's unbridged, off-shore islands, 2016.
Type 3 Analysis of Effects

	Type 3 P	Analysis of E	mects						
<u> </u>		Significant		Wald	-	Odds Ratio Estimates			
Category	Model	Effect(s)	DF	Chi-Sq	P	Contrasts	OR	LCL	UCL
Importance of	Is Lyme disea	ase a problei	m on y	our island	? (agree,	neutral/disagree) n = 789			
Lyme disease		burden	2	64.6	<.0001	TBD vs. bitten only	1.5	0.8	2.9
in response to						TBD vs. not bitten	5.8	3.7	9.0
burden of						bitten only vs. not bitten	3.8	2.1	7.0
ticks/IBD									
Behavioral	Check myself	for ticks af	ter bei	ng outside	(n = 773)			
response to		burden	2	23.48	<.0001	Tick check always: TBD vs. only bitten	1.5	1.0	2.3
burden of						Tick check always: TBD vs. not bitten	2.3	1.7	3.3
ticks/TBD						Tick check always: only bitten vs. not bitten	1.5	1.0	2.4
		gender	1	9.4	0.002	Tick check always: female vs. male	1.7	1.2	2.3
		resident	1	4.7	0.03	Tick check always: seasonal vs. year-round	1.4	1.0	1.9
	How often wo Avoid tick hal	uld you say bitat (<i>n</i> = 75	you pr 6)	otect your	self agair	nst tick bites when ticks are out? (always, sometimes, never)			
		gender	2	32.2	<.0001	AvoidHab Alwavs: Female vs Male	3.9	2.4	6.3
		•				AvoidHab Sometimes: Female vs Male	2.2	1.5	3.3
	Use personal	repellent (n	= 775))					
		resident	2	36.9	<.0001	Use repellent always: seasonal vs. year-round	3.9	2.5	6.1
						Use repellent sometimes: seasonal vs. year-round	1.9	1.3	2.8
	Tuck my pant	ts into my so	ocks (n	n = 776)					
		burden	4	10.5	0.03	Tuck pants always: TBD vs only bitten	2.2	1.0	4.5
						Tuck pants sometimes: TBD vs only bitten	1.0	0.6	1.5
						Tuck pants always: TBD vs not bitten	1.0	0.6	1.7
						Tuck pants sometimes: TBD vs not bitten	1.5	1.0	2.2
						Tuck pants always: only bitten vs. not bitten	0.5	0.2	1.1
						Tuck pants sometimes: only bitten vs. not bitten	1.5	0.9	2.6
		gender	2	28.2	<.0001	Tuck pants always: female vs. male	3.2	1.9	5.4
						Tuck pants sometimes: female vs. male	2.1	1.5	2.9
		age	2	15.2	0.0005	Tuck pants always: >55 vs. 18-≤55	3.3	1.8	6.0
						Tuck pants sometimes: >55 vs. 18-≤55	1.2	0.9	1.8
		resident	2	6.2	0.04	Tuck pants always: seasonal vs. year-round	1.5	1.0	2.4
						Tuck pants sometimes: seasonal vs. year-round	1.4	1.0	2.0
	Wear light-col	lored clothing	g (n =	759)					
		gender	2	23.5	<.0001	Light-colored always: female vs. male	3.2	1.8	5.7
				~ .		Light-colored sometimes: female vs. male	2.1	1.4	3.0
		age	1	9.4	0.002	Light-colored pants always: >55 vs. 18-≤55	2.0	1.1	3.7
				4 7	0.00	Light-colored pants sometimes: >55 vs. 18-≤55	1.5	1.0	2.2
		resident	1	4.7	0.03	Light-colored always: seasonal vs. year-round	2.6	1.6	4.4
						Light-colored sometimes: seasonal vs. year-round	1.5	1.0	2.2
Dellassant	De constituire	4							
Policy support	Do you think	there is a ne				of deer on your island? ($n = 760$)	12 5	7 4	25 E
nroblems with	11	SK OF LYTTE	4	72.5	<.0001	Reduce deer agree. Lyrne risk agree vs. otherwise	13.5	1.1	20.0
door		additional	4	87.0	< 0001	Reduce deer neutral. Lythe tisk agree vs. Utiletwise	12 5	7.4	24.6
ueer		auditional	4	07.9	<.0001	Reduce deer agree. Other deer problems agree vs. Otherwise	13.5	1.4	24.0
	C	recident	2	7 8	0.02	Reduce deer neutral, other deer problems agree vs. otherwise	∠. I 1 E	1.2	3.1 2.7
		resident	2	1.0	0.02	Reduce door noutral: resident soasonal vs. year-round	1.0 2.4	12	2.1
						Reduce deer agree: no hunting tradition vs. hunting	2.1	1.2	3.0
						Reduce deer neutral: no hunting tradition vs. hunting	∠.3 1 7	1.3	4.U 2.8
						reades deer neutral, no nunting tradition vs. nunting	1.7	1.0	2.0

3.4.2.3 Personal Protective Behaviors

Among behaviors to protect against tick bite, the tick check was the one always performed by more than half the respondents (60%) and was always/sometimes performed by 97% of respondents (Table 3.6). In contrast, always/sometimes use of other protective measures ranged from 56% (tuck pants into socks) to 81% (avoid tick habitat).

Bite/disease burden was a significant predictor of always/sometimes tick checks (n = 773, df = 2, Wald chi-square = 12.1, P = 0.002, Table 3.7). Odds of respondents who had experienced tick-borne disease (through self, family, or friends) were higher than those who had bitten only or never bitten (OR 1.5, 95% CI 1.0-2.3; OR 2.3, 95% CI 1.7-3.3, respectively, Table 3.7) However, respondents bitten but never ill were no more likely to conduct a tick check than those never bitten by a tick. Thus our results were only partially consistent with hypothesis 2., because we expected bitten respondents to be more likely than non-bitten respondents to conduct tick checks. Odds of women performing tick checks were greater than for men (OR 1.7, 95% CI 1.2-1.9), as were odds of seasonal residents compared to year-round residents (OR 1.4, 95% CI 1.0-1.9).

Women were more likely to avoid tick habitat than men, both always and sometimes (OR 3.9 95% CI 2.5-6.3; OR 2.2 95% CI 1.5-3.3, respectively). Seasonal residents were more likely to use personal repellent than year-round residents, both always and sometimes (OR 3.9 95% CI 2.5-6.1; OR 1.9 95% CI 1.2-3.8, respectively). Respondents were more likely to always tuck their pants into their socks if they had experienced TBD, female, >55 years of age, and seasonal residents, and more likely to always or sometimes wear light-colored clothing if they were female, >55 years of age, and seasonal residents (ORs ranging from 1.4 to 3.3, Table 3.7). In

summary, only the tick check was both universally adopted and associated with bite/disease burden.

3.4.2.4 Support for Deer Herd Reduction

Sixty-one percent of respondents agreed there was a need to reduce deer on their island, compared to 12% who disagreed and 27% who were neutral (Table 3.6). Agreement with various deer problems ranged from increased risk of Lyme (82%) to eat my garden plants (69%) to too many, car collision, and over-browse forest vegetation (55%, 41%, 38%, respectively, Table 3.8). There was agreement with positive values as well: enjoy seeing deer (59%), value presence (48%). Only 6% of respondents hunted themselves but 38% had friends/family that were hunters.

Consistent with hypothesis 3., odds respondents supported deer herd reduction were 13 times higher for those who agreed that deer overabundance increased risk of Lyme disease (OR 13.5 95% CI 7.1-25.5) than for those who were neutral or disagreed (Table 3.7). Even those neutral on deer herd reduction were more likely to agree deer overabundance increased risk of Lyme disease (OR 3.1 95% CI 1.8-5.3).

Also consistent with hypothesis 3., Odds of respondents supporting deer herd reduction were 13 times higher for those who agreed overabundant deer caused at least one other problem (apart from Lyme disease) than for those who disagreed (OR 13.5 95% CI 7.4-24.6, Table 3.7). Even those neutral on deer herd reduction were more likely to agreed deer overabundance caused at least one other problem (OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.2-3.7).

Odds of neutrality on deer herd reduction were higher for seasonal residents than for year-round residents (OR 2.1, 95% CI 1.2-3.6, Table 3.7). Odds of support for deer herd

reduction where higher for those who did not hunt and had no family and friends who hunted (OR 2.3 CI 1.3-4.1). Removal of Islesboro respondents did not change these patterns. There were no interactions among effects in the deer herd reduction support model.

3.4.2.5 Methods of Deer Herd Reduction

Seventy-eight percent of respondents approved of deer hunting in general (island detail is in Appendix C) and 74% approved of deer hunting on their islands (Table 3.6). Sixty-two percent approved of doe permits and 60% of an expanded archery season as hunting methods to reduce deer. Only 39% of respondents approved of an expanded firearms season to reduce deer. Sixty-three percent of respondents approved of sharpshooting as a method of deer reduction.

More islanders disagreed (40%) than agreed (29%) that off-islanders should be allowed to hunt on-island if family. Across islands, more disagreed (64%) than agreed (14%) that anyone should be allowed to hunt on island; more islanders thought sharpshooting should be paid for by state or federal funds (54%) than town (33%) or private funds (9%).

3.4.2.6 Responsibility for Municipal Tick Control

In terms of who should be responsible for managing tick control, more respondents agreed the town had responsibility (79%) with the state following in 2nd (71%) and the community (i.e., unit smaller than the town, such as a neighborhood) in third (66%). Percent agreeing that responsibility lie with the federal government, non-governmental organizations, or individuals ranged from 35 to 40%. Fifty-nine percent of respondents agreed they would apply a pesticide to control ticks if it were harmless to other animals and people.

3.4.2.7 Causes of the Tick Problem

Seventy-nine percent of respondents attributed increased tick abundance to deer, 62% to rodents, 48% to climate change, and 27% to invasive plant species (Table 3.6). Among 744 respondents agreeing to one or more factors contributing to increased tick abundance, 22.0% (n = 169) agreed to one, 40.3% (n = 300) to two, 23.7% (n = 176) to three, and 13.3% (n = 99) to all four factors. Few picked just deer 13.4% (n = 100), just rodents 3.5% (n = 27), just climate change, 5.0% (n = 37) or just invasive plants 0.7% (n = 5). Consistent with hypothesis 4., three times as many respondents agreed to 1-3 causes not including invasive plants 72.0% (n = 536) than did those agreeing to 1-4 causes including invasive plants (28%, n = 208, df = 1, chi-square =150.0, P < 0.0001).

3.4.2.8 Individual Island Opinions on Lyme Disease and Deer

Differences between individual island percent agreeing versus the overall percent agreeing Lyme disease is a problem (83.6%) and overall percent agreeing there is a need to reduce the number of deer (60.8%) are found in Table 3.8. Great Diamond Island, the Cranberry Isles and Frenchboro stood out has having below 50% agreement on Lyme disease as a problem though only Great Diamond and the Cranberry Isles fell below 50% agreement on deer reduction. Reponses for each island by question are in Appendix C, Tables C.1-C.7.

	Is Lyme disease	a proble	em?		Need to reduce deer?	
Island	All islands (%)	%	difference _{Lyme}	Р	All islands (%) % difference _{deer}	Р
Cliff	83.7	100.0	16.3	*	60.8 61.9 1.1	
Long	83.7	99.0	15.3	*	60.8 81.3 20.5	*
Swans	83.7	96.0	12.3	*	60.8 57.5 -3.3	
Isle	83.7	95.9	12.3	*	60.8 54.5 -6.2	
Chebeague	83.7	93.3	9.7	*	60.8 56.7 -4.1	
Vinalhaven	83.7	90.0	6.3		60.8 75.4 14.6	*
Islesboro	83.7	86.7	3.0		60.8 69.3 8.5	
North	83.7	78.2	-5.5		60.8 61.5 0.8	
Peaks	83.7	68.4	-15.2	*	60.8 54.4 -6.4	
Great	83.7	42.9	-40.8	*	60.8 18.2 -42.6	*
Frenchboro	83.7	40.0	-43.7	*	60.8 60.0 -0.8	
Cranberry	83.7	30.8	-52.9	*	60.8 15.4 -45.4	*

Table 3.8. Differences between individual island percent agreeing versus the overall percent agreeing Lyme disease is a problem (83.6%) and overall percent agreeing there is a need to reduce the number of deer (60.8%).

3.5 Discussion

The intent of this study was two-fold: first, to assemble data on Lyme incidence, entomological risk, and deer herd management history for the unbridged islands of Maine, and second, to poll the residents of the islands to quantify their perceptions of Lyme risk and support for deer herd reduction on their islands. On Maine's offshore islands, deer densities have episodically exceeded social carrying capacity for deer, and the Island Survey indicated that risk of Lyme disease, in conjunction with other deer-related problems, were motivators of support for deer reduction at the time of the 2016 survey.

3.5.1 Island Lyme Incidence, Entomological Risk, and Deer Management History

The offshore islands of Massachusetts and Rhode Island are known for their burdens of tick-borne diseases (TBDs), and this study brings the collective burden of TBD on Maine's offshore islands into a similar focus. During 2010-14, incidences on the islands of Martha's Vineyard (coextensive with Dukes County) and Nantucket Island (coextensive with Nantucket County), MA, were 318 and 495 cases per 100,000, respectively compared to the five-year state average of 62 (MADPH 2018). Incidence was 590 in Block Island (Town of New Shoreham, RI) compared to the statewide average of 87 (RIDPH 2018). In comparison, 2013-17 Lyme incidence in Maine's island municipalities averaged 848 (range 0 to 3,972) compared to the state average of 89 cases/100,000. Where available, our entomological data showed decadal shifts from lower to higher *I. scapularis* density and infection rates. The exception was on Monhegan Island, where deer were eliminated during 1997-1999.

We could not reconstruct pre- and post-cull deer density estimates for most islands, but agency and media reports indicated overabundance led to the culls (Lavigne 1997, Moore 2003, Edgecombe 2003, Leath 2004, MEIFW 2007, Billings 2016, Fleming 2017, MEIFW 2017). Over the years, the print media have documented the narrative of deer abundance exceeding social carrying capacity for deer on the islands. The following observations of MEIFW biologists and islanders on impact of deer overabundance is illustrated through quotes from several news articles:

Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife biologist Gerry Lavigne: "In the 1980s people on Cranberry and Swan's Island began to complain about too many deer...island people probably got comfortable with having a lot of deer around, perhaps even growing accustomed to not having a garden and not seeing native vegetation, because it was a gradual change. Then Lyme Disease changed all that...It wasn't until the emergence of Lyme disease as a human risk that people began thinking seriously about controlling deer...It's why people on Monhegan, and Casco Bay island residents, voted to reduce their deer herds" (Moore 2002).

MEIFW biologist Thomas Schaeffer: "They [deer] decimate everything in sight...Native grasses and wildflowers disappeared, ornamentals disappeared. You go out there and it seems like a prison – everything is in an enclosure just to protect it from deer...Going from one end of Great Cranberry to another, it wasn't unusual to see 50 deer standing on lawns" (Moore 2002).

Randy Billings, Portland Press Herald writer: "when Peaks Island became overrun with deer...The deer herds were so large that deer were starving to death and island residents could not maintain gardens" (Billings 2016).

Whereas the residents of Monhegan ultimately were able to agree on a deer herd management program (elimination in this case), Islesboro has followed a much different trajectory. A group of Islesboro residents formed a tick control committee in the mid-2000s, and the town spent \$20,000 out of the town budget to census deer (65/mi² in 2012). A reduction program from 2012-14 resulted in little reduction of numbers (50/mi² in 2015). A group consisting mostly of summer residents (Concerned Citizens of Islesboro) offered to put \$350,000 towards deer reduction by sharpshooter (Town of Islesboro Deer Reduction Committee 2018), but in 2015 the town voted down the sharpshooting option 2 to 1 against. In 2016 the town voted against going to a regular firearms season from the current expanded archery season. The community became polarized and the tick control committee was dismantled (Fleming 2017): Sandy Oliver, Islesboro Board of Selectmen: "The problem is everywhere. And it's incredibly divisive. It's pitted some of the summer population against some of the year-round residents" (Fleming 2017).

Linda Gillies, Islesboro Deer Reduction Committee (defunct): "In 2014 and 2015 when the sharpshooting option came up, the community was fractured...People took sides and didn't speak to each other" (Fleming 2017).

Thus, for Islesboro a workable formula has not been developed yet.

On Swans Island, the 2001-03 reduction hunt that took nearly 270 deer may have been temporarily successful but in 2018 some residents and officials began to discuss another special reduction hunt. In 2018, our lab conducted a pellet group count and estimated 15 deer/mi², certainly not as high as numbers on Islesboro, but perhaps still high enough to raise concern among residents. As of this writing Swans Island may reinstate an expanded firearms season to special permit holders (S. Bard, MEIFW wildlife biologist, email communication, January 2019). The City of Portland islands (Cliff, Great Diamond, and Peaks) as well as Long Island have special hunts to apply downward pressure to deer numbers, but rather high densities (~21 to 60) suggest goals are not being met. In summary, most islands with deer have either regular or special hunts, and most are struggling to some extent to keep deer numbers down.

Without accurate data on island-acquired cases of Lyme disease and deer density it would not be appropriate to attempt to correlate Lyme incidence with entomological risk and

deer density. However, it can be noted that on the Cranberry Isles and Frenchboro, the culls of 1999-2001 with subsequent hunting pressure apparently have maintained deer at levels satisfactory to residents. Evidence for this is 1) very few survey responses compared to islands with similar populations, 2) survey results indicating well below average concern over Lyme and deer, and 3) lack of news articles compared to the other islands.

The emphasis of this study was not to show that deer densities on islands increased ticks and TBD on Maine's offshore islands, but rather that deer densities have episodically exceeded social carrying capacity for deer. The Island Survey indicated that risk of Lyme disease has been a primary motivator for deer reduction in conjunction with other deer-related problems.

3.5.2 Island Survey

In the Island Survey, 83% of island residents agreed that Lyme disease was a problem on their island whereas only 3% disagreed. Hypothesis 1. was that odds island residents would consider Lyme a problem would be greater for those who had experienced TBD followed by those bitten only, followed by those not bitten, i.e., TBD > bitten only > not bitten. Instead, we found TBD = bitten only > not bitten. Odds of respondents agreeing Lyme disease was a problem on their island were at least four times higher for those who had experienced tickborne disease (self/family) or tick bite (self/family) versus those never bitten. We interpret this to mean a tick bite elevated perception of risk of contracting Lyme disease to the same level as actually having contracted the disease. None of the control variables--gender, age class, education level—was a significant predictor, suggesting a lack of discrimination on the part of the vector tick based on these demographics. Finding a tick crawling or attached to oneself,

family, member, or even pet may immediately shift a person's subjective assessment of risk, i.e., perception of risk, from low to high. Affective reactions to a hazard are fast and automatic (Bodemer and Gaissmaier 2015). Certainly immediate feelings of disgust and fear may attend discovery of a tick on one's body. During and soon after a tick encounter, for most people there may no longer be room for optimistic bias ("it won't happen to me", Bodemer and Gaissmaier 2015, p. 7).

Among protective behaviors, the tick check was by far the most commonly used behavior, compared to avoidance of tick habitat, use of tick repellent, and clothing strategies (tucking pants into socks, wearing light-colored clothes). The tick check was the only protective behavior unequivocally associated with burden of TBD, however, people only bitten were no more likely to perform a tick check than by those never bitten. This was contrary to our expectations (hypothesis 2.) and out of alignment with the result of the first model, which showed bitten-only persons felt Lyme disease was a problem on their island to the same extent as those who had experienced TBD.

Misalignment between knowledge of risk and health behaviors is to be expected and is the topic of a massive body of research on health-related behavior (e.g., Kelly and Barker 2016). What might appear to be an irrational decision might be rational given the social, economic, and political context of the decision (Kelly and Barker 2016). For example, one might not want to go about looking rather silly with one's pants tucked into one's socks. Or, skipping a protective behavior could be a manifestation of optimism bias, whereby personal risk is discounted, to deliver in the moment a feeling of being safe (Weinstein 1989, Bodemer and Gaissmaier 2015). For example, a person going out to the garden might think they are too far

from the woods to get a tick. A return of optimistic bias is probably inevitable as time since the last tick encounter increases, since people's perceptions of risk appear to decrease most rapidly during the initial phase of a crisis and then begin to level off (Burns et al. 2012). Alternatively, optimistic bias could manifest if tick encounters are frequent but rapid tick removal has prevented TBD transmission.

Health behaviors varied by certain demographics. Women, people 55 years of age and over, and seasonal residents had a greater propensity to perform behaviors to protect against tick bites than men, younger people, and year-round residents. The gender difference was consistent with the study of Phillips et al. (2001) of residents of Nantucket Island, Massachusetts in which females practiced protective behaviors more frequently.

The behavior unique to seasonal residents was the use of personal repellent. Seasonal residents may arrive at their summer homes with a heightened awareness of the potential for a tick encounter, whether or not they come from a high Lyme incidence state. Initially at least, seasonal residents may find the hazard of TBD more proximal than year-rounders but can improve their sense of control over the risk (Slovic 1987) by applying repellents. This is only conjecture, however.

It was noteworthy that the tick check was the only protective behavior associated with having had TBD or a tick bite. Other protective behaviors were associated with individual demographics but not exposure. Similarly, Slunge and Boman (2018) found a strong positive association between exposure and tick checks but a weak association between exposure and other protective measures. It may be that people feel the tick check is the only effective (or the

best) protective measure (Connally et al. 2009), while those who have lowest tolerance for risk are those who take the extra measures.

In the 2016 Island Survey, 61% of respondents agreed there was a need to reduce deer on their island. By contrast, in a 2016 random telephone poll of Maine residents conducted on behalf of MEIFW, only 8% of the general population (n = 301) and 5% of hunters (n = 131) supported a decrease in deer abundance in the southern Maine area (Responsive Management 2016) where deer density is highest (MEIFW 2017). Indeed, 13% and 23% of the general population and hunters, respectively, supported an *increase* in deer abundance. A salient issue is by definition prominent, i.e., of notable significance or relevance. If an issue appears "unrelated to any immediate, obvious personal difficulties" there is no incentive to act; people will pay more attention to pressing issues such as "family, finances, or localized environmental issues" (Yang et al. 2014, p. 301). This study indicated that deer overabundance is a salient localized environmental issue for many Maine islanders. High salience leads to policy support (Yang et al. 2014). Clearly, survey respondents' policy support for deer reduction was much stronger than that of mainlanders'. Still, mainlanders' support for deer reduction increased when negative ecological consequences included poorer deer health and wildlife habitat quality, and increased risk of Lyme disease (Responsive Management 2016). This was consistent with a study of New Jersey residents that found support for deer reduction to prevent negative ecological consequences of not reducing deer (Johnson 2014).

Those with no hunting tradition (self/family/friends) were more likely to support deer herd reduction. It may be that non-hunters feel the only solution is a cull, whereas some hunters maybe believe regular hunting pressure is sufficient to keep deer numbers in check. It

also could mean that people with a hunting tradition may prefer higher deer densities for more productive hunting. Stafford et al. (2017) and Williams et al. (2018b) found that a hunter group in Connecticut successfully campaigned against a proposed deer cull as part of a larger integrated tick management (ITM) program that would have brought numbers down below 13/mi² (5/km²) (Williams et al. 2018b). Demographic nuances certainly have and will continue play a role in policy making from one island to the next.

Those opining on deer reduction methods favored, not surprisingly, doe permits and expanded archery over expanded firearms. Take of does is more effective in population control than buck-only take (MEIFW 2007), and archery probably is considered safer on islands than firearms, although four islands do have regular firearms seasons at this time. While these are good options for deer herd reduction, the trick is to apply enough hunting pressure, since most islanders prefer not to bring in even off-island family to increase hunting pressure. Islanders seem comfortable with special permitees, but getting enough of these permitees remains the challenge. Support for sharpshooters was over 50%, but sharpshooters cost money and there was little enthusiasm for taking that from town budgets. Nevertheless, respondents felt responsibility for tick control fell to the town for the most part, ostensibly in partnership with the state. As for who should be responsible for tick control, responses represented a middle ground with respondents feeling federal government should not bear much responsibility, nor should the individual. This is reasonable since even if an individual could treat her or his yard, it would fall to the town to treat trails, school grounds, and other common lands. This and the formation of various tick and deer control committees on various islands indicate a sense of a shared responsibility for community health improvement (LaBonte 1988, IOM 1997).

Many respondents felt they knew a lot about ticks, and desire to learn more was perhaps less than enthusiastic or at least middle-of-the-road. This was not surprising given that *I. scapularis* have been invading the islands since at least the early 1990s, that many islands have received entomological data and outreach from our lab. Certainly, the media has produced a disproportionately high volume of articles on ticks and TBD over the years compared to disease conditions that cause more hospitalizations and deaths, such as seasonal influenza, HIV, hepatitis B and C (Smith et al. 2019b). It may be that the best information for islanders (and the public at large) is cutting-edge information integrated with older information in a way that is balanced, holistic, and to the extent possible, based on scientific studies that are locally applicable.

We were interested in the relative importance islanders ascribed to four factors influencing distribution of *I. scapularis* abundance in Maine, especially the extent to which islanders emphasized one cause, or omitted invasive plant species as a cause. Interestingly, only 22% ascribed the tick problem to any one cause, and only 13% ascribed the tick problem to just deer. Considering the focus of the survey was deer herd reduction, we thought it significant that 64% selected two or three causes. This showed a majority of islanders ascribed Maine's tick problem to multiple causes.

On the other hand, and consistent with our 4th and last hypothesis, only 27% ascribed the tick problem to invasive plant species, with nearly three times as many respondents agreeing to 1-3 causes not including invasive plants vs. agreeing to 1-4 causes including invasive plants. One reason could be lack of media attention to the association between blacklegged ticks and invasive plants. A Nexis Uni[®] database search of media coverage between January 1,

2010 and December 31, 2018 that included the key phrases "Maine" and "deer ticks" resulted in 161 articles. Adding the key phrase "Japanese barberry" resulted in one article (Curtis 2018) and was the result of an interview with the author. The first evidence *I. scapularis* abundance was elevated in dense growths of Japanese barberry, Asiatic bittersweet and Japanese honeysuckle in Maine was published in the mid-2000s (Lubelczyk et al. 2004, Elias et al. 2006). Soon thereafter in Connecticut, Ward et al. (2009), and Williams and Ward (2010) confirmed higher *I. scapularis* abundance and *B. burgdorferi* infection prevalence in Japanese barberry than in native vegetation. Williams et al. (2017) have demonstrated that Japanese barberry can be suppressed with aggressive management. As Japanese barberry is invading many island and mainland landscapes, this is a key component to include in outreach on tick ecology and integrated tick management.

The "One Health" concept holds that human, veterinary, and wildlife health depend on the health of the landscape (CDC 2018c). We think the more the townspeople can be encouraged to take an ecosystem-based view of a vector-borne infectious disease system (Lambin et al. 2010), the more they can customize integrated tick management solutions for their own towns. A mosaic of characteristics contributes to high densities of *I. scapularis* in a given landscape, including distribution and abundance of suitable deer and rodent hosts, and presence of suitable tick and host habitat, and warming average climate change at the northern edge of the *I. scapularis* range (Eisen et al. 2014). This survey has given us impetus to think about using the One Heath concept as a framework for holistic communication about tickborne disease risk (e.g., Decker et al. 2011). Residents would benefit their communities by becoming adept at diagnosing the health of the landscape in which they live. There exists a

wide array of tools in the integrated pest management (IPM) toolbox (Stafford et al. 2017) available to communities for tick control. Even if people inadvertently have created a mosaic of policies that optimize landscape pathogenicity, they might be able to restore their landscapes to health. Holistic, One Health thinking (e.g., Stafford et al. 2017) may help communities mired in controversy over deer reduction to think of alternative ITM strategies.

3.5.3 Shortcomings of the Study

Challenges in this study included 1) assessment of the burden of Lyme disease, 2) incomplete data on entomological risk, 3) incomplete data on deer herd management histories, and 4) unknown bias associated with convenience sample.

First, a major challenge is assessing the true burden of tick-borne disease for towns with small populations. When the population of an island is, for example, 70, just one case of Lyme disease attributed to the island municipality raises the incidence from zero to 300, over the three times the state average, notwithstanding travel history of the case. Nevertheless, by aggregating across years and islands we had reasonable confidence in the figures from the Maine Center for Disease Control.

Second, due to the vagaries research funding, and it was not possible to accrue consistent entomological data over time for most islands. But by summarizing to the decadal level, we were able to provide reasonable evidence that *I. scapularis* and *B. burgdorferi* infection prevalence have increased over time (with the exception of Monhegan Island).

Third, deer management histories were partial, but the summary we assembled was deemed reasonably complete by MEIFW biologists (N. Bieber, and K. Kemper, email

communication, December 2018; S. Lindsay, H. Jones, S. Bard, email communication, January 2019).

Fourth, the island survey was a convenience sample. In the 2016, Maine Inland Fisheries and Wildlife conducted a random sample survey of Maine residents' opinions on big game management by telephone. Demographics of respondents were 52% women, 37% 55+ years of age, and 42% with college degrees or higher, and 14% with post-graduate degrees (Responsive Management 2016). By contrast, in the Island survey respondents were 70% women, 72% 55+ years of age, 76% with college degrees or higher, and 42% with post-graduate degrees. It may be that we heard from more women than men because women are more likely to be health care managers of the household (Grant et al. 2004, U.S. Department of Labor 2005), and the focus of our survey was on health risk, not big game management. Perhaps older women with more education and household income had more time and opportunity to take surveys. Twenty-one percent of respondents were females age 55+ with a post-graduate degree and incomes \$55,000 or higher. When we ran the models without this group, odds ratios varied slightly from the original models, but the relationships did not change, e.g., odds of respondents agreeing Lyme disease was a problem on their island higher for those who had experienced tick-borne disease (self/family) or tick bite (self/family) versus those never bitten. Still, people who don't have problems with ticks or no time for surveys were probably less likely to take the survey and we recognize this as a source of bias. Despite the survey's biases, the deer herd management history of the islands corroborated the survey finding that Lyme disease and deer overabundance are salient issues on most islands. Furthermore, even a random

sample would have represented a snapshot in time. The best up-to-date metric of public opinion is the town vote.

3.5.4 Recommendations

First, we recommend that island communities keep tabs on their deer densities by way of censuses, perhaps every five years. Aerial census is expensive, but deer pellet group counts can be done for less money or even by volunteer effort. That way, if a community commits to a cull followed by an aggressive maintenance plan, effectiveness of the program can be assessed. What should be the target deer density? In 2002, MEIFW biologist Gerry Lavigne stated "If you really want the complete mix of native flora, you have to keep deer below 20. Not many have that low a density." Moore (2002). To suppress *I. scapularis* and Lyme disease, it has been suggested that density of white-tailed deer should be lowered to below a threshold in the range of 8-13/mi² (Telford 1993, Telford 2002, Stafford et al. 2003, Stafford 2007, Kilpatrick et al. 2014, Telford 2017, Chapter 2). MEIFW expresses deer density goals in increments of five, with current goals of 10/mi², 15/mi², 20/mi², for the northernmost, southernmost, and central wildlife management districts (WMDs), respectively (MEIFW 2017). We recommend that deer density goals not exceed 15/mi² on the islands and that islanders consider goals below this where culturally acceptable. Deer density estimates are only one way to assess deer abundance and measurable goals. Systems that measure deer and landscape health could corroborate or supplant deer censuses.

The second recommendation is that communities organize efforts to inventory and remove invasive plant species associated with ticks, namely, oriental bittersweet, and Japanese honeysuckle, and especially, Japanese barberry. Peaks Island has conducted at least two rounds

of invasive plant species removal to restore native vegetation, and the Town of Falmouth has a budget to remove its invasive plants (Town of Falmouth 2018). If deer herd reduction is a polarizing issue, as it was in Islesboro, a community might focus on other tick control methods. Invasive plant species removal is never easy, but is relatively non-controversial, and actionable on a community and individual level, which is empowering (Witte 1994). Invasive plant removal is money and time well spent, because it allows restoration of native plants and wildlife species in addition eliminating *I. scapularis* habitat. The sale of Japanese barberry and other invasive plants was banned in Maine in 2017; information on identification, removal, and replacement can be found with the Maine Invasive Species Network

(<u>https://extension.umaine.edu/invasivespecies</u>) and the Maine Natural Areas Program (https://www.maine.gov/dacf/mnap/features/invasive_plants/invasives.htm).

The third set of recommendations is for communicators involved in outreach on tick ecology and integrated tick management. Communicators can be town officials, natural resource managers, vector ecologists, public health officials, lay persons, and others. First, communicators will benefit from a fundamental knowledge of risk communication principles. For an overview of psychological underpinnings and methods of risk communication we recommend Bodemer and Gaissmaier (2015). The style of outreach should gain trust, establish common values, be procedurally fair, and empowering (Slovic 1993, Witte 1994, Siegrist and Cvetkovich 2000, Poortinga and Pidgeon 2006, McComas et al. 2007, Besley and McComas 2013, Webler 2013). Second, communicators should have a thorough, current, and holistic grasp of the body of research findings and the array of integrated tick management options. Here we have emphasized deer and invasive plant management, but other current (e.g., rodent bait boxes) or future ITM options (e.g., commercially available entomopathogenic fungus, Metarhizium spp.) may be feasible. Communicators also should be sensitive to the locale, history and culture(s) of their audiences. For example, in a coastal fishing community, deer reduction might be feasible, but pesticide application may be completely out of the question, whereas the opposite could be true inland. Outreach also needs to apply research findings with awareness of where the research was conducted. For example, the ecology of Lyme disease in a state such as New York may differ from a state such as Maine because of the varying cultural and ecological contexts, leading to differing policy solutions. Third, communicators should consider framing their outreach in terms of landscape health, i.e., use the One Health framework. This requires awareness of what the current media focus is, and ability to steer stakeholders away from single-issue thinking. A case in point was the Washington Post article "Why this adorable mouse is to blame for the spread of Lyme disease" (Bever 2017). This article focused solely on mice without addressing the larger ecological context of Lyme disease and it also failed to mention how important mice are as prey to many species of wildlife. As Dr. Alessio Mortelitti, University of Maine Professor of Wildlife Ecology has said: "small mammals are the sandwiches of the forest". Unfortunately, the Bever (2017) article took a "blame wildlife" stance (Roh et al. 2015). Lu et al. (2016) found that acknowledging the benefits of bats (insect control) along with the health risks (rabies) led to greater intentions on the part of national park visitors to report odd bat behavior to park rangers. In conversations about the role of native wild mammal and bird species in the ecology of Lyme disease, we suggest communicators balance discussions by including the benefits of these species. Healthy balance is the essence of the OneHealth concept.

3.6 Conclusions

Communities and natural resource management agencies and public health institutions have wrestled with the controversial issue of deer reduction to control ticks, reduce vehicle collision rates and damage to orchards and peridomestic landscaping, and to improve forest health and health of the deer herd (e.g., Beguin et al. 2009, McShea 2012, Telford 2017). The process of deciding on how to control ticks, including deer herd management, can be lengthy, difficult, and divisive for a community. Our motivation was to assist by providing information to island residents and their collaborators, such as town and city administrators, natural resource managers, public health officials, and vector-borne disease ecologists. As a matter of public policy, MEIFW already considers the relationship between deer and *I. scapularis* important when setting goals for big game species in Maine's wildlife management districts (MEIFW 2017). Since Maine islands have a tradition of awareness of deer overabundance and deer herd management strategies, we think the role of the scientific and public health community is to affirm these efforts and assist with specific recommendations, when requested. Recommendations should suit local environmental conditions and cultural norms. Our bottomline recommendation for the island communities is to keep deer ≤15/mi² and remove invasive vegetation. Even when Lyme vaccine and anti-tick vaccines come to market, deer herd management and invasive plant species removal will have benefits that extend beyond vector tick control.

REFERENCES CITED

- Adams DA, Thomas KR, Jajosky R, et al. Summary of notifiable infectious diseases and conditions — United States, 2014. MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2016;63:1-152.
- Allan BF, Keesing F, Ostfeld RS. Effect of forest fragmentation on Lyme disease risk. Conservation Biology. 2003;17(1):267-272.
- Anderson JF, Magnarelli LA, McAninch JB. *Ixodes dammini* and *Borrelia burgdorferi* in northern New England and upstate New York. Journal of Parasitology. 1987;73(2):419-421.
- Arcuti S, Calculli C, Pollice A, D'Onghia G. Spatio-temporal modelling of zero-inflated deep-sea shrimp data by Tweedie generalized additive models. Statistica. 2013;73(1):87-101.
- Arsnoe IM, Hickling GJ, Ginsberg HS, McElreath R, Tsao JI. Different populations of blacklegged tick nymphs exhibit differences in questing behavior that have implications for human Lyme disease risk. PLoS ONE. 2015;10: e0127450.
- Baayen, RH, van Rij J, de Cat C, Wood, S. Autocorrelated errors in experimental data in the language sciences: Some solutions offered by generalized additive mixed models. In: Speelman D, Heylen K, Geeraerts D, eds. Mixed-Effects Regression Models in Linguistics, Quantitative Methods in the Humanities and Social Sciences. New York, NY: Springer International Publishing; 2018.
- Bakken JS, Dumler JS, Chen S, Eckman MR, Etta LLV, Walker DH. Human granulocytic ehrlichiosis in the upper Midwest United States: A new species emerging. Journal of the American Medical Association. 1994;272(3):212-218.
- Bedford NL, Hoekstra HE. Peromyscus mice as a model for studying natural variation. eLife. 2015;4:e06813. doi: 10.7554/eLife.06813
- Beguin, J, Prévost M, Pothier, D, Côté, SD. Establishment of natural regeneration under severe browsing pressure from white-tailed deer after group seed-tree cutting with scarification on Anticosti Island. Canadian Journal of Forest Resources. 2009;39(3):596-605.
- Berger KA, Ginsberg HS, Gonzalez L, Mather TN. Relative humidity and activity patterns of *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae). Journal of Medical Entomology. 2014a;51(4):769–776.
- Berger KA, Ginsberg HS, Dugas KD, Hamel LH, Mather TN. 2014b. Adverse moisture events predict seasonal abundance of Lyme disease vector ticks (*Ixodes scapularis*). Parasites and Vectors. 2014b;7:181. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-3305-7-18

- Bertrand MR, Wilson ML. Microclimate-dependent survival of unfed adult *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae) in nature: life cycle and study design implications. Journal of Medical Entomology. 1996;33(4):619-627.
- Besley JC, McComas KA. Fairness, public engagement, and risk communication. *In* Arvai J, Rivers L, eds. Effective risk communication. London: Routledge; 2013:108-123.
- Bever L. July 17, 2017. Why this adorable mouse is to blame for the spread of Lyme disease. The Washington Post.
- Billings R. November 17, 2016. Shots heard 'round 3 Portland islands as annual culling of deer begins. <u>https://www.pressherald.com/2016/11/17/in-case-you-herd-it-annual-deer-hunts-underway-on-portland-islands/</u>
- Birkel SD, Mayewski PA. Coastal Maine Climate Futures. Orono, ME: Climate Change Institute, University of Maine; 2018.
- Bodemer N, Gaissmaier W. Risk perception. *In* Cho H, Reimer T, McComas KA eds. The Sage Handbook of Risk Communication. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 2015:10-23.
- Brisson D, Dykhuizen DE, Ostfeld RS. Conspicuous impacts of inconspicuous hosts on the Lyme disease epidemic. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. 2008;275(1631):227-35.
- Brisson D, Drecktrah D, Eggers CH, Samuels DH. Genetics of *Borrelia burgdorferi*. Annual Review of Genetics. 2012;46: 515-536.
- Brownstein JS, Holford TR, Fish D. A climate-based model predicts the spatial distribution of the Lyme disease vector *lxodes scapularis* in the United States. Environmental Health Perspectitves. 2003;111(9):1152-7.
- Brownstein JS, Holford TR, Fish D. Effect of climate change on Lyme disease risk in North America. Ecohealth. 2005a;2(1):38–46.
- Brownstein JS, Skelly DK, Holford TR, Fish D. Forest fragmentation predicts local scale heterogeneity of Lyme disease risk. Oecologia. 2005b;146(3):469.
- Brunner JL, oGiudice K, Ostfeld RS. Estimating reservoir competence of *Borrelia burgdorferi* hosts: prevalence and infectivity, sensitivity, and specificity. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2008;45(1):139-147.
- Brunner JL, Killilea M, Ostfeld RS. Overwintering survival of nymphal *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae) under natural conditions. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2012;49(5):981-7.

- Burks CS, Stewart RL, Needham GR, Lee RE. The role of direct chilling injury and inoculative freezing in cold tolerance of *Amblyomma americanum*, *Dermacentor variabilis* and *Ixodes scapularis*. Physiological Entomology. 1996;21(1):44-50.
- Burns WJ, Peters E, Slovic P. Risk perception and the economic crisis: A longitudinal study of the trajectory of perceived risk. Risk Analysis 2012;32(4):659–677.
- Byers JE, Smith RS, Pringle JM, Clark GF, Gribben PE, Hewitt CL, Inglis GJ, Johnston EL, Ruiz GM, Stachowicz JJ, Bishop MJ. Invasion Expansion: Time since introduction best predicts global ranges of marine invaders. Scientific Reports. 2015;5:12436. doi: 10.1038/srep12436.
- Candy SG. Modelling catch and effort data using generalized linear models, the Tweedie distribution, random vessel effects and random stratum-by-year effects. CCAMLR Science. 2004;11:59-80.
- Cartter ML, Lynfield R, Feldman KA, Hook SA, Hinckley AF. Lyme disease surveillance in the United States: Looking for ways to cut the Gordian knot. Zoonoses and Public Health. 2018;65(2):227-229.
- Cavanaugh CE, Muscat PL, Telford SR 3rd, Goethert H, Pendlebury W, Elias SP, Robich R, Welch M, Lubelczyk CB, Smith RP. Fatal deer tick virus infection in Maine. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2017;65(1-2):1043-6.
- CDC (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention). 2018a. cdc.gov/lyme/stats/index.html. Accessed 10/9/2018.
- CDC (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention). 2018b. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/onehealth/index.html. Accessed 10/9/2018</u>. Accessed 10/9/2018.
- CDC (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention). 2018c. https://www.cdc.gov/onehealth/index.html. Accessed 12/29/2018.
- Cleveland WS, Devlin SJ. Locally weighted regression: an approach to regression analysis by local fitting. Journal of the American Statistical Association. 1988;83(40):596-610.
- Clow KM, Leighton PA, Ogden NH, Lindsay LR, Michel P, Pearl DL, Jardine CM. Northward range expansion of *Ixodes scapularis* evident over a short timescale in Ontario, Canada. PLoS ONE. 2017;12(12): e0189393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0189393</u>
- Clow KM, Finer R, Lumsden G, Jardine CM. Assessing the repeatability of tick dragging as a method for *Ixodes scapularis* surveillance. Vector-borne and Zoonotic Diseases. 2018;18(11):628-631.
- Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. 2nd ed. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum. 1988.
- Colby Environmental Policy Group. 2014. State of Maine's Environment 2014. Waterville, Maine: Colby College Environmental Studies Program. 2014. http://web.colby.edu/stateofmaine2014/files/2012/09/2014-Full-Report-Draft.pdf
- Comstedt P, Schüler W, Meinke A, Lundberg U. The novel Lyme borreliosis vaccine VLA15 shows broad protection against Borrelia species expressing six different OspA serotypes. PLOS ONE. 2017;12(9):e0184357. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0184357
- Connally NP, Durante AJ, Yousey-Hindes KM, Meek JJ, Nelson RS, Heimer R. Peridomestic Lyme disease prevention: results of a population-based case-control study. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2009;37(3):201-206.
- Craig LE, Norris DE, M L Sanders, Glass GE, Schwartz BS. Acquired resistance and antibody response of raccoons (*Procyon lotor*) to sequential feedings of *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae). Veterinary Parasitology. 1996;63(3-4):291-301.
- Curtis A. August 8, 2018. How an invasive plant is helping ticks survive. Bangor Daily News. Retrieved from Nexis Uni 3/3/2019 and https://bangordailynews.com/2018/08/08/homestead/how-an-invasive-plant-ishelping-ticks-survive. Accessed 3/3/2019.
- Dai A. Recent climatology, variability and trends in global surface humidity. Journal of Climate. 2006;19:3589-3606. https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI3816.1
- Dantas-Torres F, Lia RP, Capelli G, Otranto D. Efficiency of flagging and dragging for tick collection. Experimental and Applied Acarology. 2013;61(1):119-27.
- Dark SJ, Bram D. The modifiable areal unit problem (MAUP) in physical geography. Progress in Physical Geography. 2007;31(5)471–479.
- Deblinger RD, Wilson ML, Rimmer DW, Spielman A. Reduced abundance of immature *Ixodes dammini* (Acari: Ixodidae) following incremental removal of deer. Journal of Medical Entomology. 1993;30(1):144-50.
- Decker DJ, Siemer WF, Wild MA, Castle KT, Wong D, Leong KM. Communicating about zoonotic disease: Strategic considerations for wildlife professionals. Wildlife Society Bulletin. 2011;35(2):112–119.
- Diuk-Wasser MA, Vourc'h G, Cislo P, Hoen AG, Melton F, Hamer SA, Rowland M, Cortinas R, Hickling GJ, Tsao JI, Barbour AG, Kitron U, Piesman J, Fish D. Field and climate-based

model for predicting the density of host-seeking nymphal *Ixodes scapularis*, an important vector of tick-borne disease agents in the eastern United States. Global Ecology and Biogeography. 2010;19(4):504-514.

- Donahue JG, Piesman J, Spielman A. Reservoir competence of white-footed mice for Lyme disease spirochetes. The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene. 1987;36(1):92–96.
- Dunn PK, Smyth GK. Evaluation of Tweedie exponential dispersion model densities by Fourier inversion. Statistics and Computing. 2008;18(1):73-86.
- Dunn PK. tweedie: Tweedie exponential family models. R package version 2.1.7. 2013.
- Eaves E. Gene drive pioneer Kevin Esvelt tries to make science less secret. Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists. 2018;74(2):132-138.
- Edgecombe M. November 29-30, 2003. Islanders find relief in deer hunt. Bangor Daily News.
- Eisen RJ, Eisen L, Lane RS. 2002. Seasonal activity patterns of *Ixodes pacificus* nymphs in relation to climatic conditions. Medical Veterinary Entomology. 2002;16:235-244.
- Eisen RJ, Eisen L, Castro MB, Lane RS. Environmentally related variability in risk of exposure to Lyme disease spirochetes in northern California: effect of climatic conditions and habitat type. Environmental Entomology. 2003;32:1010-1018.
- Eisen RJ, Eisen L, Ogden NH, Beard CB. Linkages of weather and climate with *Ixodes scapularis* and *Ixodes pacificus* (Acari: Ixodidae), enzootic transmission of *Borrelia burgdorferi*, and Lyme disease in North America. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2016;53(2):250–261.
- Eisen L. Pathogen transmission in relation to duration of attachment by *Ixodes scapularis* ticks. Ticks and Tick-borne Diseases. 2018;9(3):535-542.
- Eisen L, Dolan MC. Evidence for personal protective measures to reduce human contact with blacklegged ticks and for environmentally based control methods to suppress hostseeking blacklegged ticks and reduce infection with Lyme disease spirochetes in tick vectors and rodent reservoirs. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2016;53(5):1063–1092.
- Elias SP, Witham JW, Hunter ML. *Peromyscus leucopus* abundance and acorn mast: population fluctuation patterns over 20 years. Journal of Mammalogy. 2004;85(4):743–747.
- Elias SP, Lubelczyk CB, Rand PW, Lacombe EH, Holman MS, and Smith RP Jr. Deer browse resistant exotic-invasive understory: an indicator of elevated human risk of exposure to *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae) in southern coastal Maine woodlands. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2006;43(6):1142-52.

- Elias SP, RP Smith Jr, SR Morris, PW Rand, Lubelczyk C. Density of *Ixodes scapularis* ticks on Monhegan Island after complete deer removal: A question of avian importation? Journal of Vector Ecology. 2011;36(1):11-23.
- Elias SP, Bonthius J, Robinson S, Robich RM, Lubelczyk CB, Smith RP. Surge in anaplasmosis cases in Maine, USA, as related to transmission and testing effort. Emerging Infectious Diseases. 2019;00(0):000-000

ESRI (Environmental Systems Research Institute). ArcGIS® Release 10.6. 2018. Redlands, CA.

- Estrada-Pena A. Increasing habitat suitability in the United States for the tick that transmits Lyme disease: a remote sensing approach. Environmental Health Perspectives. 2002;110(7):635-640.
- Fernandez IJ, Schmitt CV, Birkel SD, Stancioff E, Pershing AJ, Kelley JT, Runge JA, Jacobson GL, Mayewski PA. Maine's climate future: 2015 update. Orono, ME: University of Maine. 2015. 24pp.
- Fish D. Population ecology of *Ixodes dammini* and Borrelia burgdorferi. In: Ginsberg HS, ed. Ecology and Environmental Management of Lyme Disease. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press; 1993. 224 pp.
- Fleming D. May 14, 2017. Portland Press Herald. <u>https://www.pressherald.com/2017/05/14/islesboros-deer-problem-puts-residents-in-limbo/</u>
- Garman SL, O'Connell AF Jr, Connery JH. Habitat use and distribution of the mice *Peromyscus leucopus* and *P. maniculatus* on Mount Desert Island, Maine. Canadian Field-Naturalist. 1994;108:67-71.
- Ginsberg HS. Geographical spread of *Ixodes dammini* and *Borrelia burgdorferi*. In: Ginsberg HS, ed. Ecology and Environmental Management of Lyme Disease. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press; 1993. 224 pp.
- Ginsberg HS, Ewing CP. Deer ticks, *Ixodes dammini* (Acari: Ixodidae), and Lyme disease spirochetes, *Borrelia burgdorferi*, in Maine. Journal of Medical Entomology. 1988;25(4):303-4.
- Gray JS, Dautel H, Estrada-Pena A, Kahl O, Lindgren E. Effects of climate change on ticks and tick-borne diseases in Europe. Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Infectious Diseases. 2009;2009:593232.

- Grant KR, Amaratunga C, Armstrong P, Boscoe M, Pederson A, Willson, K eds. Caring for/caring about: women, homecare, and unpaid caregiving. Aurora, Canada: Garamond Press, Ltd.; 2004.
- Groening T. March 13, 2015. The Working Waterfront. Retirements, resignations and tenacious deer—roundup from Maine Islands Coalition. <u>http://www.islandinstitute.org/working-waterfront/retirements-resignations-and-tenacious-deer%E2%80%94roundup-maine-islands-coalition</u>
- Groening, T. November 16, 2016. Island tick survey gathering data, but more participants sought; anonymous; online survey a step toward better policy. The Working Waterfront 2016 <u>http://www.islandinstitute.org/working-waterfront/island-tick-survey-gatheringdata-more-participants-sought</u>. Accessed 11/16/2016.
- Hanks EM, Schliep EM, Hooten MB, Hoeting, JA. Restricted spatial regression in practice: geostatistical models, confounding, and robustness under model misspecification. Environmetrics. 2015;26(4):243–254.
- Hazler KR, Ostfeld RS. Larval density and feeding success of *Ixodes scapularis* on two species of Peromyscus. Journal of Parasitology. 1995;81(6):870-5.
- Hodges JS, Reich BJ. Adding spatially-correlated errors can mess up the fixed effect you love. The American Statistician. 2010;64(4)325-334.
- Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S. Applied logistic regression. 2nd ed. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 2000.
- Hughes J, Haran M. Dimension reduction and alleviation of confounding for spatial generalized linear mixed models. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society B. 2013;75(1):139–159.
- Hughes J. ngspatial: a package for fitting the centered autologistic and sparse spatial generalized linear mixed models for areal data. The R Journal. 2014;6(2):81-95.
- Huntington TG, Hodgkins GA, Keim BD, Dudley RW. Changes in the proportion of precipitation occurring as snow in New England (1949 to 2000). Journal of Climate. 2004;17:2626-2636.
- Hurlbert SH. Pseudoreplication and the design of ecological field experiments. Ecological Monographs. 1984;54(2):187-211.
- IOM (Institute of Medicine). Improving health in the community: a role for performance monitoring. Durch JS, Bailey LA, Stoto MA, eds. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press 1997.

- Jacoby J, Matell MS. Three-point Likert scales are good enough," Journal of Marketing Research. 1971;8(4):495-500.
- Johnson JL, Ginsberg HS, Zhioua E, Whitworth UG, Markowski D, Hyland KE, and Hu R. Passive tick surveillance, dog seropositivity, and the incidence of human Lyme disease. Vector Borne Zoonotic Diseases. 2004;4(2)137-142.
- Johnson BB. Bases of support differ for deer reduction versus behavior change options to manage deer impacts. Human Dimensions of Wildlife. 2014;19:(1)33-46.
- Jones H, Pekins PJ, Kantar L, Sidor I, Ellingwood D, Lichtenwalner A, O'Neal M. Mortality assessment of calf moose (*Alces alces*) during successive years of winter tick (*Dermacentor albipictus*) epizootics in New Hampshire and Maine. Canadian Journal of Zoology. Canadian Journal of Zoology. 2019;97(1):22-30.
- Jordan, RA, Schulze TL, Jahn MB. Effects of reduced deer density on the abundance of *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae) and Lyme disease incidence in a northern New Jersey endemic area. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2007;44(5):752-757.
- Khatchikian CE, Prusinski M, Stone M, Backenson PB, Wang IN, Levy MZ, Brisson D. Geographical and environmental factors driving the increase in the Lyme disease vector *Ixodes scapularis*. Ecosphere. 2012;3(10):art85. doi: 10.1890/ES12-00134.1
- Keesing F, Brunner J, Duerr S, Killilea M, LoGiudice K, Schmidt K, Vuong H, Ostfeld RS. Hosts as ecological traps for the vector of Lyme disease. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. 2009;276:3911-9.
- Kelley K, Clark B, Brown V, Sitzia J. Good practice in the conduct and reporting of survey research. International Journal for Quality in Health Care. 2003;15(3):261-266.
- Kelly MP, Barker M. Why is changing health-related behaviour so difficult? Public Health. 2016;136(July):109-16. doi:10.1016/j.puhe.2016.03.030.
- Kilpatrick HJ, Labonte AM, Stafford KC. The relationship between deer density, tick abundance, and human cases of Lyme disease in a residential community. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2014;51(4):777-784.
- Kilpatrick AM, Dobson ADM, Levi T, Salkeld DJ, Swei A, Ginsberg HS, Kjemtrup A, Padgett KA, Jensen PM, Fish D, Ogden NH, Diuk-Wasser MA. Lyme disease ecology in a changing world: consensus, uncertainty and critical gaps for improving control. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B. 2017;372(1722):20160117 doi:10.1098/rstb.2016.0117.

- Kugeler KJ, Jordan RA, Schulze TL, Griffith KS, Mead PS. Will culling white-tailed deer prevent Lyme disease? Zoonoses and Public Health. 2016;63(5):337-345.
- Labonte R. Health promotion: from concepts to strategies. Health Care Management Forum. 1988;1(3):24–30.
- Lambin EF, Tran A, Vanwambeke SO, Linard C, Soti V. Pathogenic landscapes: interactions between land, people, disease vectors, and their animal hosts. International Journal of Health Geographics. 2010;9:54.
- Larsen K. GAM: The Predictive Modeling Silver Bullet. 2015. <u>http://multithreaded.stitchfix.com/assets/files/gam.pdf</u>. Accessed 01/20/19.
- Lavigne GR. White-tailed deer assessment and strategic plan, 1997. Augusta, ME: Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife; 1999. 104pp.
- Leath D. March 1, 2004. Deer control debated on islands. The Working Waterfront. <u>http://www.workingwaterfrontarchives.org/2004/03/01/deer-control-debated-on-islands/</u>
- Lehmann DR, Hulbert J. Are three-point scales always good enough? Journal of Marketing Research. 1972;9(4):444–446.
- Leighton PA, Koffi JK, Pelcat Y, Lindsay LR, Ogden NH. Predicting the speed of tick invasion: an empirical model of range expansion for the Lyme disease vector *Ixodes scapularis* in Canada. Journal of Applied Ecology. 2012;49(2):457–464.
- Leven R. October 17, 2014. Other islands embrace changes in deer hunt. Mount Desert Islander. http://www.mdislander.com/maine-news/islands-embrace-changes-deer-hunt
- Levi T, Keesing F, Oggenfuss K, Ostfeld RS. Accelerated phenology of blacklegged ticks under climate warming. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B. 2015;370(1665).
- Linard C, Lamarque P, Heyman P, Ducoffre G, Luyasu V, Tersago K, Vanwambeke SO, Lambin EF. Determinants of the geographic distribution of Puumala virus and Lyme borreliosis infections in Belgium. International Journal of Health Geography. 2007;6:15.
- Linske MA, Williams SC, Stafford KC III, Ortega IM. *Ixodes scapularis* reservoir host diversity and abundance impacts on dilution of *Borrelia burgdorferi* in residential and woodland habitats in Connecticut, USA. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2018;55(3):681-690.
- Linske A, Stafford K, Williams C, Lubelczyk CB, Welch M, Henderson EF. Impacts of deciduous leaf litter and snow presence on nymphal *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae)

overwintering survival in coastal New England, USA. Environmental Entomology. 2019;in prep.

- Lindsay LR, Barker IK, Surgeoner GA, McEwen SA, Gillespie TJ, and Robinson JT. Survival and development of *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae) under various climatic conditions in Ontario, Canada. Journal of Medical Entomology. 1995;32(2):143-52.
- Lindsay LR, Barker IK, Gordon Surgeoner A, Mcewen SA, Gillespie TJ, Addison EM. Survival and development of the different life stages of *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae) held within four habitats on Long Point, Ontario, Canada. Journal of Medical Entomology. 1998;35(3)189-199.
- Lubelczyk CB, Elias SP, Rand PW, Holman MS, Lacombe EH, and Smith RP. Habitat associations of *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae) in Maine. Environmental Entomology. 2004;33(4): 900-906.
- Lyon B, Barnston AG. Diverse characteristics of U.S. summer heat waves. 2017;30(October);7827-7845. https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-17-0098.1
- Lu H, McComas KA, Buttke DE, Roh S, Wild MA. One Health message about bats increases intentions to follow public health guidance on bat rabies. PLoS ONE. 2016;11(5) https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0156205
- MacQueen DM, C Lubelczyk, S. Elias, B.Cahill, A. Mathers, EH Lacombe, PW Rand, RP Smith Jr. Genotypic Diversity of an emergent population of *Borrelia burgdorferi* at a coastal island recently colonized by *Ixodes scapularis*. Journal of Vector Borne and Zoonotic Diseases. 2012;12: 456-461.
- MADPH (Massachusetts Department of Public Health). Lyme Disease Surveillance Data. 2018. <u>https://www.mass.gov/lists/tick-borne-disease-surveillance-summaries-and-data</u>. Accessed 11/27/18.
- McComas KA, Trumbo CW, Besley JC. Public meetings about suspected cancer clusters: The impact of voice, interactional justice, and risk perception on attendees' attitudes in six communities. Journal of Health Communication. 2007;12(6):527-549.
- McShea WJ. Ecology and management of white-tailed deer in a changing world. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2012;1249(February):45–56.
- MECDC (Maine Center for Disease Control and Prevention) Maine Tracking Network: Tickborne disease: Incidence. 2018a. https://data.mainepublichealth.gov/tracking/. Accessed 8/25/18.

- MECDC (Maine Center for Disease Control and Prevention). Reportable Infectious Diseases in Maine 2017 Summary. Robinson S, Peranzi C, eds. 2018b. www.maine.gov/dhhs/mecdc/infectious-disease/epi/publications/#annualreports. Accessed 09/20/18
- Mather TN, Wilson ML, Moore SI, Ribeiro JMC, Spielman S. Comparing the relative potential of rodents as reservoirs of the Lyme disease spirochete (*Borrelia burgdorferi*). American Journal of Epidemiology. 1989;130(1):143–150.
- Mead P, Hinckley A, Hook S, Beard CB. TickNET a collaborative public health approach to tickborne disease surveillance and research. Emerging Infectious Diseases. 2015;21(9):1574–1577.
- MEIFW (Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife). Deer population management system and database. Augusta, ME: Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife; 2007. 351pp. <u>https://www.maine.gov/ifw/docs/deer-managementsystem2007.pdf</u> Accessed 10/3/2018.
- MEIFW (Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife). 2017 Big Game Management Plan. Augusta, ME: Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife; 2017. 97pp. <u>https://www.maine.gov/ifw/docs/biggamemanagement_18-03.pdf</u>. Accessed 10/3/2018.
- Maine GeoLibrary. Maine Library of Geographic Information. <u>https://geolibrary-</u> <u>maine.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/wildlife-management-districts</u>. Accessed 10/25/17.
- Miller D. Generalized Additive Models. Lecture presented at: Ecological Society of America Annual Meeting, Fort Lauderdale, FL; August 6, 2016. <u>https://eric-</u> <u>pedersen.github.io/mgcv-esa-workshop/slides.html</u>. Accessed 01/20/19.
- Miller KM, McGill B. Compounding human stressors cause major regeneration debt in over half of eastern US forests. Journal of Applied Ecology. 2019:1-12.
- MMCRI (Maine Medical Center Research Institute Vector-borne Disease Lab). Swans Island density estimate based on a 2018 deer pellet count. Unpublished data. 2018.
- Moore B. June 1, 2002. Deer, islands, and people. The Working Waterfront. http://www.workingwaterfrontarchives.org/2002/06/01/deer-islands-and-people/
- Moore SM, Eisen RJ, Monaghan A, Mead P. Meteorological influences on the seasonality of Lyme disease in the United States. The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene. 2014;90(3):486-496.

- MRLC. 2018. MultiResolution Land Characteristics Consortium. <u>http://www.mrlc.gov</u> Accessed 6/12/18.
- Mullinix KJ, Leeper TJ, Druckman JN, Freese J. The generalizability of survey experiments. Journal of Experimental Political Science. 2015;2(2):109-138.
- Mur J, López F, Angulo A. Symptoms of instability in models of spatial dependence. Geographical Analysis. 2008;40(2):89-211.
- NCL. The NCAR Command Language (Version 6.4.0). Boulder, Colorado: UCAR/NCAR/CISL/TDD. 2017. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5065/D6WD3XH5</u>
- Needham GR, Teel PD. Off-host physiological ecology of Ixodid ticks. Annual Review of Entomology. 1991;36:659-681.
- Nicholson MC, Mather TN. Methods for evaluating Lyme disease risks using geographic information systems and geospatial analysis. Journal of Medical Entomology. 1996;33:711-720.
- Ogawa R, Mortelliti A, Witham JW, Hunter ML. Demographic mechanisms linking tree seeds and rodent population fluctuations: insights from a 33-year study. Journal of Mammalogy. 2017;98(2):419-427.
- Ogden NH, Lindsay LR, Beauchamp G, Charron D, Maarouf A, O'Callaghan CJ, Waltner-Toews D, Barker IK. Investigation of relationships between temperature and developmental rates of tick *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae) in the laboratory and field. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2004;41(4):622-633.
- Ogden NH, Bigras-Poulin M, O'Callaghan CJ, Barker IK, Lindsay LR, Maarouf A, Smoyer-Tomic KE, Waltner-Toews D, Charron D. A dynamic population model to investigate effects of climate on geographic range and seasonality of the tick *Ixodes scapularis*. International Journal of Parasitology. 2005;35(4):375-389.
- Ogden NH, Maarouf A, Barker IK, Bigras-Poulin M, Lindsay LR, Morshed MG, O'callaghan CJ, Ramay F, Waltner-Toews D, Charron DF. Climate change and the potential for range expansion of the Lyme disease vector *Ixodes scapularis* in Canada. International Journal of Parasitolology. 2006a;36(1):63-70.
- Ogden, N. H., L. Trudel, H. Artsob, I. K. Barker, G. Beauchamp, D. F. Charron, M. A. Drebot, T. D. Galloway, R. O'Handley, R. A. Thompson, et al. 2006b. *Ixodes scapularis* ticks collected by passive surveillance in Canada: analysis of geographic distribution and infection with Lyme borreliosis agent *Borrelia burgdorferi*. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2006b;43(3):600-609.

- Ogden NH, Bigras-Poulin M, O'callaghan CJ, Barker IK, Kurtenbach K, Lindsay LR, Charron DF.Tick seasonality, host infection dynamics and fitness of *Ixodes scapularis*-borne pathogens. Parasitology. 2007;134. 209-227.
- Ogden, NH, St-Onge L, Barker IK, Brazeau S, Bigras-Poulin M, Charron DF, Francis CM, Heagy A, Lindsay LR, Maarouf A, et al. Risk maps for range expansion of the Lyme disease vector, *Ixodes scapularis*, in Canada now and with climate change. International Journal of Health Geography. 2008a;7;24. doi:10.1186/1476-072X-7-24
- Ogden NH, Lindsay LR, Hanincová K, Barker IK, Bigras-Poulin M, Charron DF, Heagy A, Francis CM, O'Callaghan CJ, Schwartz I, Thompson RA. Role of migratory birds in introduction and range expansion of *Ixodes scapularis* ticks and of *Borrelia burgdorferi* and *Anaplasma phagocytophilum* in Canada. Applied Environmental Microbiology. 2008b;74(6):1780-1790.
- Ogden NH, Bigras-Poulin M, Hanincova K, Maarouf A, O'Callaghan CJ, Kurtenbach K. Projected effects of climate change on tick phenology and fitness of pathogens transmitted by the North American tick *Ixodes scapularis*. Journal of Theoretical Biology. 2008c;254(3):621-632.
- Ogden NH, Radojevic M, Wu XT, Duvvuri VR, Leighton PA, Wu JH. Estimated effects of projected climate change on the basic reproductive number of the Lyme disease vector *Ixodes scapularis*. Environmental Health Perspectives. 2014;122(6):631-638.
- Ogden NH, Mechai S, Margos G. Changing geographic ranges of ticks and tick-borne pathogens: drivers, mechanisms and consequences for pathogen diversity. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology. 2013;3:46. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2013.00046.
- Ogden NH, Pang G, Ginsberg HS, Hickling GJ,5 Burke RL, Beati L, Tsao JI. Evidence for geographic variation in life-cycle processes affecting phenology of the Lyme disease vector *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae) in the United States. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2018;55(6):1386-1401.
- Oliver JH Jr, Cummins GA, Joiner MS. Immature *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae) parasitizing lizards from the southeastern U.S.A. Journal of Parasitology. 1993;79:684-689. [PubMed: 8410539]
- Oliver JH, Lin T, Gao L, Clark KL, Banks CW, Durden LA, James AM, Chandler FW. An enzootic transmission cycle of Lyme borreliosis spirochetes in the southeastern United States. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2003;100:11642-11645.

- Oliver J, Means RG, Kogut S, Prusinski M, Howard JJ, Layne LJ, Chu FK, Reddy A, Lee L, White DJ. Prevalence of *Borrelia burgdorferi* in small mammals in New York state. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2006;43(5):924-35.
- Openshaw S. Ecological fallacies and the analysis of areal census data. Environment and Planning A. 1984;16(1)17-31.
- Ostfeld RS, Canham CD, Oggenfuss K, Winchcombe RJ, Keesing F. Climate, deer, rodents, and acorns as determinants of variation in Lyme disease risk. PLoS Biology. 2006;4(6):e145. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0040145
- Ostfeld RS, Brunner JL. Climate change and Ixodes tick-borne diseases of humans. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B. 2015;370:20140051.
- Paciorek CJ. The importance of scale for spatial-confounding bias and precision of spatial regression estimators. Statistical Science. 2010;25(1):107-125.
- Parham PE, Waldock J, George K, Christophides GK, Michael E. Preface: climate change and vector-borne diseases of humans. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B. 2015;370:20140377.
- Perret JL, Guerin PM, Diehl PA, Vlimant M, Gern L. Darkness induces mobility, and saturation deficit limits questing duration, in the tick *Ixodes ricinus*. Journal of Experimental Biology. 2003;206(Pt 11):1809-1815.
- Pershing AJ, Alexander MA, Hernandez CM, Kerr LA, Le Bris A, Mills KE, Nye JA, Record NR, Scannell HA, Scott JD, Sherwood GD, Thomas AC. Slow adaptation in the face of rapid warming leads to collapse of the Gulf of Maine cod fishery. Science. 2015;350(6262):809-812.
- Phillips CB, Liang MH, Sangha O, Wright EA, Fossel AH, Lew RA, Fossel KK, Shadick NA. Lyme disease and preventive behaviors in residents of Nantucket Island, Massachusetts. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2001;20(3):219-224.
- Piesman J, Spielman A. Host-associations and seasonal abundance of immature *Ixodes dammini* in southeastern Massachusetts. Annals of the Entomological Society of America. 1979;72:829-832.
- Piesman, J. Ecology of *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato in North America. In: Gray JS, Kahl O, Lane RS, Stanek G, eds. Lyme Borreliosis: Bology, Epidemiology and Control, pp. 223–249. Eds. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing; 2002.

- Poortinga W, Pidgeon NF. Prior attitudes, salient value similarity, and dimensionality: Toward an integrative model of trust in risk regulation. Journal of Applied Social Psychology. 2006;36(7):1674-1700.
- Pringle DG. Mapping disease risk estimates based on small numbers: an assessment of empirical Bayes techniques. Economic and Social Review. 1996;27(4):341-63.
- R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. 2018. http://www.R-project.org/
- Rand PW, Lacombe EH, Smith RP, Rich SM, Kilpatrick WC, Dragoni CA, Caporale D. Competence of *Peromyscus maniculatus* (Rodentia: Cricetidae) as a reservoir host for *Borrelia burgdorferi* (Spirochaetares: Spirochaetaceae) in the wild. Journal of Medical Entomology. 1993;30(3):614-618.
- Rand PW, Lacombe EH, Smith RP, Ficker J. Participation of birds (Aves) in the emergence of Lyme disease in southern Maine: Journal of Medical Entomology. 1998;35(3):270-276.
- Rand, PW, Lubelczyk C, Lavigne GR, Elias S, Holman MS, Lacombe EH, and Smith RP, Jr. Deer density and the abundance of *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae). Journal of Medical Entomology. 2003;40(2):179-184.
- Rand PW, Holman MS, Lubelczyk C, Lacombe EH, DeGaetano AT, Smith RP. Thermal accumulation and the early development of *Ixodes scapularis*. Journal of Vector Ecology. 2004a;29(1):164-176.
- Rand PW, Lubelczyk C, Holman MS, Lacombe EH, Smith RP Jr. Abundance of *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae) after the complete removal of deer from an isolated offshore island, endemic for Lyme disease. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2004b;41(4):779-84.
- Rand PW, Lacombe EH, Dearborn R, Cahill B, Elias S, Lubelczyk CB, Beckett GA, Smith RP. Passive surveillance in Maine, an area emergent for tick-borne diseases. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2007;44(6):1118-1129.
- Persing DH, Telford SR III, Rys PN, Dodge DE, White TJ, Malawista SE, Spielman A. Detection of *Borrelia burgdorferi* DNA in museum specimens of *Ixodes dammini* ticks. Science. 1990;249(4975):1420-1423.
- Responsive Management. The opinions of Maine residents, landowners, and hunters regarding deer, moose, bear, and turkey. Responsive Management Report, Harrisonburg, VA. 2016; 543pp.
- RIDEM (Rhode Island Department of Public Health). News Release: DEM files emergency regulations establishing non-recreational program to reduce deer population on block

island: over-population of white-tailed deer presents an imminent threat to Block Island's natural resources. 2013. <u>http://www.dem.ri.gov/news/2013/pr/1107131.htm</u>

- RIDPH (Rhode Island Department of Public Health). Lyme Disease Surveillance. 2018. <u>http://www.health.ri.gov/data/diseases/Lyme.pdf</u> Accessed 11/27/18.
- Richer LM, Brisson D, Melo R, Ostfeld RS, Zeidner N, Gomes-Solecki M. Reservoir targeted vaccine against *Borrelia burgdorferi*: a new strategy to prevent Lyme disease transmission. Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2014;209(12):1972-1980.
- Richert E. Land use in Maine. In: Barringer R, ed. Changing Maine 1960-2010: Teaching Guide 2004. Gardiner, Maine: Tilbury House. <u>https://digitalcommons.usm.maine.edu/mainedevelopment/3</u>. Accessed 11/27/2017.
- Ripoche M, Gasmi S, Adam-Poupart A, Koffi JK, Lindsay LR, Ludwig A, Milord F, Ogden NH, Thivierge K, Leighton PA. Passive tick surveillance provides an accurate early signal of emerging Lyme disease risk and human cases in southern Canada. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2018;55(4):1016-1026.
- Robinson SJ, Neitzel DF, Moen RA Meggan Craft E, Hamilton KE, Johnson LB, Mulla DJ, Munderloh UG, Redig PT, Smith KE, Turner CL, Umber JK, Pelican KM. Disease risk in a dynamic environment: the spread of tick-borne pathogens in Minnesota, USA. EcoHealth. 2015;12(1):152-163.
- Roh S, McComas, KA, Rickard LN, Decker D. How motivated reasoning and temporal frames may polarize opinions about wildlife disease risk. Science Communication. 2015;37(3):340-370.
- Roquette R, Nunes B, Painho M. The relevance of spatial aggregation level and of applied methods in the analysis of geographical distribution of cancer mortality in mainland Portugal (2009–2013). Population Health Metrics. 2018;16(1):6 1-12
- Rosenberg R, Lindsey NP, Fischer M, et al. Vital Signs: Trends in reported vectorborne disease cases United States and Territories, 2004–2016. MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2018;67:496-501.
- Roy-Dufresne E, Logan T, Simon JA, Chmura GL. Millien V. Poleward expansion of the whitefooted mouse (*Peromyscus leucopus*) under climate change: implications for the spread of Lyme disease. PLoS ONE. 2013;8(11): e80724. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0080724

SAS Institute Inc., SAS OnlineDoc 9.4, Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc., 2018.

- Scharf WC. Immature ticks on birds: temporal abundance and reinfestation. Northeastern Naturalist. 2004;11(2): 143-150
- Schulze TL, Jordan RA. Meteorologically mediated diurnal questing of *Ixodes scapularis* and *Amblyomma americanum* (Acari: Ixodidae) nymphs. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2003;40(4):395-402.
- Schulze TL, Jordan RA, Schulze CJ. Host Associations of *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae) in residential and natural settings in a Lyme disease-endemic area in New Jersey. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2005;42(6):966-973.
- Shelton TJ. Passive tick surveillance for Ixodes scapularis and the incidence of Lyme disease in Connecticut. M.S thesis. 2015 University of Connecticut, Storrs, CT. <u>https://opencommons.uconn.edu/gs_theses/719/</u> Accessed 4/11/2019.
- Siegrist M, Cvetkovich G. Perception of hazards: The role of social trust and knowledge. Risk Analysis. 2000;20(5):713-719.
- Silander JA, Klepeis DM. The invasion ecology of Japanese barberry (*Berberis thunbergii*) in the New England landscape. Biological Invasions. 1999;1(2-3):189-201.
- Simpson, G. 2014. Identifying periods of change in time series with GAMs. <u>https://www.fromthebottomoftheheap.net/2014/05/15/identifying-periods-of-change-with-gams</u>. Accessed 3/22/2019.
- Slunge D, Boman A. Learning to live with ticks? The role of exposure and risk perceptions in protective behaviour against tick-borne diseases. PLoS One. 2018;13(6):e0198286.
- Slovic P. Perception of risk. Science. 1987;236(4799):280-285.
- Slovic P. Perceived risk, trust, and democracy. Risk Analysis. 1993;13(6):675-682.
- Smith RP Jr, Rand PW, Lacombe EH, Morris SR, Holmes DW, and Caporale DA. Role of bird migration in the long-distance dispersal of *Ixodes dammini*, the vector of Lyme disease. Journal of Infectious Diseases. 1996;174(1):221-224.
- Smith RP, Elias SP, Cavanaugh CE, Lubelczyk CB, Lacombe EH, Brancato J, Doyle H, Rand PW, Ebel GD, Krause PJ. Seroprevalence of *Borrelia burgdorferi*, *B. miyamotoi*, and Powassan virus in residents bitten by *Ixodes* ticks, Maine, USA. Emerging Infectious Diseases. 2019a;25(4):804-807.
- Smith RP Jr, McCarthy C, Elias SP. Increasing actual and perceived burden of tick-borne disease in Maine. Journal of Maine Medical Center. 2019b;1(1):000-000.

- Spielman A, Wilson ML, Levine JF, Piesman J. Ecology of *Ixodes dammini*-borne human babesiosis and Lyme disease. Annual Review of Entomology 1985;30:439-460.
- Spielman A. Lyme disease and human babesiosis: evidence incriminating vector and reservoir hosts, pp. 147-165. In: Englund PT, Sher A, eds. The Biology of Parasitism. New York, NY: A.R. Liss; 1988.
- Stafford KC. Survival of immature *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari, Ixodidae) at different relative humidities. Journal of Medical Entomology. 1994;31(2):310–314.
- Stafford KC, Denicola AJ, Kilpatrick HJ. Reduced abundance of *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae) and the tick parasitoid *Ixodiphagus hookeri* (Hyme- noptera: Encyrtidae) with reduction of white-tailed deer. Journal of Medical Entomology. 2003;40(5):642-652.
- Stafford KC. Tick Management Handbook. Bulletin No. 1010. The Connecticut Agricultural Experiment Station. 2007. www.ct.gov/caes.
- Stafford KC III, Williams SC, Molaei G. Integrated pest management in controlling ticks and tickassociated diseases. Journal of Integrated Pest Management. 2017;8(1):1-7.
- Stromdahl EY, Hickling GJ. 2012. Beyond Lyme: aetiology of tickborne human diseases with emphasis on the south-eastern United States. Zoonoses and Public Health. 2012;59(Supplement 2):48-64.
- Tagliapietra V, Rosàa R, Arnoldi D, Cagnacci F, Capelli G, Montarsi F, Hauffe HC, Rizzoli A. Saturation deficit and deer density affect questing activity and local abundance of *Ixodes ricinus* (Acari, Ixodidae) in Italy. Veterinary Parasitology. 2011;183(1-2):114-124.
- Telford SR III. 1993. Forum: perspectives on the environmental management of ticks and Lyme disease, pp. 164–167. In: Ginsberg HS, ed. Ecology and Environmental Management of Lyme disease. Rutgers University Press, New Brunswick, NJ.
- Telford SR III. 2002. Deer tick-transmitted zoonoses in northeastern UnitedStates, pp. 310–324. In: Aguirre A, Ostfeld RS, Tabor GM, House C, Pearl MC, eds. Conservation medicine: ecological health in practice. Oxford, UK; Oxford University Press.
- Telford S. Deer reduction Is a cornerstone of integrated deer tick management. Journal of Integrated Pest Management. 2017;8(1):1–5.
- Town of Falmouth, Maine. <u>https://www.falmouthme.org/conservation-commission</u>. Accessed 12/12/2018.
- Town of Islesboro Deer Reduction Committee. <u>http://townofislesboro.com/committees/deer-reduction. Accessed 12/12/2018</u>.

 Tilson. Broadband Study for the Maine Off-Shore Islands of: Islesford, Great Cranberry, Sutton, Vinalhaven, North Haven, Monhegan, Matinicus, Frenchboro, Swan's, Chebeague, Long Island, Isle Au Haut, Cliff, and Peaks. Report submitted to The Island Institute. November 6, 2015. http://www.islandinstitute.org/sites/default/files/Tilson%20Broadband%20Final%20Re

port%2012_4_15.pdf. Accessed 3/2/2019.

- U.S. Census Bureau 2018. https://factfinder.census.gov. Accessed 09/25/18.
- U.S. Department of Labor. 2005. General facts on women and job based health. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Labor <u>www.dol.gov/ebsa/newsroom/fshlth5.html</u>
- Vail SG, Smith G. Air temperature and relative humidity effects on behavioral activity of blacklegged tick (Acari: Ixodidae) nymphs in New Jersey. Journal of Medical Entomology. 1998;35(6):1025-1028.
- VanDyk JK, Bartholomew DM, Rowley WA, Platt KB. Survival of *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae) exposed to cold. Journal of Medical Entomology. 1996;33(1):6-10.
- Wang G, Wolff JO, Vessey SH, Slade NA, Witham JW, Merritt JF, Hunter ML, Elias SP. Comparative population dynamics of *Peromyscus leucopus* in North America: influences of climate, food, and density dependence. Population Ecology 2009;51(1):133-142.
- Ward J, Worthley ET, Williams S. Controlling Japanese barberry (*Berberis thunbergii* DC) in southern New England, USA. Forest Ecology and Management. 2009;257(2):561-566.
- Watson GT, anderson RC. *Ixodes scapularis* say on white-tailed deer (*Odocoileus virginianus*) from Long Point, Ontario. Journal of Wildlife Diseases. 1976;12(1);66-71.
- Wattles D, DeStefano S. Status and management of moose in the northeastern United States. Alces. 2011;47:53-68.
- Webler T. Why risk communicators should care about the fairness and competence of their public engagement process. In: Arvai J, Rivers L, eds. Effective risk communication. London: Routledge; 2013:134-142.

Weinstein, N. Optimistic biases about personal risks. Science. 1989;246(4935):1232-1233.

White A, Gaff H. Review: application of tick control technologies for blacklegged, lone star, and American dog ticks. Journal of Integrated Pest Management. 2018;9(1):1-10.

- Wickham JD, Stehman SV, Fry JA, Smith JH, Homer, CG. Thematic accuracy of the NLCD 2001 land cover for the conterminous United States. Remote Sensing of Environment. 2010;114(6):1286-1296.
- Williams SC, Ward JS. 2010. Effects of Japanese barberry (Ranunculales: Berberidaceae) removal and resulting microclimatic changes on *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae) abundances in Connecticut, USA. Environmental Entomology. 2010;39(6):1911-1921.
- Williams SC, Linske MA, Ward JS. Long-term effects of *Berberis thunbergii* (Ranunculales: Berberidaceae) management on *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae) abundance and *Borrelia burgdorferi* (Spirochaetales: Spirochaetaceae) prevalence in Connecticut, USA. Environmental Entomology. 2017;46(6):1329-1338.
- Williams SC, Little EAH, Stafford KC III, Molaei G, Linske MA. Integrated control of juvenile *Ixodes scapularis* parasitizing *Peromyscus leucopus* in residential settings in Connecticut, United States. Ticks and Tick-borne Diseases. 2018a; 9(5):1310-1316.
- Williams SC, Stafford KC III, Molaei G, Linske MA. Integrated control of nymphal *Ixodes* scapularis: Effectiveness of white-tailed deer reduction, the entomopathogenic fungus *Metarhizium anisopliae*, and fipronil-based rodent bait boxes. Vector Borne and Zoonotic Diseases. 2018b;18(1):55-64.
- Wilson ML, Levine JF, Spielman A. Effect of deer reduction on abundance of the deer tick (*Ixodes dammini*). The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine. 1984;57(4):697-705.
- Wilson ML, Telford SR, III, Piesman J, Spielman A. Reduced abundance of *Ixodes dammini* (Acari: Ixodidae) following elimination of deer. Journal of Medical Entomology. 1988;25(4):224-228.
- Wilson ML, Ducey AM, Litwin TS, Gavin TA, Spielman A. Microgeographic distribution of immature *Ixodes dammini* ticks correlated with deer. Medical and Veterinary Entomology. 1990;4(2):151-159.
- Witte K. Fear control and danger control: A test of the extended parallel process model (EPPM). Communication Monographs. 1994;61(2):113-134.
- WMO (World Meteorological Organization). 2008. WMO Guide to Meteorological Instruments and Methods of Observation (CIMO Guide), 8th ed. World Meteorological Organization, Geneva, Switzerland. (https://library.wmo.int/pmb_ged/wmo_8_en-2012.pdf).
- Wood SN. mgcv: GAMs and generalized ridge regression for R. R News. 2001;1(2):20-25.
- Wood SN. Low-Rank Scale-Invariant Tensor Product Smooths for Generalized Additive Mixed Models. Biometrics. 2006;62(4):1025-1036.

- Wood SN. Fast stable direct fitting and smoothness selection for Generalized Additive Models. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Statistical Methodology). 2008;70(3):495-518.
- Wood SN, Pya N, Säfken B. Smoothing parameter and model selection for general smooth models. Journal of the American Statistical Association. 2016;111(516):1548-1563.
- Wood SN. Generalized Additive Models: An Introduction with R (2nd edition). 2017. London: Chapman and Hall/CRC.
- Yang ZY, Rickard LN, Harrison TM, Seo M. Applying the risk information seeking and processing (RISP) model to examine support for climate change mitigation policy. Science Communication. 2014;36(3):296-324.
- Yuval B, Spielman A. Duration and regulation of the developmental cycle of *Ixodes dammini* (Acari, Ixodidae). Journal of Medical Entomology. 1990;27(2):196-201.
- Zeman P, Benes C. 2014. Peri-urbanisation, counter-urbanisation, and an extension of residential exposure to ticks: a clue to the trends in Lyme borreliosis incidence in the Czech Republic? Ticks and Tick-Borne Diseases. 2014;5(6):907–916.

APPENDIX A: CONVERSION OF BUCK KILL INDEX TO DEER PER SQUARE MILE

WMD	Equation	Equation type	R ²
1	0.2225*(BKI^0.9722)	curvilinear	0.63
2	(0.0044*(BKI^2))+(0.1365*BKI)+0.0296	polynomial	0.96
3	(0.1726*BKI)-0.1351	linear	0.79
4	0.4344*(BKI^0.7761)	curvilinear	0.87
5	0.2409*(BKI^0.9677)	curvilinear	0.93
6	(0.0127*(BKI^2))-(0.3202*BKI)+4.2234	polynomial	0.87
7	0.2022*(BKI^0.9796)	curvilinear	0.82
8	(-0.0026*(BKI^2))+(0.2789*BKI)-1.2221	polynomial	0.83
9	(0.0039*(BKI^2))-(0.0622*BKI)+3.2201	polynomial	0.59
10	0.3617*(BKI^0.7469)	curvilinear	0.86
11	(0.0023*(BKI^2))-(0.0546*BKI)+4.5121	polynomial	0.93
12	0.0921*(BKI^1.1448)	curvilinear	0.87
13	(0.1816*BKI)-2.0124	linear	0.90
14	2.9123*EXP(0.018*BKI)	curvilinear	0.52
15	2.0846*EXP(0.0171*BKI)	curvilinear	0.92
16	0.0128*(BKI^1.4442)	curvilinear	0.92
17	0.3932*(BKI^0.7984)	curvilinear	0.75
18	0.5174*(BKI^0.663)	curvilinear	0.73
19	(0.0042*(BKI^2))-(0.082*BKI)+3.0274	polynomial	0.82
20	0.0065*(BKI^1.5654)	curvilinear	0.58
21	0.039*(BKI^1.1482)	curvilinear	0.95
22	0.0083*BKI^1.4992	curvilinear	0.92
23	(0.171*BKI)-10.466	linear	0.74
24	0.0295*(BKI^1.2001)	curvilinear	0.83
25	(0.1629*BKI)-6.5855	linear	0.73
26	(0.1759*BKI)-7.3442	linear	0.88
27	0.2004*(BKI^0.906)	curvilinear	0.78
28	(-0.0011*(BKI^2))+(0.1674*BKI)+0.8594	polynomial	0.70
29	0.2083BKI^.8289	power	0.78
		Average R ² :	0.81

Table A.1 Regression equations used by the Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife to convert buck kill index (BKI) to deer per square mile for each wildlife management district (WMD).

APPENDIX B: DETAILS OF GENERALIZED ADDIVITE MODELS

Nonlinear smoothing of covariates is a major aspect of GAMMs. A second major aspect of GAMMs is they combine the results of each predictor variable additively (Fig. B.1), although terms for interaction can also be added and tested for significance in a way analogous to ANOVA (Wood 2017).



Figure B.1. Generalized additive models combine the results of each predictor variable additively. That is, the additive effect of s(x) + s(x) leads to s(x) + s(x) (Larsen 2015).

A GAMM (or GAM) reflects a prior belief that the appropriate model structure would describe the response as a smooth, rather than linear, function of one or more predictors (Wood 2001). A smooth function f is composed by the sum of its basis functions b and their corresponding regression coefficients β , written as:

$$s(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{K} kbk(x)$$

where k is the basis dimension (Wood et al. 2016). A way to think of this is that for any predictor variable, a number of basis functions are combined to make one overarching smooth function. Generally, GAMs divide the data into sections with knots at the ends of the sections. A low order spline function is fit to the data in the section, with the derivative of the function at the knots constrained to be the same for sections sharing a knot to ensure a smooth and continuous line.

The smooth function is estimated by minimizing the penalized sum of squares

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - f(x_i))^2 + \lambda \int (s''(x))^2$$

where the residual sum of squares term (left of the + sign) ensures fit while the penalty term (right of the + sign) ensures smoothness. The penalty term imposes smoothness by calculating the integrated square of the second derivatives. Since the second derivative measures the slopes of the slopes, a wiggly curve will have large second derivatives, while a straight line will have second derivatives of 0; adding up the squared second derivatives measures the wiggliness of the curve.

Integrated derivatives of the smooth can be written as $\beta^T S\beta$, where S is the penalty matrix. The wigglyness ($\beta^T S\beta$) of the smooth, i.e., closeness to the data, is penalized through a smoothing parameter, λ , thus $\lambda\beta^T S\beta$ represents a trade-off between wiggliness and smoothness that maximizes the likelihood (Wood et al. 2016, Wood 2017).

Figure B.2 illustrates the choice of smooth on the best value of λ versus no penalty ($\lambda = 0$) versus a complete smooth ($\lambda \ge 1$), with the correct smooth in blue and the effect of lambda in dark gray. With no penalty ($\lambda = 0$), the smooth resembles a very high order polynomial, goes through nearly every data point, and is excessively "wiggly", whereas a straight line ($\lambda \ge 1$) oversmooths. GAMs have degrees of freedom depending on number of knots, i.e., effective degrees of freedom. GAMs attempt parsimony by balancing the minimal residual deviance on the fewest possible degrees of freedom.

GAMMs allow treatment of "autocorrelation and repeated measures situations" (Wood 2006). In a study with repeated measurements on subjects (in this case, WMDs), subjects' individual smooths may vary from the global smooth trend over time. Subject random effects may be incorporated into a GAMM by allowing a "factor smooth interaction", which allows a separate temporal smooth for each factor (i.e., subject), and informs the model that there are repeated measures on *n* subjects.



Figure B.2. Effect of choice of smoothing parameter, λ , on wiggliness of smooth (Miller 2016). In all plots, a blue line represents the smooth where λ is just right. Where λ is too "wiggly" the smooth (black line, midde panel) essentially connects the data points and where λ is infinity the smooth (black line, right panel) is a straight line.

With areal spatial data, values for the response can be correlated with values in neighboring units. Areal spatial correlation can be modeled as smooth random spatial effect known as a Markov random field (MRF). The smooth has a coefficient, γ_i for region i. The neighboring areal units of each unit are identified, and a quadratic penalty constructed. If N_i is the set of neighbors of unit i, then the penalty is

$$\sum_{i} (\sum_{j \in N_i} (\gamma_i - \gamma_j))^2$$

The MRF defines a spatial effect such that the effect of the MRF for any unit varies smoothly over the neighbors of that unit. Smoothness depends on the rank of the MRF. A fullrank (number of knots = the number of spatial units) MRF would result in a "wiggly" or "rough" smooth with essentially one coefficient per unit whereas a low-rank MRF (knots < number of spatial units) the results in a smoother field. For a fully spatiotemporal random effects model, the MRF is allowed to vary over time.

The R code (using "nymphs" as shorthand for nymph submission rate) was as follows:

1. Temporal "factor smooth" random effect

```
gam(sqrt(nymphs) ~ s(year) + [additional main effects] +
ti(year, WMD, bs = c("fs"), m = 1),
```

family=tw(), data=data)

where the "ti" syntax specifies the tensor product, bs="fs" requested the factor smooth, and m=1 allowed for more flexibility of the random smooths over the default of m=2 (Sóskuthy 2017, Baayen et al. 2018).

2. Spatial Markov random field random effect

```
gam(sqrt(nymphs) ~ [main effects] +
```

s(WMD, bs = "mrf", list(nb = neighborlist)),

family=tw(), data=data)

where "mrf" specified the smoothing basis for the spatial autocorrelation, and "nb" specified the object "neighborlist" with a queen neighbor structure for the WMDs (Wood 2017).

3. Additive temporal-spatial random effect

```
gam(sqrt(nymphs) ~ s(year) + [additional main effects] +
```

ti(year, WMD, bs = c("fs"), m = 1) +

s(WMD, bs = "mrf", list(nb = neighborlist)),

family=tw(), data=data).

4. Interacting temporal-spatial random effect

```
gam(sqrt(nymphs) ~ [main effects] +
te(year, WMD, bs = c("fs", "mrf"),
xt = list(year = NULL, id = list(nb = neighborlist))),
family=tw(), data=data.
```

APPENDIX C. ISLAND SURVEY RESULTS BY ISLAND

Table C.1. Responses to questions about the importance of Lyme disease and burden of tick bites and tick-borne disease (TBD) asked in a survey of residents of Maine's unbridged, off-shore islands, 2016. An asterix denotes chi-square P ≤ 0.05.

					les				_					pu	
			ands	hboro	erry_ls	ø	au_Hau	oro	Haven	~	laven	ague		Diamo	
			s	enc	anb	van:	e	lest	£	aks	nalh	hebe	Ŧ	eat	Ê,
Category	Question	Responses	AI	Ľ.	õ	Ś	s	s	ž	Å	5	ð	Ö	Ō	Ľ
Importance	Is Lyme disease	Agree	680 (83%)	4 (40%)	4 (31%)	72 (96%)	47 (96%)	91 (87%)	43 (78%)	104 (68%)	63 (90%)	98 (93%)	21 (100%)	15 (43%)	98 (99%)
of Lyme	a problem on	Disagree	21 (3%)	6 (60%)	5 (38%)	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	4 (4%)	2 (4%)	4 (3%)	1 (1%)	7 (70/)		4 (11%)	1 (1%)
Disease	your island?	Neurai	*	NS	4 (31%) NS	*	2 (470)	*	*	*	*	*		*	*
Burden of	Ever bitten	N	421 (51%)	9 (90%)	11 (85%)	49 (65%)	10 (20%)	46 (44%)	21 (38%)	98 (64%)	32 (46%)	50 (47%)	12 (57%)	25 (71%)	45 (45%)
tick bites	by a tick?	Y	400 (49%) NS	1 (10%)	2 (15%)	26 (35%)	39 (80%)	59 (56%) NS	34 (62%) NS	55 (36%) *	38 (54%) NS	56 (53%) NS	9 (43%) NS	10 (29%)	54 (55%) NS
Burden of	Dx Lyme	off-island	44 (18%)	1 (100%)		3 (21%)	5 (24%)	6 (16%)	3 (17%)	11 (28%)	8 (32%)	4 (12%)	1 (10%)	1 (25%)	
tick-borne		on my island	187 (76%)		1 (100%)	10 (71%)	15 (71%)	29 (76%)	15 (83%)	27 (69%)	15 (60%)	28 (82%)	7 (70%)	3 (75%)	29 (91%)
disease		Both	15 (6%)			1 (7%)	1 (5%)	3 (8%)		1 (3%)	2 (8%)	2 (6%)	2 (20%)	NS	3 (9%)
	Dx Anaplamosis	off-island	4 (40%)				1 (100%)	1 (50%)	1 (100%)	1 (33%)					
		on my island Both	5 (50%) 1 (10%)					1 (50%)		1 (33%) 1 (33%)		3 (100%)			
			NS				-	NS		NS					
	Dx Babesiosis	off-island	5 (29%)						1 (100%)	1 (100%)	3 (75%)				
		on my island	11 (65%)				1 (50%)	1 (100%)			1 (25%)	4 (100%)	2 (100%)		2 (100%)
		Both	1 (6%)				1 (50%)				NC				
	Dx other TBD	off-island	2 (13%)				140	•			1 (50%)	1 (25%)	-		
	BX GUIGT TEE	on my island	11 (73%)			1 (100%)		2 (67%)	1 (100%)	1 (100%)	1 (50%)	3 (75%)			1 (100%)
		Both	2 (13%)			(,	1 (100%)	1 (33%)	(,	(,	NC	NC			(,
	Dx I vme - Family	off-island	115 (31%)	3 (75%)		11 (34%)	4 (13%)	9 (17%)	5 (19%)	38 (66%)	13 (41%)	14 (29%)		4 (57%)	
		on my island	223 (60%)	1 (25%)		21 (66%)	23 (77%)	37 (70%)	21 (78%)	18 (31%)	17 (53%)	28 (57%)	7 (64%)	3 (43%)	37 (74%)
		Both	31 (8%)	(,		(,	3 (10%)	7 (13%)	1 (4%)	2 (3%)	2 (6%)	7 (14%)	4 (36%)	,	3 (6%)
			*	NS		NS	*		*	*	*	*	NS	NS	*
	Dx Anaplamosis - Family	off-island	10 (45%)			1 (50%)	1 (100%)	1 (20%)	2 (100%)	4 (100%)		1 (33%)			
		on my island	10 (45%)			1 (50%)		3 (60%)				1 (33%)			4 (100%)
		Both	2 (9%) NS			NS		1 (20%) NS				1 (33%) NS			
	Dx Babesiosis - Family	off-island	16 (53%)			140		140	3 (100%)	6 (86%)	2 (100%)	4 (44%)			
	Ex Edeolooid Taniiy	on my island	12 (40%)			1 (100%)		1 (50%)	0 (100 /0)	1 (14%)	2 (10070)	4 (44%)	1 (100%)		3 (100%)
		Both	2 (7%)			(,		1 (50%)		,		1 (11%)	(,
			*					NS		NS		NS			
	Dx other TBD - Family	off-island	4 (36%)		1 (100%)		1 (50%)			2 (67%)					
		on my island	4 (36%)			4 (4000())	4 (500()	1 (50%)		1 (33%)					1 (100%)
		Both	3 (27%)			1 (100%)	1 (50%)	1 (50%)		NC					
Burden of		Tick-home disease	480 (58%)	4 (40%)	2 (15%)	42 (56%)	37 (76%)	71 (68%)	31 (56%)	76 (50%)	40 (57%)	69 (65%)	16 (76%)	9 (26%)	63 (64%)
tick bites		only bitten	127 (15%)	. (10,0)	1 (8%)	12 (16%)	10 (20%)	12 (11%)	12 (22%)	21 (14%)	13 (19%)	16 (15%)	2 (10%)	7 (20%)	17 (17%)
and disease		not bitten	214 (26%)	6 (60%) NS	10 (77%)	21 (28%)	2 (4%)	22 (21%)	12 (22%)	56 (37%)	17 (24%)	21 (20%)	3 (14%)	19 (54%)	19 (19%)

Table C.2 Responses to questions about personal behaviors taken to prevent ticks bites, asked in a survey of residents of Maine's unbridged, off-shore islands, 2016.

Question	Method	Responses	All Islands	Frenchboro	Cranberry_Isles	Swans	Isle_au_Haut	Islesboro	North_Haven	Peaks	Vinalhaven	Chebeague	Cliff	Great_Diamond	Long
How often	Avoid tick habitat	Always	210 (26%)	1 (10%)	2 (17%)	10 (14%)	8 (17%)	35 (33%)	10 (19%)	52 (34%)	10 (14%)	30 (29%)	10 (48%)	10 (29%)	28 (28%)
would you		Never	150 (19%)	3 (30%)	6 (50%)	19 (26%)	8 (17%)	20 (19%)	9 (17%)	30 (20%)	16 (23%)	15 (14%)	2 (10%)	7 (21%)	12 (12%)
say you		Sometimes	448 (55%)	6 (60%)	4 (33%)	45 (61%)	31 (66%)	50 (48%)	35 (65%)	69 (46%)	43 (62%)	59 (57%)	9 (43%)	17 (50%)	59 (60%)
protect yourself			*	NS	NS	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	NS	NS	*
against tick	Use repellent	Always	180 (22%)	1 (10%)	1 (8%)	14 (19%)	17 (35%)	26 (25%)	10 (19%)	31 (21%)	16 (24%)	22 (21%)	1 (5%)	6 (18%)	29 (30%)
bites when		Never	199 (25%)	2 (20%)	4 (33%)	18 (24%)	8 (17%)	30 (29%)	18 (34%)	37 (25%)	16 (24%)	30 (29%)	6 (29%)	11 (32%)	15 (15%)
ticks are out?		Sometimes	425 (53%) *	7 (70%) *	7 (58%) NS	42 (57%) *	23 (48%) *	49 (47%) *	25 (47%) *	82 (55%) *	35 (52%) *	52 (50%) *	14 (67%) *	17 (50%) NS	54 (55%) *
	Tuck pants into socks	Always	131 (16%)	1 (10%)	1 (8%)	9 (12%)	10 (21%)	16 (15%)	8 (15%)	23 (15%)	16 (24%)	18 (17%)	2 (10%)	3 (9%)	17 (17%)
		Never	349 (44%)	7 (70%)	7 (58%)	35 (47%)	20 (43%)	54 (52%)	31 (58%)	67 (45%)	23 (34%)	38 (36%)	8 (38%)	21 (62%)	31 (32%)
		Sometimes	322 (40%)	2 (20%)	4 (33%)	30 (41%)	17 (36%)	34 (33%)	14 (26%)	59 (40%)	28 (42%)	49 (47%)	11 (52%)	10 (29%)	50 (51%)
			*	* .	NS	*	NS	*	*	*	NS	*	*	*	*
	Wear light-colored clothing	Always	109 (14%)		1 (9%)	7 (9%)	10 (21%)	18 (17%)	8 (15%)	17 (11%)	8 (12%)	16 (15%)	2 (10%)	4 (12%)	15 (15%)
		Never	171 (21%)	4 (40%)	3 (27%)	14 (19%)	7 (15%)	20 (19%)	18 (35%)	39 (26%)	13 (20%)	18 (17%)	4 (19%)	9 (26%)	16 (16%)
		Sometimes	521 (65%)	6 (60%)	7 (64%)	53 (72%)	31 (65%)	67 (64%)	26 (50%)	93 (62%)	45 (68%)	71 (68%)	15 (71%)	21 (62%)	67 (68%)
			*	NS	NS	*	*	* .	*	*	*	*	* .	*	*
	Perform a tick check	Always	483 (60%)	2 (20%)	5 (38%)	39 (53%)	40 (83%)	63 (60%)	31 (57%)	70 (47%)	47 (70%)	68 (65%)	11 (52%)	16 (47%)	70 (71%)
		Never	27 (3%)	2 (20%)	2 (15%)	1 (1%)		3 (3%)		14 (9%)	2 (3%)	1 (1%)		2 (6%)	
		Sometimes	297 (37%)	6 (60%)	6 (46%)	34 (46%)	8 (17%)	39 (37%)	23 (43%)	65 (44%)	18 (27%)	36 (34%)	10 (48%)	16 (47%)	29 (29%)
			*	NS	NS	*	*	*	NS	*	*	*	NS	*	*

Table C.3. Responses to questions about the need to reduce white-tailed deer and deer-related issues and values, asked in a survey of residents of Maine's unbridged, off-shore islands, 2016.

Category	Question	Responses	All Islands	Frenchboro	Cranberry_Isles	Swans	Isle_au_Haut	Islesboro	North_Haven	Peaks	Vinalhaven	Chebeague	Cliff	Great_Diamond	Long
Policy	Is there a need to	Agree	483 (61%)	6 (60%)	2 (15%)	42 (58%)	24 (55%)	70 (69%)	32 (62%)	81 (54%)	52 (75%)	59 (57%)	13 (62%)	6 (18%)	78 (81%)
support	reduce deer on your island?	Disagree Neutral	99 (12%) 211 (27%) *	4 (40%) NS	8 (62%) 3 (23%) NS	9 (12%) 22 (30%) *	3 (7%) 17 (39%) *	11 (11%) 20 (20%) *	3 (6%) 17 (33%) *	30 (20%) 38 (26%) *	3 (4%) 14 (20%) *	13 (13%) 32 (31%) *	1 (5%) 7 (33%) *	10 (30%) 17 (52%) NS	4 (4%) 14 (15%) *
Deer values	car collision	Agree Disagree Neutral	321 (41%) 219 (28%) 244 (31%) *	3 (33%) 3 (33%) 3 (33%) NS	12 (92%) 1 (8%) *	41 (57%) 7 (10%) 24 (33%) *	17 (38%) 8 (18%) 20 (44%) NS	69 (68%) 9 (9%) 24 (24%) *	37 (71%) 3 (6%) 12 (23%) *	32 (22%) 70 (48%) 43 (30%) *	43 (65%) 4 (6%) 19 (29%) *	40 (39%) 27 (26%) 35 (34%) NS	1 (5%) 12 (57%) 8 (38%) *	2 (6%) 26 (79%) 5 (15%) *	20 (21%) 33 (34%) 43 (45%) *
	eat my garden plants/ yard plantings	Agree Disagree Neutral	548 (69%) 116 (15%) 128 (16%) *	10 (100%)	7 (54%) 2 (15%) 4 (31%) NS	51 (71%) 8 (11%) 13 (18%) *	36 (80%) 6 (13%) 3 (7%) *	77 (75%) 9 (9%) 16 (16%) *	42 (81%) 3 (6%) 7 (13%) *	79 (53%) 41 (28%) 28 (19%) *	53 (79%) 7 (10%) 7 (10%) *	68 (65%) 18 (17%) 18 (17%) *	15 (71%) 3 (14%) 3 (14%) *	11 (33%) 11 (33%) 11 (33%) NS	82 (85%) 5 (5%) 10 (10%) *
	over-browse forest vegetation	Agree Disagree Neutral	301 (38%) 167 (21%) 317 (40%) *	4 (44%) 5 (56%) NS	2 (17%) 7 (58%) 3 (25%) NS	26 (37%) 18 (25%) 27 (38%) NS	21 (47%) 6 (13%) 18 (40%) *	55 (54%) 13 (13%) 34 (33%) *	17 (33%) 5 (10%) 29 (57%) *	61 (41%) 45 (30%) 43 (29%) NS	20 (31%) 14 (22%) 31 (48%) *	29 (28%) 27 (26%) 47 (46%) *	8 (38%) 3 (14%) 10 (48%) NS	10 (30%) 13 (39%) 10 (30%) NS	38 (40%) 12 (13%) 46 (48%) *
	increased risk of Lyme disease	Agree Disagree Neutral	653 (82%) 33 (4%) 108 (14%) *	6 (67%) 3 (33%) NS	6 (46%) 1 (8%) 6 (46%) NS	64 (86%) 2 (3%) 8 (11%) *	41 (91%) 1 (2%) 3 (7%) *	77 (75%) 7 (7%) 18 (18%) *	43 (83%) 1 (2%) 8 (15%) *	115 (77%) 14 (9%) 20 (13%) *	60 (91%) 6 (9%) *	87 (84%) 2 (2%) 15 (14%) *	19 (90%) 2 (10%) *	20 (61%) 4 (12%) 9 (27%) *	92 (94%) 1 (1%) 5 (5%) *
	too many	Agree Disagree Neutral	438 (55%) 142 (18%) 212 (27%) *	8 (80%) 2 (20%) NS	2 (15%) 9 (69%) 2 (15%) *	35 (49%) 13 (18%) 23 (32%) *	27 (60%) 5 (11%) 13 (29%) *	66 (65%) 10 (10%) 26 (25%) *	36 (69%) 3 (6%) 13 (25%) *	66 (44%) 46 (31%) 37 (25%) *	45 (66%) 5 (7%) 18 (26%) *	49 (48%) 20 (19%) 34 (33%) *	15 (71%) 3 (14%) 3 (14%) *	9 (27%) 16 (48%) 8 (24%) NS	63 (65%) 7 (7%) 27 (28%) *
	enjoy seeing	Agree Disagree Neutral	467 (59%) 153 (19%) 177 (22%) *	5 (63%) 2 (25%) 1 (13%) NS	10 (83%) 1 (8%) 1 (8%) *	43 (58%) 11 (15%) 20 (27%) *	22 (47%) 12 (26%) 13 (28%) NS	55 (55%) 21 (21%) 24 (24%) *	29 (55%) 7 (13%) 17 (32%) *	85 (56%) 39 (26%) 27 (18%) *	34 (50%) 15 (22%) 19 (28%) *	66 (63%) 17 (16%) 21 (20%) *	12 (57%) 6 (29%) 3 (14%) *	29 (85%) 2 (6%) 3 (9%) *	60 (62%) 18 (19%) 19 (20%) *
	value presence	Agree Disagree Neutral	384 (48%) 191 (24%) 217 (27%) *	4 (44%) 2 (22%) 3 (33%) NS	8 (67%) 1 (8%) 3 (25%) *	38 (51%) 15 (20%) 21 (28%) *	19 (40%) 14 (30%) 14 (30%) NS	49 (49%) 24 (24%) 26 (26%) *	28 (53%) 10 (19%) 15 (28%) *	77 (52%) 45 (30%) 27 (18%) *	31 (46%) 17 (25%) 20 (29%) NS	48 (48%) 22 (22%) 31 (31%) *	10 (48%) 8 (38%) 3 (14%) NS	23 (68%) 4 (12%) 7 (21%) *	34 (35%) 25 (26%) 38 (39%) NS
	I hunt deer	Yes No Neutral	48 (6%) 625 (80%) 108 (14%) *	1 (11%) 8 (89%) *	5 (42%) 6 (50%) 1 (8%) NS	7 (10%) 60 (83%) 5 (7%) *	1 (2%) 36 (77%) 10 (21%) *	5 (5%) 73 (75%) 19 (20%) *	5 (10%) 38 (73%) 9 (17%) *	2 (1%) 130 (88%) 16 (11%) *	2 (3%) 57 (88%) 6 (9%) *	8 (8%) 81 (81%) 11 (11%) *	18 (86%) 3 (14%) *	32 (94%) 2 (6%) *	6 (6%) 70 (73%) 20 (21%) *
	My friends/family hunt deer	Yes No Neutral	301 (38%) 387 (49%) 99 (13%) *	3 (33%) 6 (67%) NS	11 (85%) 2 (15%) *	32 (44%) 34 (47%) 6 (8%) *	21 (45%) 19 (40%) 7 (15%) *	39 (40%) 40 (41%) 19 (19%) *	34 (65%) 9 (17%) 9 (17%) *	19 (13%) 116 (79%) 12 (8%) *	24 (36%) 33 (50%) 9 (14%) *	49 (48%) 42 (41%) 11 (11%) *	8 (38%) 10 (48%) 3 (14%) NS	6 (18%) 26 (76%) 2 (6%) *	42 (43%) 40 (41%) 16 (16%) *

Table C.4 Resp	onses to questions about	approval and methods of	deer hunting,	asked in a s	survey of re	sidents of M	laine's unbri	dged, off-sh	ore islands,	2016.					
Category	Question	Responses	All Islands	Frenchboro	Cranberry_Isles	Swans	Isle_au_Haut	Islesboro	North_Haven	Peaks	Vinalhaven	Chebeague	Cliff	Great_Diamond	Long
Deer hunting approval	General	Agree Disagree Neutral	622 (78%) 55 (7%) 118 (15%) *	9 (90%) 1 (10%) *	11 (85%) 1 (8%) 1 (8%) *	61 (82%) 3 (4%) 10 (14%) *	35 (78%) 2 (4%) 8 (18%) *	85 (83%) 4 (4%) 13 (13%) *	44 (85%) 2 (4%) 6 (12%) *	94 (63%) 26 (17%) 29 (19%) *	54 (78%) 6 (9%) 9 (13%) *	85 (83%) 2 (2%) 15 (15%) *	15 (71%) 6 (29%) *	25 (76%) 5 (15%) 3 (9%) *	81 (84%) 3 (3%) 13 (13%) *
	On my island	Agree Disagree Neutral	584 (74%) 102 (13%) 108 (14%) *	9 (90%) 1 (10%) *	11 (85%) 1 (8%) 1 (8%) *	57 (78%) 4 (5%) 12 (16%) *	33 (73%) 5 (11%) 7 (16%) *	86 (84%) 3 (3%) 13 (13%) *	43 (83%) 3 (6%) 6 (12%) *	73 (49%) 50 (34%) 25 (17%) *	55 (81%) 6 (9%) 7 (10%) *	80 (78%) 6 (6%) 17 (17%) *	15 (71%) 2 (10%) 4 (19%) *	20 (61%) 8 (24%) 5 (15%) *	84 (86%) 8 (8%) 6 (6%) *
Methods of reducing deer	doe permits	Agree Disagree Neutral	306 (62%) 69 (14%) 119 (24%) *	6 (100%)	3 (43%) 1 (14%) 3 (43%) NS	31 (72%) 1 (2%) 11 (26%) *	11 (46%) 5 (21%) 8 (33%) NS	51 (75%) 3 (4%) 14 (21%) *	29 (88%) 4 (12%) *	19 (24%) 38 (48%) 23 (29%) *	43 (75%) 4 (7%) 10 (18%) *	44 (72%) 4 (7%) 13 (21%) *	7 (58%) 3 (25%) 2 (17%) NS	5 (83%) 1 (17%) NS	48 (61%) 5 (6%) 26 (33%) *
	expanded archery	Agree Disagree Neutral	295 (60%) 101 (20%) 97 (20%) *	6 (100%)	5 (71%) 2 (29%) NS	20 (47%) 9 (21%) 14 (33%) NS	9 (38%) 6 (25%) 9 (38%) NS	54 (79%) 6 (9%) 8 (12%) *	27 (84%) 5 (16%) *	18 (23%) 44 (55%) 18 (23%) *	33 (57%) 11 (19%) 14 (24%) *	46 (75%) 6 (10%) 9 (15%) *	3 (25%) 7 (58%) 2 (17%) NS	4 (67%) 2 (33%) NS	58 (74%) 6 (8%) 14 (18%) *
	expanded firearms	Agree Disagree Neutral	193 (39%) 167 (34%) 132 (27%) *	6 (100%)	3 (43%) 3 (43%) 1 (14%) NS	20 (47%) 8 (19%) 15 (35%) NS	3 (13%) 10 (42%) 11 (46%) NS	38 (56%) 14 (21%) 16 (24%) *	16 (48%) 9 (27%) 8 (24%) NS	6 (8%) 53 (66%) 21 (26%) *	22 (40%) 21 (38%) 12 (22%) NS	32 (52%) 15 (25%) 14 (23%) *	3 (23%) 7 (54%) 3 (23%) NS	5 (83%) 1 (17%) NS	32 (41%) 21 (27%) 25 (32%) NS
	sharpshooter	Agree Disagree Neutral	312 (63%) 104 (21%) 79 (16%) *	2 (33%) 3 (50%) 1 (17%) NS	1 (14%) 6 (86%) NS	26 (60%) 8 (19%) 9 (21%) *	12 (50%) 4 (17%) 8 (33%) NS	53 (78%) 13 (19%) 2 (3%) *	14 (42%) 11 (33%) 8 (24%) NS	72 (89%) 5 (6%) 4 (5%) *	29 (51%) 15 (26%) 13 (23%) *	37 (61%) 13 (21%) 11 (18%) *	10 (77%) 1 (8%) 2 (15%) *	6 (100%)	41 (53%) 21 (27%) 16 (21%) *
	allow off-islanders if family	Agree Disagree Neutral	144 (29%) 198 (40%) 147 (30%) *	3 (50%) 3 (50%) NS	1 (14%) 2 (29%) 4 (57%) NS	17 (40%) 14 (33%) 11 (26%) NS	4 (17%) 13 (54%) 7 (29%) NS	26 (39%) 13 (20%) 27 (41%) NS	14 (42%) 4 (12%) 15 (45%) *	5 (6%) 65 (80%) 11 (14%) *	9 (16%) 18 (32%) 29 (52%) *	21 (35%) 23 (38%) 16 (27%) NS	2 (17%) 9 (75%) 1 (8%) *	4 (67%) 2 (33%) NS	38 (49%) 21 (27%) 19 (24%) *
	allow any off-islander	Agree Disagree Neutral	69 (14%) 315 (64%) 108 (22%) *	2 (33%) 4 (67%) NS	4 (57%) 3 (43%) NS	7 (16%) 25 (58%) 11 (26%) *	1 (4%) 18 (75%) 5 (21%) *	23 (34%) 24 (36%) 20 (30%) NS	4 (12%) 18 (55%) 11 (33%) *	2 (2%) 69 (85%) 10 (12%) *	13 (23%) 25 (44%) 19 (33%) NS	7 (11%) 40 (66%) 14 (23%) *	12 (100%)	5 (83%) 1 (17%) NS	7 (9%) 57 (74%) 13 (17%) *
	how to pay sharpshooter	Any Private funds State or federal funds Town budget	14 (4%) 28 (9%) 175 (54%) 108 (33%)	2 (100%)	1 (50%) 1 (50%)	1 (4%) 17 (63%) 9 (33%)	1 (8%) 5 (42%) 6 (50%)	15 (28%) 18 (34%) 20 (38%)	3 (17%) 11 (61%) 4 (22%)	2 (3%) 2 (3%) 45 (65%) 20 (29%)	6 (15%) 3 (8%) 22 (56%) 8 (21%)	3 (8%) 1 (3%) 22 (59%) 11 (30%)	1 (10%) 4 (40%) 5 (50%)	3 (50%) 3 (50%)	2 (5%) 20 (49%) 19 (46%)

Table C.5. Responses to questions about who should be responsible for tick control,	asked in a survey of residents of Maine's unbridged, off-shore islands, 2016.
	A

Category	Question	Responses	All Islands	Frenchboro	Cranberry_Isle	Swans	Isle_au_Haut	slesboro	Vorth_Haven	Peaks	Vinalhaven	Chebeague	Oliff	Great_Diamono	ong
Responsibility	U.S. government	Agree Disagree Neutral	308 (40%) 253 (33%) 210 (27%) *	2 (20%) 5 (50%) 3 (30%) NS	2 (15%) 11 (85%) *	26 (37%) 25 (36%) 19 (27%) NS	19 (42%) 12 (27%) 14 (31%) NS	37 (38%) 42 (43%) 19 (19%) *	16 (33%) 10 (21%) 22 (46%) NS	59 (42%) 46 (33%) 35 (25%) *	43 (65%) 9 (14%) 14 (21%) *	45 (44%) 24 (23%) 34 (33%) *	8 (38%) 6 (29%) 7 (33%) NS	8 (24%) 20 (61%) 5 (15%) *	31 (32%) 37 (39%) 28 (29%) NS
	State government	Agree Disagree Neutral	553 (71%) 114 (15%) 115 (15%) *	4 (40%) 3 (30%) 3 (30%) NS	3 (23%) 9 (69%) 1 (8%) *	47 (67%) 11 (16%) 12 (17%) *	30 (67%) 7 (16%) 8 (18%) *	64 (63%) 23 (23%) 14 (14%) *	33 (67%) 5 (10%) 11 (22%) *	108 (74%) 19 (13%) 18 (12%) *	60 (90%) 1 (1%) 6 (9%) *	83 (80%) 9 (9%) 12 (12%) *	15 (71%) 2 (10%) 4 (19%) *	17 (52%) 13 (39%) 3 (9%) *	67 (70%) 11 (11%) 18 (19%) *
	Town	Agree Disagree Neutral	615 (79%) 68 (9%) 97 (12%) *	3 (30%) 1 (10%) 6 (60%) NS	7 (54%) 6 (46%) NS	61 (86%) 4 (6%) 6 (8%) *	35 (78%) 6 (13%) 4 (9%) *	85 (84%) 5 (5%) 11 (11%) *	35 (69%) 2 (4%) 14 (27%) *	104 (74%) 21 (15%) 16 (11%) *	58 (85%) 3 (4%) 7 (10%) *	86 (83%) 8 (8%) 9 (9%) *	16 (76%) 1 (5%) 4 (19%) *	24 (73%) 5 (15%) 4 (12%) *	80 (84%) 5 (5%) 10 (11%) *
	Non-governmental organization	Agree Disagree Neutral	267 (35%) 210 (27%) 288 (38%) *	1 (10%) 3 (30%) 6 (60%) NS	3 (25%) 6 (50%) 3 (25%) NS	20 (29%) 18 (26%) 30 (44%) NS	20 (45%) 11 (25%) 13 (30%) NS	41 (41%) 19 (19%) 40 (40%) *	15 (31%) 12 (25%) 21 (44%) NS	35 (25%) 48 (34%) 57 (41%) NS	33 (51%) 14 (22%) 18 (28%) *	41 (41%) 24 (24%) 36 (36%) NS	10 (48%) 5 (24%) 6 (29%) NS	9 (27%) 14 (42%) 10 (30%) NS	30 (32%) 30 (32%) 35 (37%) NS
	Individuals	Agree Disagree Neutral	267 (35%) 231 (30%) 270 (35%) NS	3 (30%) 1 (10%) 6 (60%) NS	5 (38%) 7 (54%) 1 (8%) NS	26 (38%) 18 (26%) 25 (36%) NS	18 (41%) 11 (25%) 15 (34%) NS	41 (41%) 28 (28%) 31 (31%) NS	14 (30%) 10 (21%) 23 (49%) NS	29 (21%) 63 (45%) 47 (34%) *	22 (33%) 20 (30%) 24 (36%) NS	43 (42%) 25 (24%) 35 (34%) NS	8 (38%) 8 (38%) 5 (24%) NS	14 (42%) 8 (24%) 11 (33%) NS	33 (35%) 28 (29%) 34 (36%) NS
	Community	Agree Disagree Neutral	510 (66%) 98 (13%) 163 (21%) *	5 (56%) 4 (44%) NS	8 (62%) 4 (31%) 1 (8%) NS	51 (73%) 5 (7%) 14 (20%) *	28 (64%) 5 (11%) 11 (25%) *	79 (78%) 7 (7%) 15 (15%) *	29 (59%) 7 (14%) 13 (27%) *	76 (54%) 34 (24%) 30 (21%) *	48 (72%) 5 (7%) 14 (21%) *	68 (67%) 11 (11%) 23 (23%) *	17 (81%) 1 (5%) 3 (14%) *	21 (64%) 4 (12%) 8 (24%) *	64 (68%) 13 (14%) 17 (18%) *
Pesticide	Apply pesticide if not harmful	Agree Disagree Neutral	475 (59%) 172 (21%) 157 (20%) *	4 (40%) 3 (30%) 3 (30%) NS	4 (31%) 7 (54%) 2 (15%) NS	47 (64%) 13 (18%) 14 (19%) *	28 (60%) 8 (17%) 11 (23%) *	57 (56%) 23 (23%) 22 (22%) *	30 (57%) 13 (25%) 10 (19%) *	90 (60%) 34 (23%) 27 (18%) *	36 (53%) 15 (22%) 17 (25%) *	66 (63%) 19 (18%) 19 (18%) *	11 (52%) 5 (24%) 5 (24%) NS	23 (68%) 8 (24%) 3 (9%) *	64 (65%) 17 (17%) 18 (18%) *

Table C.6. Responses to questions about interest in more about the ecology of Lyme disease and level of trust in scientiests and government, asked in a survey of residents of Maine's unbridged, off-shore islands, 2016.

Category	Question	Responses	All Islands	Frenchboro	Cranberry_Isle	Swans	Isle_au_Haut	Islesboro	North_Hav en	Peaks	Vinalhaven	Chebeague	aiff	Great_Diamono	Long
Information-	My knowledge	A lot	403 (50%)	4 (40%)	6 (46%)	33 (45%)	31 (65%)	72 (69%)	20 (38%)	51 (34%)	35 (51%)	59 (56%)	9 (43%)	9 (26%)	61 (62%)
seeking	about tick bite	None	12 (1%)			3 (4%)		1 (1%)	2 (4%)	2 (1%)		2 (2%)		1 (3%)	
	prevention	Some	394 (49%)	6 (60%)	7 (54%)	38 (51%)	17 (35%)	31 (30%)	31 (58%)	98 (65%)	34 (49%)	44 (42%)	12 (57%)	24 (71%)	38 (38%)
			•	NS	NS	•	•	*	*	•	NS	•	NS	*	•
	Want to learn	Agree	388 (48%)	3 (30%)	5 (42%)	32 (43%)	19 (40%)	34 (33%)	28 (53%)	86 (57%)	36 (52%)	57 (54%)	12 (57%)	18 (53%)	42 (42%)
	more about tick	Disagree	143 (18%)	1 (10%)	3 (25%)	15 (20%)	15 (31%)	30 (29%)	9 (17%)	17 (11%)	11 (16%)	12 (11%)	1 (5%)	6 (18%)	19 (19%)
	bite prevention	Neutral	277 (34%)	6 (60%)	4 (33%)	27 (36%)	14 (29%)	40 (38%)	16 (30%)	48 (32%)	22 (32%)	36 (34%)	8 (38%)	10 (29%)	38 (38%)
			•	NS	NS	•	NS	NS	*	•	*	•	•	*	•
Trust	Scientists	Agree	598 (76%)	7 (70%)	8 (62%)	50 (69%)	35 (78%)	74 (73%)	38 (76%)	116 (81%)	52 (76%)	75 (74%)	21 (100%)	29 (88%)	74 (77%)
		Disagree	35 (4%)		2 (15%)	4 (6%)	3 (7%)	6 (6%)	2 (4%)	5 (3%)	4 (6%)	6 (6%)			2 (2%)
		Neutral	150 (19%)	3 (30%)	3 (23%)	18 (25%)	7 (16%)	22 (22%)	10 (20%)	22 (15%)	12 (18%)	21 (21%)		4 (12%)	20 (21%)
			•	NS	NS	•	•	*	*	*	*	•		*	•
	Town government	Agree	449 (57%)	4 (40%)	4 (31%)	34 (47%)	23 (51%)	57 (56%)	29 (58%)	80 (56%)	38 (56%)	59 (58%)	13 (62%)	24 (73%)	70 (74%)
		Disagree	83 (11%)		5 (38%)	14 (19%)	7 (16%)	17 (17%)	2 (4%)	15 (11%)	3 (4%)	6 (6%)	1 (5%)	1 (3%)	8 (8%)
		Neutral	249 (32%)	6 (60%)	4 (31%)	24 (33%)	15 (33%)	28 (27%)	19 (38%)	47 (33%)	27 (40%)	37 (36%)	7 (33%)	8 (24%)	17 (18%)
			*	NS	NS	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*

Table C.7. Responses to questions about what are thought to be causes of increased deer tick abundance and a question about pesticide use, asked in a survey of residents of Maine's unbridged, off-shore islands, 2016.

Category	Question	Responses	All Islands	Frenchboro	Cranberry_Isles	Swans	Isle_au_Haut	Islesboro	North_Haven	Peaks	Vinalhaven	Chebeague	Cliff	Great_Diamond	Long
Causes	climate change	Agree	368 (48%)	3 (33%)	4 (36%)	27 (37%)	17 (38%)	34 (35%)	25 (47%)	78 (54%)	37 (59%)	54 (53%)	16 (76%)	17 (53%)	42 (44%)
of the		Disagree	77 (10%)		1 (9%)	12 (16%)	3 (7%)	15 (15%)	7 (13%)	10 (7%)	6 (10%)	8 (8%)			12 (13%)
Tick Problem		Neutral	329 (43%) *	6 (67%) NS	6 (55%) NS	34 (47%) *	25 (56%) *	48 (49%) *	21 (40%) *	57 (39%) *	20 (32%) *	39 (39%) *	5 (24%) *	15 (47%) NS	42 (44%) *
	deer	Agree	622 (79%)	5 (56%)	7 (58%)	60 (81%)	38 (81%)	72 (72%)	44 (83%)	108 (73%)	59 (89%)	84 (82%)	19 (90%)	17 (52%)	87 (88%)
		Disagree	44 (6%)		3 (25%)	5 (7%)		9 (9%)	3 (6%)	13 (9%)	1 (2%)	3 (3%)		3 (9%)	2 (2%)
		Neutral	125 (16%) *	4 (44%) NS	2 (17%) NS	9 (12%) *	9 (19%) *	19 (19%) *	6 (11%) *	26 (18%) *	6 (9%) *	15 (15%) *	2 (10%) *	13 (39%) *	10 (10%) *
	invasive plants	Agree	206 (27%)		6 (60%)	8 (11%)	7 (16%)	40 (41%)	9 (17%)	44 (31%)	12 (20%)	34 (34%)	5 (24%)	7 (21%)	27 (28%)
		Disagree	146 (19%)		2 (20%)	23 (32%)	14 (31%)	13 (13%)	11 (21%)	23 (16%)	18 (31%)	10 (10%)	1 (5%)	4 (12%)	22 (23%)
		Neutral	414 (54%) *	9 (100%)	2 (20%) NS	41 (57%) *	24 (53%) *	44 (45%) *	32 (62%) *	77 (53%) *	29 (49%) *	55 (56%) *	15 (71%) *	22 (67%) *	48 (49%) *
	rodents	Agree	483 (62%)	3 (33%)	6 (50%)	46 (63%)	36 (77%)	72 (72%)	32 (62%)	66 (46%)	30 (49%)	73 (73%)	11 (52%)	20 (59%)	75 (76%)
		Disagree	41 (5%)	. ,	1 (8%)	6 (8%)	2 (4%)	5 (5%)	2 (4%)	10 (7%)	1 (2%)	2 (2%)	1 (5%)	2 (6%)	8 (8%)
		Neutral	255 (33%)	6 (67%)	5 (42%)	21 (29%)	9 (19%)	23 (23%)	18 (35%)	67 (47%)	30 (49%)	25 (25%)	9 (43%)	12 (35%)	16 (16%)
			*	NS	NS	•	•	•	*	*	*	*	*	*	*

BIOGRAPHY OF THE AUTHOR

Susan Elias was born in 1962 in Lafayette, Indiana, raised in various US east-coast states, and graduated from Maranacook Community School, Readfield, Maine, in 1980. She graduated from the University of Maine in 1984 with a Bachelor of Science in Wildlife Science and from Virginia Tech in 1994 with a Master of Science in Wildlife Science. She was a research associate at the Holt Research Forest in Arrowsic, Maine, 1998-2007, and has been a research associate at the Vector-borne Disease Laboratory of the Maine Medical Center Research Institute in Scarborough, Maine, 2000 through present. After receiving her PhD degree, Susan will continue at the Vector-borne Disease Laboratory and pursue an interest in teaching college-level biostatistics and vector-borne disease ecology. Susan is a candidate for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Earth and Climate Sciences from the University of Maine in May 2019.